
AGENDA 
Aurora City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, February 12, 2013, at 7:00 P.M. 
City Council Chambers, Aurora City Hall 
21420 Main St. NE, Aurora, OR  97002 

 
1.  Call to Order of the City Council Meeting 
 
2. City Recorder Calls Roll 
 
   Mayor      Taylor 
  Councilor Graupp 
  Councilor Brotherton 
  Councilor Sahlin 
  Councilor Vlcek 
 
3. Consent Agenda 
 

I. City Council Meeting Minutes – January 08, 2013 
II. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – January 03, 2013 
III. Historic Review Board Minutes –December 13, 2012 
 

Correspondence  
 

I. Pudding River Watershed Council Report 
II. LCDC Meeting Notice 
III. League of Oregon Cities Overview of Services Provided. 
IV. STIP information sheet 
V. Urban Project List Aurora Informational 
 
 
  

 
4. Visitors 
  Anyone wishing to address the City Council concerning items not already on the 

meeting agenda may do so in this section.  No decision or action will be made, but the 
City Council could look into the matter and provide some response in the future. 

 
5. Discussion with Parks Committee 
 
  
6. Discussion with Traffic Safety Commission 
  

Aurora City Council Agenda  February 12, 2013 
 

This is a public meeting and all interested citizens are invited to attend.  The meeting place is not handicapped 
accessible; those needing assistance should contact the city Office three (3) working days before regularly scheduled 
meetings. The minutes of this and all public meetings are available at City Hall during regular business hours. All 
meetings are audio taped and may be video taped 

  



 
7. Reports 
  

A. Police Chiefs Report – (not included in your packet) 
 

  
B. Finance Officer’s Report – Financials (not included in your packets) 
 

1. Revenue & Expense Report 
 

C. Public Works Department’s Report – ( included in your packet) 
1. Monthly Status Report (Storm Water) 
2. Monthly Status Report (Water) 

 
 

A. Waste Water Treatment Plant Update (from Otis Phillips, included in your 
packet) 

 
D. City Recorder’s Report (not included in your packet)  

 
E. City Attorney’s Report – (not Included in your packet)  

• Rodger Eddy update 
• Ordinance discussion on Neon Signs and the process to follow.  

 
 

8. Ordinances and Resolutions 
 

A.  Discussion and or Action on Ordinance 469 AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR AN 
AMENDMENT TO THE CITY OF AURORA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THAT CERTAIN 
PROPERTY OWNED BY ANTHONY AND GAYLE FIDANZO, WHICH IS WITHIN THE CITY'S 
URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY AND ABUTS THE CORPORATE CITY LIMITS . 

 
9. Old Business 
 

A. Discussion and or Action on Proposal/Agreement for Consulting Arborist 
Services for the Health and Hazard Assessment/Arborist Report for the 
Aurora City Park. 

B. Discussion and or Action on Different or Clarifying Code Enforcement in 
and around the City. 

C. Discussion and or Action on City Email and City Web-Site.  
D. Discussion and or Action on Updated Fee Schedule for Planning Commission 

Fees.  

Aurora City Council Agenda  February 12, 2013 
 

This is a public meeting and all interested citizens are invited to attend.  The meeting place is not handicapped 
accessible; those needing assistance should contact the city Office three (3) working days before regularly scheduled 
meetings. The minutes of this and all public meetings are available at City Hall during regular business hours. All 
meetings are audio taped and may be video taped 

  



E. Discussion and or Action on presentation of title 17 by Chairman of Planning 
Commission and or next steps.  

F. Discussion and or Action on ODOT Speed Study and Recommendation letter 
from Planning Commission.  

 
10. New Business   
 
11. Adjourn   

Aurora City Council Agenda  February 12, 2013 
 

This is a public meeting and all interested citizens are invited to attend.  The meeting place is not handicapped 
accessible; those needing assistance should contact the city Office three (3) working days before regularly scheduled 
meetings. The minutes of this and all public meetings are available at City Hall during regular business hours. All 
meetings are audio taped and may be video taped 

  



Minutes 
Aurora City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, January 08, 2012, at 7:00 P.M. 
City Council Chambers, Aurora City Hall 
21420 Main St. NE, Aurora, OR  97002 

 
STAFF PRESENT:    Kelly Richardson, City Recorder  

  Jason Andersen, Police Supervisor 
     Jan Vlcek, Finance Officer 
     Jim Buchholz, Marion County Deputy   
     Bob Southard, Water Superintendent 
 
 
 
STAFF ABSENT:   Otis Phillips, Waste Water Superintendent   
 
VISITORS PRESENT:  Kris Sallee, Aurora 
     Phil Hankins, Aurora 
     Charles Donald, Aurora 
     Steve Lewis, Aurora 
     Rodger Eddy, Portland  
     Lori Sahlin, Aurora 
 
         

1. Call to Order of the City Council Meeting   
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Greg Taylor at 7:00 p.m. 

 
2. Administrative assistant does Roll Call 
 
   Mayor Taylor – present 
  Councilor Graupp - present 
  Councilor Brotherton -present 
  Councilor Sahlin – present 
  Councilor Vlcek - present 
 
3. Consent Agenda 
 

I. City Council Meeting Minutes – December 11, 2012, change the word from tree to 
locate signage on pg 8 item 11.  

II. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – December 04, 2012 
III. Historic Review Board Minutes –November 29, 2012  

 
Correspondence  
 
I. Letter from Allied Waste, name change to Republic Services 

  Page 1 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



II. Preview of ODOT Speed Study, have this go before the Planning Commission first. 
II. Notice of Decisions sent out by Historic Review Board 
IV. Letter of Resignation From Stephen Braun, from Planning Commission  
 
 

A motion is made to accept the consent agenda with the change on pg 8 of the December minutes 
as discussed by Councilor Vlcek and seconded by Councilor Graupp. Motion Passes 
 
 

 
4. Visitors 
  Anyone wishing to address the City Council concerning items not already on the 

meeting agenda may do so in this section.  No decision or action will be made, but the 
City Council could look into the matter and provide some response in the future. 

  
 Charles Donald, Aurora, Follow up on lighting issue that was brought up by our 

homeowners association Pres at the prior meeting, Mayor Taylor turns it over to Bob 
Southard in Public Works, I have received an email today and the city will need to install 
the conduit/standard at our cost, which it is on the schedule for after the water project and 
then PGE will move the pole for us.  We are looking at around 3 weeks or so.  

 
 
5. Appointments of New Councilors 
 
  
 A. Appointment of New Mayoral Candidate Greg Taylor 
 B.  Appointment of New Councilor Candidate Rick Vlcek 
 C. Appointment of New Councilor Candidate Scott Brotherton 
 D. Appointment of New Council President for 2013 year, Mayor Taylor suggests 

that we keep Councilor Graupp as the Council President for this next year.  
 
City Recorder Kelly Richardson performs the swearing in of the new councilor positions along 

with the mayor’s position.  
 
A motion is made by Councilor Sahlin to keep Councilor Graupp as Council President seconded 

by Councilor Vlcek motion passes.  
 
6. Assignment of New Council Liaison Positions 
 
 A.  Administration Liaison, Mayor 
 B. Public Works Liaison, Councilor Brotherton 
 C. Police Contract Liaison, Councilor Vlcek along with that I would add the fire 

 dept. 
 D. Parks Liaison, Economic Development, Councilor Sahlin 
 E.  HRB, will be added to Planning Commission and Chairman Schaefer 

 volunteered. 

  Page 2 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



 F  Planning Commission liaison, Councilor Graupp 
 
Mayor Taylor assigns the liaison positions as stated above.  
 
7. Discussion with the Parks Committee, Lori Sahlin is present is there anything to 

discuss no not really however she asks about the tree down in the park and if we have 
notified the insurance company Southard states no not until we have a bid. Sahlin states 
that now we need to get help assessing the health of the trees I recommend an Arborist. 
Southard states he is seeking out bids If the bids are under the 2500 dollar limit then 
Mayor Taylor asks if the council is ok with me signing the contract It is the consensus of 
the Council to allow Mayor Taylor to enter into a contract if it is at or under the 2500 
dollar mark.  

 
 
 
   
8. Discussion with Traffic Safety Commission, No one from Traffic Safety was present. 
 Introduction of Deputy Pete Marcellais, with Marion County he is our contracted deputy 

for Aurora and with that said Traffic Safety is something that you can follow up with 
and put into your schedule of duties.  

 
Through our interview process with Marion County Pete Marcellais, council is acknowledging 

the process and accepts the Deputy selected from the interview process.  
 
We were very happy with the caliber of the officers that applied and it was a very hard decision.  
 
 
 
9. Reports 
  

A. Police Chief’s Report – (included in your packet)   Deputy Buchholz explains the 
Marion County report as prepared for the council, and the process in which it is 
determined. Along with the dates and times of the calls that could help month to 
month to determine the stats for the city. 
 
Councilor Vlcek asks if we could get a year to date stat as well added if possible.  
Again this is a typical report, Councilor Sahlin asks if a traffic stop is done will they 
show up on this report and Buchholz states yes they will.  
 
Citizen contact with questions won’t be included into this report unless I key it into 
the system later, and unless it is something with substance that occurs I won’t add it 
in.  

 
 No more questions at this time…. 
 

  Page 3 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



Jason Andersen, reports on the remainder of police items, we are 95% complete and a few items 
with the evidence room however most of those have been completed and Marion County has 
taken control of those items.  
 

• As far as the electronic records, I will work with Deputy Marcellais on this. 
• We should be getting a check soon on the firearms this will be a little lower than first 

expected they were not in as good of shape as first thought. 
• On Monday we will take the cars down to Auto Additions, and see if they can assist in 

selling them for around 2500.00 each. 
• I will get a quote on what it would cost to have them stripped down of all the equipment. 
• City of Carleton would like some uniforms so I will not have to burn them all.  
• City of Mt. Angel is also interested in many of our items.  
• I also still need to get with Public Works to see which equipment they can use. 

 
No more questions or comments at this time except to continue on with what needs done. 
 

No more questions of Jason Andersen 
  

B. Finance Officer’s Report – Financials (included in your packets)   
 

1. Revenue & Expense Report,  
• Throw away the report in your packets there are mistakes that I 

encountered during the set up of Spring Brooke.  
 

• Because of the closure of the Police Department and to have a clean paper 
trail a supplemental budget is required. January 29th at 6 pm is the 
consensus of the council.  

 
 

There were no more questions from the council. 
 
C. Public Works Department’s Report – ( included in your packet)  
1. Monthly Status Report (Storm Water) 
2. Monthly Status Report (Water) 

• Currently I am working on changing over to the new lines.  
• Councilor Sahlin asks about the Storm Water Master Plan, Southard 

reports that it is still ongoing at this point; Mayor Taylor requests that it be 
completed before the next budget season. Southard states I will get right 
on it.  

• During my weekly drive around I have noticed that some of our collection 
systems lines are starting to settle so I will need to look at costs for repair. 
Councilor Vlcek asks if we can go back on the company that installed 
them and Southard states no it is too late.  

• The rest of my report is attached.  
 

No more questions at this time.  

  Page 4 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



 
A. Waste Water Treatment Plant Update (from Otis Phillips), he is sick and has been 
 excused.  
 

• Report is attached  
• City Recorder Richardson informs the City Council that she spoke to Phillips and 

everything is going well with no issues to report.  
 
 
No questions from Council 
 

C. City Recorder’s Report (included in your packet)   
 
City Recorder, Richardson gives a brief overview of her report as included in the 
packet. There were no questions from the Council.  

• Working closely with Marion County to learn their processes 
• Looking for grants to fund various projects 
• Working on code violations around town, and working with Deputy 

Marcellais on procedure for those.  
• Many reports on animal issues in and around town. 

 
D. City Attorney’s Report – (not Included in your packet)  

 
• I had received an Ordinance in regards to the Fidanzo (comp plan 

amendment) however there were a few language issues and with the holidays 
and such we were not able to get them corrected in time for this meeting so 
it’s not the corrected version. These are very minor changes and should not 
affect tonight’s decision.  (City Recorder Richardson steps into to say that he 
had forgotten to add this to the agenda for this evenings meeting).  

 
• Rodger Eddy, I had a discussion with him today Mr. Eddy is present and 

wants to cooperate and would like to comply with what we are asking and 
would like to speak to the council. Mr. Eddy reads a letter he wrote dated 
January 8, 2013 which is basically a recap of the events leading up to this 
point. ( Attached into the minutes marked exhibit A)  

• Attorney Koho states it seems to me that the issues that former Chief 
McCuistion high lights here are the security of the property and fencing in for 
security issues.  

 
Mayor Taylor, I think we are going back to a concept that the agreement at that time with former 
Mayor Carr (if it does exists as the city cannot locate such agreement)   in 2001 was 10 years 
ago, about 2004 or so. I guess our greatest concern is that in the 7 to 8 years the remains is not 
structural sound at this point in time there is a lot of rot under there and our greatest concern is 
that nothing has been done to rectify this issue and the foundation would need to be removed 
because it is not structurally sound at this point.  
 

  Page 5 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



The fence is a different issue, now the real issue is that we want this foundation and wreckage 
removed, I know that you have tried to sell it however currently it is not listed and we want the 
nuisance removed. Eddy states that an engineer has looked at it and the foundation is sound. 
Councilor Sahlin asks to see the documentation and report from the Engineer. I believe that this 
is structurally sound and is buildable as it sits now. Eddy states that it is very possible that some 
of the plywood could be rotted and need to be removed. Eddy states that if it pleases the Council 
I will get my engineer back and get a report.  
 
Mayor Taylor, we would ask for a report from the engineer, Councilor Vlcek asks Mr. Eddy for a 
time frame of when this inspection was done by the engineer Eddy answers that it was about 
2006 and Councilor Brotherton asks about whether or not he has a more recent report and also 
clarifies as to what is there on site now which is confirmed to be concrete.  
 
Councilor Sahlin states that we are not here to speculate on the report or on this fence, Eddy 
states that HRB approved a picket fence Councilor Sahlin what is the use of a 4 foot picket fence 
and Mayor Taylor states that the fence is not the issue the issue is the elimination of the 
nuisance.  
 
Koho, explains that the Chiefs letters point out three issues, Mr. Eddy claims he has taken care of 
two of them.  I think that a review process needs to be done by a professional to determine 
whether or not it is structurally sound, Mayor Taylor, and I believe that this is your issue to 
resolve and to gain a structural engineer report.  
 
Councilor Sahlin states let get back to the code and that the building is a nuisance. Sahlin reads 
the code, do we still have the authority to issue a nuisance violation. 
 
Koho, In the Chiefs letters it points out 3 issues now Eddy states he has complied with two of 
them and if that is in fact true then it would no longer be a nuisance now we may not like the 
way it looks, but that’s not our call to like looks of something.  
 
Eddy, If the council wants an engineer report done I will supply that for the council.  
Councilor Sahlin at this point to why are we going to  authorize a 4 foot fence because it won’t 
help the issue and the chain link fence is not approved.  
 
I think we now need to retract the fence option out of the letter that Chief sent out.  
 
Koho I think Councilor Sahlin laid out the real issues according the code and now it would be a 
process to rescind the old letter and have the City Attorney issue a new letter out to Mr. Eddy.  
 
A Motion is made by Councilor Brotherton and seconded by Councilor Vlcek, to rescind the 
letter and reissue a new letter with the correct code violations. Motion Passes.  
 
Mr. Fisher, states that this issue was urged on because I had previously stated the safety issue, I 
disagree that a fence would not help the safety issue. I really feel that this issue is a safety fence 
issue. I understand that HRB wants it to look nice and I think that the Council should have dealt 
with it then and allowed a chain link fence so the land and are was safer for the public.  

  Page 6 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



Councilor Graupp states in reality a safety fence could be issued. This is a code situation not a 
HRB issue. A chain link fence is not allowed in the code and they would not meet the variance 
rule.  
 
Councilor Sahlin I think that we need to look at background and we really need to dive into this 
issue and look at the code to see where our authority lies. The Council makes it clear that this is 
to be City Attorney Koho’s top priority.  
 
 
 
10. Ordinances and Resolutions 
 

A.  RESOLUTION 662 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND CHAPTER V, SECTION 3 OF THE 
CHARTER OF THE CITY OF AURORA, 2nd page above next available rather than next scheduled.  
 

A motion is made by Councilor Graupp to approve Resolution Number 662 and is seconded by 
Councilor Brotherton. Motion Passes.  
 
11. Old Business 
 

A. Discussion and or Action on Councilor Graupps Presentation on Court 
Revenue and Expenses.  Councilor Graupp reads his report,  

• This is an option for Cities (as stated by Garupp) 
• With changes 12,000 is being subsidized with taxpayers revenue 
• 92% of non-moving violations are not collectible 
• 47% of moving violations are not collectible 
• 25$ dollar charge on collections, (which is disputed by City Recorder Richardson 

as not a charge to the city. The collection agency does not charge the city they 
charge each defendant a percentage. The 25.00 charge to each defendant from the 
city would in actual be revenue in) 

• Judges reduction is around 14% 
• So in my findings there would need to be 1.2 tickets a day or 18 tickets a month to 

fund itself. 
• 8,000 a year at this point 
• So at this point we take it to the citizens for a vote  
• Data so far we won’t clear those numbers 
•  Average ticket price is 200.00 

I do not think this is realistic nor do I think it services our community.  
 
Councilor Vlcek asks Councilor Graupp what is our actual savings if we do not have court 
Councilor Graupp answers 12,000 however the discussion is bottom line savings what is in this 
number it is stated Judge, interpreter, city staff, Graupp I just think that this is a better situation 
for tax payers, Vlcek but this is not an actual savings then it Is just a redistribution of fund. So 
hard numbers what are we saving Graupp states 12,000, City Recorder Richardson states that the 
judge and the translator does not come up to 12,000 Graupp then says well there is a bit more in 
that number than that postage and other items and again Richardson states well those items are 

  Page 7 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



not savings they will be redistributed into other departments because they are fixed costs. Mayor 
states well we are not going to funnel it into court now we are just going to funnel it into other 
areas. Councilor Graupps states that court costs total is around 35,000 to run court and to 
eliminate court 24,000 goes away and 12,000 gets redistributed.  Mayor Taylor so the 24,000 
was funded by citations yes answered Graupp and now you won’t see that. Vlcek clarifies that 
we could have said it was funding other items as well, Mayor Taylor no it was funding court, 
Vlcek no once it went into the general fund it is essentially funding everything.  Brotherton what 
is court cost 33,607 Graupp answers that’s what is budgeted for Municipal Court. Vlcek that’s 
what’s budgeted but when we get rid of court what is the actual savings to the city not including 
what will be redistributed Graupp answers 9,300 for the court and office fees Vlcek well how 
would those not get redistributed Graupp well like mailing costs because we won’t be sending 
out notices and various other items Vlcek so leases and other items will get redistributed yes, 
Mayor Taylor so looking at it 32,000 cost 12,000 savings general fund the balance was made up 
by citations. So if we don’t receive over 20,000 in funding over the year it’s a wash and it’s a 
negative that we will have to find. Sahlin what is your hesitation with doing this Vlcek thing is 
we are a week into our new deputy we do not have enough data to make a decision yet we do not 
know what will be produced from him. So I do not think we can make a decision on this until we 
have more information to off of.  
Mayor Taylor so if we remove this from the charter does that mean we have to get rid of court, 
Sahlin no it just stops us from being required and it makes it our option.  
 
So Mayor Taylor so we can wait until budget time I say we run court until June and look at it 
again.  We are just laying a foundation to study this.  
 
City Recorder Richardson states well it think we will need to go over those numbers again 
because I come up with 3,000 in savings for the judge and interpreter so Mayor Taylor asks well 
then where is the other 30,000 being spent and Graupp states well the judge and interpreter cost 
way more than that.  Mayor Taylor so we can revisit those numbers and details on this during the 
budget time. I just wanted the council where we are starting from lets go back to the resolution.  
 
12. New Business  
 

A. Discussion and or Action on re-appointment of Merra Frochen to Historic 
Review Board.  

A motion to reappoint Merra Frochen to Historic Review Board is made by Councilor 
Brotherton and seconded by Graupp. Motion Passes. 

 
B.  Discussion and or Action on re-appointment of Kris Sallee to Planning 

Commission. 
A motion to reappoint Kris Sallee to the Planning Commission is made by Councilor 

Graupp and seconded by Councilor Vlcek. Motion Passes.  
C. Discussion and or Action on Liquor License Renewals as listed 

• Aurora Colony Market    
• Aurora Market and Deli 
• Fir Point Farms 
• Hyer Convenience Store 

  Page 8 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 



• Pacific Hazelnut Farms 
• The Colony Pub 
• Topaz Bistro 

A motion to approve the OLCC license as listed is made by Councilor Sahlin and 
seconded by Councilor Graupp. Motion Passes.  

 
There is discussion as to why Fir Point Farms is on our list because it is in Clackamas 

County.  
 
 

13. Adjourn  
 
 A motion to adjourn the January 08, 2013, meeting at 9:05 p.m. was made by Councilor 
Brotherton and seconded by Councilor Vlcek. Motion Passed Unanimously.  

 
 
 
 

__________________________________ 

Greg Taylor, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

Kelly Richardson, City Recorder  
 

  Page 9 of 9 
City Council Meeting January 08, 2013 





















1 | P a g e  
 

Meeting Notice 
Land Conservation and Development Commission 

 

Meeting: 
Thursday, January 24, 8:30AM 
Land Conservation and Development 
Agriculture Bldg., Basement Hearing Room 
635 Capitol Street 
Salem, Oregon 97301 

BAM Subcommittee: 
Friday, January 25, 8:00AM 
Land Conservation and Development 
1st Floor Conference Room 
635 Capitol Street 
Salem, Oregon 97301 

Meeting: 
Friday, January 25, 8:30AM 
Land Conservation and Development 
Agriculture Bldg., Basement Hearing Room 
635 Capitol Street 
Salem, Oregon 97301 

 
 
Thursday, January 24, 2013 
8:30AM – Basement Hearing Room 
 
Item 1 

 
Damascus Acknowledgment 

The commission will consider possible actions under ORS 197.320 regarding the failure of the 
city of Damascus to submit comprehensive plan elements in accordance with an approved 
compliance schedule. 
 Jennifer Donnelly, Regional Representative  
 Public Testimony 
 Action 
 
Item 2 Territorial Sea Plan Rule Public Hearing/Adoption   
The commission will hold a public hearing on amending the Oregon Territorial Sea Plan for 
siting marine renewable energy development, which the commission could adopt through an 
amendment to the division 36 rule.    

Paul Klarin, Marine Affairs Coordinator 
 Public Testimony 
 Action 
 
 12:00PM – Lunch 
 
  1:00PM  
 
Item 2 Territorial Sea Plan Rule Public Hearing/Adoption  (continued) 
 
  



2 | P a g e  
 

Friday, January 25, 2013 
 8:00AM – 1st Floor Conference Room, Suite 150 

The subcommittee will discuss the department’s current budget information. The 
subcommittee will report to the full commission during this commission meeting. 
 Teddy Leland, Administrative Services Manager 
 No Public Testimony 
 Briefing 
 

Friday, January 25, 2013 
 8:30AM – Basement Hearing Room 

 
Item 3        Public Comment 
This part of the agenda is for comments on topics not scheduled elsewhere on the agenda. The 
chair may set time limits (usually three minutes) for individual speakers. The maximum time for 
all public comments under this agenda item will be limited to 30 minutes. If you bring written 
summaries or other materials to the meeting please provide the commission assistant with 20 
copies prior to your testimony. The commission is unable to take action, at this meeting, on 
items brought to their attention in this forum. 
 
Item 4 Request to Appeal Pursuant to ORS 197.090(2) and (3), and OAR 660-001-0201 to 0230 
State law requires commission approval of the director’s decision to seek review of a local 
government land use decision, expedited land division or limited land use decision. Only the 
director or department staff on the director’s behalf, the applicant and the affected local 
government may submit written or oral testimony concerning commission approval of a 
director’s recommendation to file or pursue appeal or an intervention in an appeal of a land use 
decision, expedited land division or limited land use decision. 
 

Columbia County – Property-line adjustment related to Measure 49 authorization 
Crook County – Goal 5 program for big game winter range 

 
Item 5 Hazard Response Facilities Rule Amendment Public Hearing/Adoption 
The commission will consider the adoption of rule amendments to OAR chapter 660, division 6 
to allow storage structures in forest zones near coastal areas to facilitate local community 
tsunami preparedness planning efforts.  
 Katherine Daniels, Farm/Forest Specialist 
 Public Testimony 
 Action 
  

  
Budget and Management Subcommittee 



3 | P a g e  
 

Item 6 Southern Oregon Regional Pilot Program Update 
The commission will receive an update on the Southern Oregon Regional Pilot Program for 
Regional Farm and Forest Land Conservation regarding the status of the work program. 

Josh LeBombard, Southern Oregon Regional Representative 
Michael Morrissey, Policy Analyst 
Update 

 
Item 7 Legislative Update 
The commission will receive an update on legislation relating to the Department. 

Bob Rindy, Policy Analyst 
 No Public Testimony 
 Update 
 
Item 8 Passenger Rail Project Update 
The commission will receive an update on a project by the Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) to plan for improvements to the passenger rail corridor between 
Eugene and Portland, and the department’s role in this project.     

Bill Holmstrom, TGM Coordinator 
No Public Testimony 
Update 

 
Item 9 Information Management Modernization Initiative (IMMI) Briefing 
The commission will receive an overview on the department’s current work regarding the IMMI 
Project.     

Gail Ewart, Project Manager   
No Public Testimony 
Update 

  
Item 10 Director’s Report 
The commission will receive an update by the director on recent matters concerning the 
department.  
 Jim Rue, Director 
 No Public Testimony 
 Update 
 
Item 11 Commission Business and Reports Briefing 
The commission will receive an update on the Budget and Management Subcommittee. 
 Teddy Leland, Administrative Services Manager 
 No Public Testimony 
 Update 
 
Item 12 Other 
The commission reserves this time, if needed, for other business. 
 



4 | P a g e  
 

Oregon’s seven-member Land Conservation and development Commission, assisted by the 
Department of Land Conservation and Development, adopts state land use goals, assures local 
plan compliance with the goals, coordinates state and local planning and manages the coastal 
zone program. Commissioners are unpaid citizen volunteers appointed by the governor and 
confirmed by the senate. Commissioners are appointed to four-year terms and may not serve 
for more than two consecutive terms. The statute establishing the commission, ORS chapter 
197, also directs that members be representative of the state. The commission meets 
approximately every six weeks to direct the work of the department. 

Current Commissioners: 

Bart Eberwein (Portland) Greg Macpherson, Vice-chair (Lake Oswego) 
Tim Josi (Tillamook) Marilyn Worrix, Chair (McMinnville) 
Jerry Lidz (Eugene) Catherine Morrow (Bend) 
Sherman Lamb (Talent)  
 

 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. To request an interpreter for the 
hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities, please make 
requests at least 48 hours before the meeting to Leslie Roth at (503) 934-0045, 
Leslie.C.Roth@state.or.us, or by TTY: Oregon Relay Services (800) 735-2900. 

Public Testimony: 

The commission places great value on testimony from the public. Those items on the agenda 
indicated for public testimony are the topics where public comment will be accepted. 

People who wish to testify are requested to: 

Complete a Testimony Sign Up Form provided at the meeting handout table; 
Provide a written summary in advance to Leslie.C.Roth@state.or.us (January 11 is the 
deadline to submit advance testimony). If you are unable to supply materials in advance, 
please bring 20 copies to the meeting for distribution to the commission, staff and 
members of the public; 
Recognize that substance, not length, determines the value of testimony; 
Endorse, rather than repeat, testimony of other witnesses with whom you agree. 

Because of the uncertain length of time needed, the commission may address an item at any 
time in the meeting. Anyone wishing to be heard on an item without a set time should arrive 
when the meeting begins to avoid missing an item of interest. Topics not on the agenda may be 
introduced and discussed during the Director’s Report, commission Business and Reports or 
Other. 

 











 
 
 
 
Project Applicants, MWACT Members, and others: 
 
1. The starting time of the February 7th  meeting has been changed to 3:00 pm. 
2. Project applicants will be allowed to give a 3 minute presentation.  The graphics from the 

applications and the project location on Google Earth are already loaded in the 
computer/projector.  If you wish to use additional power point type materials they must be 
submitted prior to the meeting – the earlier the better but absolutely no later than noon on the 
meeting day (send them to rschmid@mwvcog.org – if it is too big to email, it is probably too 
long).  The 3 minute limit will be strictly observed. 

3. No time for public comment is provided, however a prudent number of support letters may be 
submitted, but are not required – remember the Commission already has plenty of paper to 
wade through and evaluate – so don’t overdo it.  Please provide 25 copies of any handouts 
distributed at the meeting. 

4. MWACT members may ask questions based on the presentations or on the applications, but 
time is limited and the Chair will keep the meeting moving along.  

5. The agenda and related materials are attached, including the Steering Committee initial 
screening results. MWACT members will still receive their 3-hole punched paper agenda packets 
in the mail.   

6. The presentations and discussion will follow the order of the Steering Committee initial 
screening results.   

7. Please note that the Steering Committee ranked several of the projects equally  and that the 
order of such projects on the list is random and is not intended to imply a priority among equally 
ranked projects. 

8. The initial screening is a starting point for discussion among the entire MWACT membership. 
 
Let me know if you have any questions. 
 
Richard Schmid 
Mid Willamette Valley Council of Governments 
100 High St SE, Suite 200, Salem  OR 97301 
503-540-1605 
 
 

mailto:rschmid@mwvcog.org


The Mid-Willamette Valley Area Commission on Transportation is pleased to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  If 
you need special accommodations including a sign language interpreter to attend this meeting, a complete agenda packet, or additional 
information, please contact Lori Moore at (503) 588-6177 or send e-mail to lomoore@mwvcog.org at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  
Alternate formats available upon request.  Thank you. 
 
 

Agenda 
Mid-Willamette Valley Area 

Commission on Transportation  
(MWACT) 

 
 
 
Date: Thursday, February 7, 2013 
Time: 3:00 p.m.  
Place: MWVCOG                     
 100 High St. SE, Suite 200 
 Salem, OR 
Phone: (503) 588-6177 FAX (503) 588-6094 
 

 
 
 
 
   
 
3:00 p.m. Item 1. Call MWACT Meeting To Order .................................... Ken Woods, Jr. 
 

 Introductions 
 Approval of December 6, 2012 Meeting Summary 
 Public Comment 
 Comments from the Legislative Delegation 
 OTC Comments 
 Commission Discussion/Area Updates 

 
3:15 p.m. Item 2. Election of Officers ........................................................... Ken Woods, Jr. 
   
  Commission members will elect officers for 2013. 
 

Action: Elect a Chair and a Vice Chair for the current calendar year. 
 
3:25 p.m.  Item 3. STIP “Enhance-It” Application Review  
  Process ................................................... Richard Schmid/Ken Woods, Jr. 

 
There are 26 Enhance-It applications for projects in the MWACT area.  
The Steering Committee and Ad-Hoc Multi-Modal Technical Advisory  

Times listed below are approximate.  Agenda items may be considered at any time or in any order per discretion 
of the MWACT Chair and/or member of the Commission, in order for the Commission to conduct the business of 
the Commission efficiently.  Persons wishing to be present for a particular item are advised to arrive prior to the 
scheduled beginning of the meeting in order to avoid missing the presentation of items of interest. 

Please note the 
earlier start time 
for this meeting. 



 
MWACT Agenda  Page 2 of 2 
February 7, 2013 

Committee (TAC) have reviewed the projects resulting in the enclosed 
Initial Screening Results.  Project applicants have the opportunity to 
make a short, 3-minute presentation at this time followed by questions 
from MWACT members.  Projects will be discussed in the order 
resulting from the Initial Screening Review.  The goal is to identify a 
$20-$25 million list of projects for ODOT to scope.  This list must be 
finalized at the March 7, 2013, MWACT meeting.  After the scoping 
process, the list will need to be further trimmed to $15-$16 million, 
probably at the August meeting. 
 
 Project Presentations/Questions 
 Discussion 
 

Action: Review and discuss the applications and the Initial Screening 
Results. 

 
5:20 p.m. Item 4. Other Business ...........................................................................2013 Chair 
 
5:30 p.m. Item 5. Adjournment ............................................................................ 2013 Chair  
 



Summary 
 

Mid-Willamette Valley Area Commission on Transportation (MWACT) 
MWVCOG 

100 High St. SE, Suite 200 
Salem, OR 97301 

Thursday, December 6, 2012 
3:30 p.m. 

 
MWACT Members Present 
 
Bob Andrews, 99W/18 Corridor, Newberg Mayor 
Sam Brentano, Marion County Board of Commissioners 
Cathy Clark, 2012 Vice Chair, Keizer City Council 
Dan Clem, Salem City Council 
Gene Ditter, 22E Corridor (Alternate) 
Marcia Kelley, Salem-Keizer Transit Board of Directors 
Leslie Lewis, Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
Chris Mercier, Confederated Tribes of the Grand Ronde 
Craig Pope, Polk County Board of Commissioners 
Tim Potter, ODOT Region 2  
Mitch Teal, Marion County Private Sector 
Scott Walker, 99E/213 Corridor, Silverton City Council 
Ken Woods, Jr., 2012 Chair, Dallas City Council 
 
MWACT Members Absent 
 
Val Adamson, Polk County Private Sector 
Kathryn Figley, I-5 Corridor, Woodburn Mayor 
Mike Ryan, Yamhill County Private Sector 
Tonya Saunders, Yamhill County Transit Area 
 
Others Present 
 
Nancy Boyer, MWVCOG 
Stephen Dickey, SAMTD 
Dan Fricke, ODOT 
Aaron Geisler, Lochner 
Willis Grafe, Citizen Interest 
Mike Jaffe, MWVCOG-SKATS Staff 
Lori Moore, MWVCOG/MWACT Staff 
Chad Olsen, City of Carlton 
Julie Warncke, Salem Public Works 
 



 

MWACT 
December 6, 2012  2 
 

Agenda Item 1.  Call to Order – 3:30 p.m. – Introductions 
 
Chair Ken Woods, Jr., called the meeting to order at 3:34 p.m. 
 
Summary of November 1, 2012: The summary of the November 1, 2012, meeting was 

approved as submitted by consensus vote of commission 
members present. 

 
Public Comment:   There were no comments from the public. 
 
Comments from the Legislative Delegation:   There were no comments from the legislative 

delegation. 
 
OTC Comments: There were no comments from the Oregon Transportation Commission. 
 
Commission Discussion/Area Updates: Chair Ken Woods, Jr., announced that the next 

meeting of the Oregon Passenger Rail Leadership 
Council will be held on Tuesday, December 11, 2012. 
Topics for discussion include a review of corridor 
alternatives that currently being evaluated by Oregon 
Department of Transportation staff.   These 
alternatives are a set of passenger rail route options 
from Eugene to Portland.  The Leadership Council 
will also endorse screening questions that will be used 
to narrow the alternatives.  A ten-minute public 
comment period will be included in the meeting. 

 
Chair Woods also announced that as part of its 
ongoing efforts to move to a multimodal, system-
wide approach to transportation, ODOT is combining 
its Public Transit and Rail divisions into a single 
division. 

The Oregon Transportation Commission (OTC) has 
approved an allocation of federal discretionary 
Transportation Enhancement funds to preserve and 
restore the historic baggage depot at the Salem 
Amtrak Station for use as a passenger depot and 
intermodal transit hub.  Vice Chair Cathy Clark 
informed commission members that the SKATS 
Policy Committee discussed this issue and expressed 
the opinion that the Salem Area Mass Transit District 
(SAMTD) needs to be an integral component of a 
fully multi-modal facility. 



 

MWACT 
December 6, 2012  3 
 

 
Tim Potter provided an update on the status of 
projects in the MWACT area.  
  
Vice Chair Clark invited commission members to 
attend the Keizer Festival of Lights this coming 
Saturday.  

 
Agenda Item 2.   Regional Freight Bottlenecks 
 
It was announced that the presenter for this item was unable to attend today due to a sudden 
illness.  Material related to the Oregon Freight Plan was made available to commission members.  
It was noted that concerns related to freight routes to the Oregon coast that had been expressed 
had not been addressed to date.   
 
Agenda Item 3.   STIP “Enhance-It” Applications and Review Process 
 
Richard Schmid noted that material handed out at the meeting contains the list of all the STIP 
applications for ODOT Region 2.  Notebooks containing the applications from the MWACT area 
were distributed to commission members.   
 
Commission members discussed the following topics and issues: 
 
 The lack of evaluation criteria; 
 How to compare and evaluate the merits of different types of projects; 
 The review schedule.  MWACT members must complete their prioritization by March 2013; 

and 
 The results of the Transportation Enhancement project selection will not be known prior to 

MWACT review of the STIP applications; 
 
It was proposed that a joint MWACT Steering Committee/MWACT Technical Advisory 
Committee (TAC) be scheduled for January 2013 for the purpose of reviewing the MWACT-
area STIP applications.  Project applicants will be invited to the joint meeting as well as to 
address MWACT members during their February 2013 meeting.  All MWACT members are 
welcome to attend the joint meeting.   
 
It is unlikely that MWACT members will have a regular meeting in January.  
 
Discussion continued related to the review process.  High, medium, and low priorities will be 
developed and documented.  It was suggested that members make notes of their thoughts as they 
review the individual applications. 
 
 
 



 

MWACT 
December 6, 2012  4 
 

Agenda Item 4.   Other Business 
 
Chair Woods thanked Commissioner Leslie Lewis for her years of service on MWACT.   
 
Vice Chair Clark provided an overview of the topics for tomorrow’s meeting of the Oregon 
Metropolitan Planning Organizations Consortium (OMPOC).   
 
Chair Woods adjourned the meeting at 4: 52 p.m. 



J F M A M J J A S O N D
Dallas Councilor Ken Woods, Jr.
Chair/22-99W-51 X X X X X X X X
Keizer Councilor Cathy Clark
Vice Chair/City of Keizer/Alternate X X X X X X X X
Val Adamnson
Polk County Private Sector X X X X X X
Newberg Mayor Bob Andrews
99W-18-47/Alternate X X X X X X X X
Commissioner Sam Brentano
Marion County X X X X X X X
Mike Ryan
Yamhill County Private Sector X X
Salem Councilor Dan Clem
City of Salem/Alternate X X X X X X X
Woodburn Mayor Kathryn Figley
I-5/Alternate X X X X X
Marcia Kelley
Salem-Keizer Transit District/Alternate X X X X X X X X
Commissioner Leslie Lewis
Yamhill County X X X X X X X
Chris Mercier/Alternate
Conf. Tribes of the Grand Ronde X X X X X X
Commissioner Craig Pope
Polk County X X X X X X X X
Tim Potter
ODOT/Alternate X X X X X X X X
Tonya Saunders
Yamhill County Transit Area X X X X
Representative?
22E/Alternate X X X X X X
Mitch Teal
Marion County Private Sector X X X X X X
Silverton Councilor Scott Walker
99E-213/Alternate X X X X X X

Attendance
Should a member be absent from three (3) consecutive meetings without representation by the designated
alternate, or have three (3) absences in a calendar year without representation by the designated alternate, the position 
shall be considered vacated.  In such a case, the Commission shall direct ODOT and/or the Mid-Willamette
Valley Council of Governments to recruit a replacement from the represented jurisdiction(s).

From Page 3 of the MWACT Operating Agreements:

MWACT Attendance 2012



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3.   
 
STIP “Enhance-It” Application 
Review  Process 
 
 
 
 

                                                    Mid-Willamette Valley Area 
 Commission on Transportation 
 (MWACT)  
 
 February 7, 2013 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 



















Benefits Information from the Enhance Application. (Numbers refer to the question numbers in the application.)

17. Benefits to State-Owned Facilities
Outcome sought: preserve public investment by maintaining efficient operation of state-owned highways and other facilities through operational 
improvements, local connectivity, congestion reducing projects and activities, etc.  For example, will the solution:
• Provide an alternative to travel on state owned facilities?
• Cost less than a state facility improvement with equal benefits?
• Include local efforts to protect the investment such as an Interchange Area Management Plan?
• Plan for or contribute to development of a seamless multimodal transportation system?
• Complete or extend a critical system or modal link?

18. Mobility
Outcome sought: provide mobility for all transportation system users and a balanced, efficient, cost effective and integrated 
multimodal transportation system.  For example, will the solution:
• Improve or better integrate passenger or freight facilities and connections, including multimodal connections, to expedite travel and 
provide travel options?
• Improve or provide a critical link in the transportation system or connection between modes for travelers or goods?

19. Accessibility
Outcome sought: ensure appropriate access to all areas with connectivity among modes and places and enable travelers
 and shippers to reach and use various modes with ease.  For example, will the solution:
• Improve connections within residential areas and/or to schools, services, transit stops, activity centers and open spaces, 
such as by filling a gap in bicycle, pedestrian, or transit facilities?
• Improve or expand access to employers, businesses, labor sources, goods or services?
• Plan for or contribute to expanding transportation choices for all Oregonians?

20. Economic Vitality
Outcome sought: expand and diversify Oregon's economy by efficiently transporting people, goods, services and information.
For example, will the solution:
• Support, preserve, or create long-term jobs and capital investment? Will it do so in an economically distressed area?
• Enhance opportunities for tourism and recreation?
• Plan for or contribute to linking workers to jobs?

21. Environmental Stewardship
Outcome sought: provide an environmentally responsible transportation system that does not compromise the ability of future generations
to meet their needs and encourage conservation of natural resources.  For example, will the solution:
• Use design, materials or techniques that will more than meet minimum environmental requirements or mitigate an existing 
 environmental problem in the area?
• Help meet air or water quality, energy or natural resource conservation, greenhouse gas reduction or similar goals?
• Plan for or contribute to the use of sustainable energy sources for transportation?



22. Land Use and Growth Management
Outcome sought: support existing land use plans and encourage development of compact communities and neighborhoods 
that integrate land uses to help make short trips, transit, walking and biking feasible.  For example, will the solution plan for or contribute to: 
• Efficient development and use of land as designated by comprehensive or other land use plans?
• Community revitalization including downtowns, economic centers and main streets?
• Compact urban development and mixed land uses?

23. Livability
Outcome sought: promote solutions that fit the community and physical setting, enable healthy communities and serve and respond
 to the scenic, aesthetic, historic, cultural and environmental resources.  For example, will the solution:
• Enhance or serve unique characteristics of the community?
• Use context sensitive principles in design and minimize impacts on the built and natural environment?
• Encourage a healthy lifestyle and enable active transportation by enhancing biking and walking networks and connections to community 
destinations or public transit stops or stations?
• Include elements that will make the facility or service more attractive, enjoyable, comfortable or convenient for potential users?

24. Safety and Security
Outcome sought: Investment improves the safety and security of the transportation system and takes into account the needs of 
potential users.  For example, will the solution:
• Improve safety by using designs or techniques that exceed minimum requirements for safety and are likely to reduce the frequency or 
severity of crashes?
• Help reduce crashes involving vulnerable road users such as bicyclists and pedestrians?
• Improve the ability to respond to an emergency and quickly recover use of the facility or service?

25. Equity
Outcome sought: promote a transportation system with multiple travel choices for potential users and fairly share benefits and burdens  
among Oregonians.  For example, will the solution: 
• Benefit a large segment of the community?
• Benefit one or more transportation disadvantaged populations?
• Improve environmental justice or economic equity of the community or region?

26. Funding and Finance
Outcome sought: investment uses funding structures that will support a viable transportation system and are fair and fiscally responsible. 
 For example, will the solution:
• Have ongoing funding available for operations and maintenance?
• Support the continued use of prior investments or reduce the need for future investments?



Project
Number

in
Notebook

Project
Name

Project
Sponsor

Enhance It
Funds

Requested
Project
Summary

Steering Committee
Benefits Discussion

Steering
Committee 
Ranking*

Running
Total

14
OR 51 Improvement
Project

City of Monmouth/
Oregon Department of
Transportation $847,867

Upgrade OR 51 between Heffley Street and the 'S' curve (approximately 1,600 feet) to
the city's major arterial standard (two travel lanes with two‐way left‐turn lane) and
add bike lanes, landscape buffer, and sidewalks to both sides of the highway
consistent with the city's major arterial design standard and the Highway Design
Manual.  This will complete a 4‐mile stretch of quality sidewalk on OR 51 extending
from its entry into Independence, through that city, and through downtown Monmouth.
Bike lanes will extend nearly the entire length of this 4‐mile section.

Accessibility:  Connection to schools and recreation opportunities.
Environment:  Storm water issues addressed.  Mobility:  Connects a
major bike route.  Economic Vitality:  Designed for commercial.  Land Use and 
Growth Management:  If this develops, it becomes more important as a 
connection to goods/services/recreation, and access to these safely.  Students 
use this for access to schools and shopping.  Benefits State Facility:  Final phase 
in a series of projects. 1.0 $847,867

21

OR 214:  Smith St.‐
Pioneer Dr. (Silverton),
Sidewalk and Bike Lanes

City of Silverton/
Oregon Department of
Transportation $1,079,310

The proposed project is located on State Hwy. 214 and will benefit approximately
2,140 residents in southern Silverton which are currently disconnected from parks,
schools, jobs, services, and retail uses in the downtown core.  This project will install
bicycle lanes and sidewalks on S. Water Street to complete a safe and convenient route to 
local services and amenities.  The proposed improvements will also promote a
healthier lifestyle for residents and increase the economic stability of the downtown.

Lots of public feedback/support.  High priority for Silverton.  Economic
Vitality:  Silverton hosts signature events, active art community.  Land
Use:  In the city Comprehensive Plan.  Equity:  Variety of users with
options for the transportation disadvantaged.  Accessibility:  Connects
to parks, schools, downtown, jobs.  Environment:  Facilitates mode
choice/alternate modes.  Goes beyond the minimum with storm water
treatment.  Livability:  Provides access to goods and services, provides
mode choices/connections to public transit.  Safety. 1.2 $1,927,177

5

Hayesville Dr. NE:  Happy
Dr.‐Fuhrer St., Bicycle
and Pedestrian
Improvements

Marion County Public
Works $1,450,000

Hayesville Drive is a heavily traveled collector in the northeast Salem area.  It serves
four schools, residential housing, a county park, and several transit stops.  This
project includes widening the existing paved shoulder to accommodate designated
bike lanes, adding curbs, gutters, sidewalks, drainage, landscaping, lighting,
and additional pedestrian amenities on both sides of Hayesville Drive from the
city limits east of Happy Drive to the city limits near Stephens Middle School.  The project will 
tie into existing bike lanes and sidewalks on both ends of the project.

Safety/Accessibility:  High degree of safety/bike‐ped access to five
schools, transit stops.  No other bike routes in this area.  Equity:  Large
number of poorer/transportation disadvantaged people.  Finance and
Funding:  Higher  than normal match.  Environment:  Encourages biking,
walking, transit by having these facilities safely available.  Storm water
treated by rain garden in park.  1.2 $3,377,177

11
OR: 18:  Grand Ronde‐
Fort Hill

Polk County/
Oregon Department of
Transportation $4,450,000

This D‐STIP project will improve safety and capacity on OR 18/22 from Valley Junction
to Fort Hill.  Improvements will include widening the existing two‐lane highway
and extending the four‐lane section from Fort Hill past Valley Junction.  A grade
separated interchange will be constructed to replace the existing intersection at
Valley Junction.  Two bridges over South Yamhill River will be replaced and
widened.  Median barrier improvements will be installed to prevent crossover
accidents.  Polk County's Rowell Creek Road, the Spirit Mountain Casino, and other
private property access will be modified to accommodate proposed highway
improvements.  This D‐STIP construction readiness project is a part of Phase 2 of the
"H.B.VanDuzer Forest Corridor to Steel Bridge Road" Corridor Refinement Plan.

Economic Vitality:  This is a major freight and tourist route.  Mobility: 
Transit connection.  Bike route.  Accessibility:  Wide shoulders for bikes
and pedestrians.  Finance and Funding:  Conf. Tribes of the Grand Ronde
partnership a possibility.  This project has been an MWACT priority
for several years.  Safety.  State‐owned Facility.  Construction phase estimated 
at approximately $50 million. 1.2 $7,827,177

4
Godsey Road Street 
Improvement Project City of Dallas $430,000

Construction of sidewalks and bike lanes on SE Godsey Road from SE
Miller Avenue to SE Monmouth Cutoff Highway.  Project includes minor pavement
widening for installation of bike lanes along with overall pavement maintenance.
Pavement maintenance is scheduled for FY 15‐16 utilizing the City's Federal Gas Tax
allocation.

Accessibility:  Connectivity with recreational facilities and schools
and industrial area.  Safety:  Sidewalks and bike lanes.  Livability: 
Encourages biking and walking to rec facilities and schools.  Concern
regarding lack of storm water treatment consideration.  Equity 
Environmental Justice:  Area income is middle income or below.  Economic 
Vitality.  Land Use:  Near light industry zoned area. 1.3 $8,257,177

Initial Screening Results



Project
Number

in
Notebook

Project
Name

Project
Sponsor

Enhance It
Funds

Requested
Project
Summary

Steering Committee
Benefits Discussion

Steering
Committee 
Ranking*

Running
Total

13
OR 47 @ Main Street
(Carlton)

City of Carlton/
ODOT Region 2 $1,220,000

The project will provide bike/pedestrian facilities for improved access throughout
the city of Carlton, an improved intersection at Main and Yamhill and a pedestrian
crossing at Monroe Street on Hwy. 47.  It will also provide new roadway surface and
sub‐grade along OR 47, which is Main Street in Carlton.   The city will replace
significant sub‐surface utilities including high pressure water mains and sanitary
sewer.  The existing pavement cross section is very poor with inadequate sub‐grade,
very thin and weak concrete overlaid by thin asphalt.  When the sub‐grade utilities
are replaced, this project will rebuild the highway for a two‐block section (N. Yamhill
to Pine Street) at the same time.

ROW issues.  Economic vitality:  Benefits tourism/connectivity.  In some
degree, this project satisfies all of the benefit areas.   Funding and
Finance:  Multiple funding sources/leverages funds.  Equity.  Livability.
Safety:  Adds sidewalks and bike lanes where there area none.
Accessibility:  Increases access to commercial areas.  State‐owned
Facility.  Leverage with Fix‐It funds and other city work. 1.3 $9,477,177

22
Newberg Highway 219
Bike/Pedestrian Project

City of Newberg/
ODOT, Region 2, Area 3 $1,192,840

The proposed project area is located within a section of State Highway 219 in Newberg
between Aldercrest Drive and Foothills Drive and is classified as a minor arterial by
the city.  Project length is about 4,500 feet.  Project improvements would include bike
lanes on both sides of the highway the full length of the project area.  Also, on the west
side of the highway for the full length of the project area, there would be constructed
(where none currently exists) a six‐foot wide side sidewalk; a planter strip, where
feasible; and curbs/gutters.  In addition, storm drainage improvements would be
installed with water quality enhancements benefitting the Willamette River.  City
staff estimates that about 6,000 square feet of right‐of‐way acquisition will be
needed for the project.

Continuation of previous project.  Environment:  Water quality and
storm drainage consideration.  Promotes alternative mode choices.  
Accessibility:  Part of the Regional Bicycle Master Plan.  Access to schools and 
recreation facilities as well as jobs and transit.  Benefits the State System:  In 
spite of current poor access for bikes/peds, this area is heavily used by 
bikes/peds.  This project will have bike lanes on both sides of highway.   Land 
Use.  Safety:  Safer for bikes/peds.  Mobility.  Equity.  Economic Vitality. 1.3 $10,670,017

12

OR 22:  Greenwood‐
Doaks Ferry Rd.
Development

Polk County/
ODOT $5,200,000

The project examines the impacts of replacing the existing highway intersection of
OR 22/51 with a grade‐separated interchange, environmental documentation, right‐
of‐way acquisition of frontage roads, and construction of associated frontage roads.
The project will complete an EA for the interchange development and access control
along OR 22 from Rickreall Road through the unincorporated community
of Eola.

Safety:  This project fixes the safety issues in this area.  Finance and
Funding:   Leverages other funds.  Benefits the State system:  Reduces
conflict points.  Economic vitality:  Benefits the freight system.  Construction 
phase to cost more than $25 million.  Mobility. 1.3 $15,870,017

10
Minto Brown Bike/
Ped Bridge (Salem)

Urban Renewal Agency 
of
the City of Salem/City
of Salem‐Public Works $1,581,815

The Minto Island Pedestrian and Bicycle Bridge (Minto Bridge) will span
the Willamette Slough 300 feet connecting Downtown Salem's Riverfront Park with
Minto Island and the planned Minto Trail and  Connecting Corridor in Minto Brown
Island Park (Minto Park) in South Salem.  These and other existing connections
across the Willamette River will link more than 20 miles of off‐street trails and
1100 acres of parks between south Salem, Downtown, and West Salem. 

Funding and Finance:  Significant overmatch (80%).  Last $ in.  Safety:
Helps to keep bikes off of River Road.  Equity:  Impacts a huge number
of people.  Accessibility:  Major link in miles of trails and parks.  Connectivity.  
Livability:   Major support from the community.  Access to jobs and recreation 
and events.  Economic Vitality:  Encourages tourism and events such as 
marathons.  Environmental stewardship.  Part of scenic Willamette Valley 
Bikeway. 1.5 $17,451,832

15**

OR 99E:  D St.‐N Ct.
(Hubbard) Center Turn
Lane and Crosswalk
at A St. Intersection

City of Hubbard/
Oregon Department of
Transportation (ODOT) $1,735,378

Addition of a high‐visibility crosswalk and flashing beacon at the intersection of
OR 99E and "A" Street and center‐turn lane on Pacific Hwy. 99E between "D" Street and
the north city limits.

Discussion that this project may be on ODOT's Fix‐it List.  Not sure what
would not be included if it gets Fix‐It funds.  High ADT at certain times
of the day.  Safety:  Have to cross to reach parks and services.  Top 10%
accident site currently.  Benefits the State Facility.  Economic Vitality:  Links to 
jobs.  Equity. 1.7 $19,187,210

1

Bents Rd. at Ehlen Rd.:
Realignment and
Intersection 
Improvements Marion County $1,950,000

The project realigns Bents Road approximately 800' west of its current location
and restricts movements at the existing Bents Road connection to Ehlen Road to right
in only.  The improvements associated with this project include:  realignment of Bents
Road utilizing a curvilinear design to promote accessibility in the area; installing
a traffic signal at the newly created intersection; adding left‐turn lanes on the north,
west, and east legs; treatments at the existing intersection of Bents Road and Ehlen
Road to enhance safety and mobility at the intersection as well as the adjacent
interchange with I‐5; and adding interconnect capability for coordination with
a potential future signalization project at the Ehlen Road Interchange at I‐5.  This
project satisfies nearly all application benefit categories.

Benefits the State System:  Gets rid of conflicts/next to the state system.
(I‐5 ramps)  Finance and Funding:  High match.  Safety:  Reduce crashes
and the severity of crashes.  Accessibility:  Would benefit bikes by moving them 

away from trucks.  Mobility:  Better freight movements.  Economic Vitality:  
Would promote economic development/zoned. 1.7 $21,137,210



Project
Number

in
Notebook

Project
Name

Project
Sponsor

Enhance It
Funds

Requested
Project
Summary

Steering Committee
Benefits Discussion

Steering
Committee 
Ranking*

Running
Total

3
SAMTD Fixed Route
Bus Replacement

Salem Area Mass 
Transit
District $2,400,000

Salem Area Mass Transit District (SAMTD) is a local municipality operating buses
within the urban growth boundary of Salem and Keizer, Oregon.  The fixed‐route system
which serves a population of approximately 200,000 is known as "Cherriots."  
Funding sources for the District's operating expenses include a local property tax,
fare box revenue, federal funds, and state in‐lieu‐of payroll tax funds.  The District's
general fund operating budget is approximately $25,600,000 annually.

The Enhance It grant will be used to purchase replacement 35‐ and 40‐ foot low floor,
heavy duty, compressed natural gas (CNG) fixed route transit buses.  The current fleet,
including 34 CNG buses, will begin a replacement cycle in 2014 with 24 buses reaching
the end of useful life.

Environment:  Keeps the fleet modern and energy efficient.  CNG. 
Mobility:  SAMTD's number one priority.  Equity:  Serves all of the
population but especially transportation disadvantaged.  Safety.
Land Use.  Environmental.  Mobility.  Reduce maintenance costs. 1.7 $23,537,210

19

Nursery Avenue
(Hwy. 153) Improvements
Phase 2 City of Amity $1,166,600

The proposed enhancements would widen the existing 22‐foot wide roadway
to accommodate bicycle traffic and relocate and restrict the existing residential
parking through the use of bulb‐outs to facilitate pedestrian traffic as well as
construct sidewalks on both sides of the roadway.  The project would also provide streetscape 
enhancements such as benches, lights, and trash receptacles; reconstruct the storm system, as 
necessary, to accommodate the widened roadway; and reconstruct property owner 
improvements affected by the proposed work.  In addition, the city will upgrade some 
waterlines, as required.  The project is a critical component of the Downtown Redevelopment 
Plan and is the eastern gateway to the City of Amity.

Safety:  Lighting.  Economic Vitality:  Promote tourism.  Accessibility:
Links schools, commercial areas, recreation facilities, and residential
areas.  Funding and Finance:  Variety of funding sources.  Environment:
Add storm water facilities.  Supports land use. 1.8 $24,703,810

9

Main Street 
Improvements
Phase 2 City of Dallas $873,000

The Main Street Improvement project is the second phase of an improvement
to the streetscape and transportation system in Dallas' Central Business District.
It implements a pedestrian friendly design including traffic‐calming and multi‐modal
features.  Low‐Impact Development standards are featured to not only enhance
the area for the people using it but to promote an environmentally friendly design.
The design aspects of this project have already been implemented on two side
streets in the Central Business District and a project for the two blocks directly
south along Main Street is scheduled for completion within the next fiscal year. 

Accessibility:  Connects to transit.  Pedestrian friendly.  Environment:
Rain gardens/encourage use of alternate modes such as walking.
Economic Vitality:  Strong.  Use local businesses/strong support from
local businesses.  Promote downtown events/activities.  Safety: 
Narrow travel lanes/reduce speed.  Add bike lanes and widen sidewalks.
Livability.  Supports land use in the CBD.   2.0 $25,576,810

18
Lafayette East
End Gateway City of Lafayette $785,300

Complete the city's East‐End Gateway project identified in the Downtown Streetscape
Plan and TSP by constructing curbs, installing sidewalks connecting the east end
to the downtown core, installing street trees, and illumination in addition to other
pedestrian amenities.  Rechanneling the roadway to improve pedestrian visibility
and crossing safety as well as shortening crossing points by constructing bulb‐outs.
Create defined parking areas and signing to create a gateway into the City of Lafayette.

Accessibility:  Increases connectivity.  Safety:  Gets people off
the shoulders and onto sidewalks.  Livability.  Economic Vitality:
Provides mobility from one end to the business district.  Environment: 
Reduces impervious surface.  Benefit to State‐owned Facility. 2.0 $26,362,110

2

Yamhill County Capital
Improvement Project‐
Bus Purchase Yamhill County $942,165

Yamhill County will purchase three (3) category a‐1, transit buses.  These buses will be
used to replace aging vehicles in our fleet.  Replacing vehicles that have exceeded their
useful life standards increases fuel economy and reduces maintenance costs.  We
continue to see an increase in our ridership and as a result are experiencing capacity
issues.  These three larger buses will help to alleviate some of those capacity
issues.

Funding and Finance:  Operating and maintenance funding is stable.
Project is scalable.  Environment:  Current fleet means less
breakdowns/maintenance issues/better energy efficiency which is better
for the environment.  Mobility.  Equity:  Accessible to everyone,
especially the transportation disadvantaged.  Economic Vitality.
Livability. 2.0 $27,304,275



Project
Number

in
Notebook

Project
Name

Project
Sponsor

Enhance It
Funds

Requested
Project
Summary

Steering Committee
Benefits Discussion

Steering
Committee 
Ranking*

Running
Total

8

Lancaster Dr. NE at
Winema Pl. NE:
Multimodal Intersection
Improvements

Marion County Public
Works $600,000

The project is located at Lancaster Drive/Winema Place intersection northeast
Salem and will provide critical access and safety improvements on a prominent
principal arterial corridor in the unincorporated area of Salem.  The proposed project
consists of the design and construction of a traffic signal at Lancaster Drive/
Winema Place intersection, interconnected with the Salem Central Traffic Operations.
The project will increase pedestrian and vehicular safety, reduce unnecessary
vehicle delays, and allow and encourage expansion of Chemeketa Community
College (CCC) Campus and associated businesses.  The intersection experiences high
levels of pedestrian activity which, combined with high traffic volumes, contributes to
significant vehicle and pedestrian conflicts and delays.

Accessibility:  There is an alternate Bicycle/Pedestrian route.  Mobility:
Benefits transit.  This is Cherriots highest rider route.  Safety:  Signage
would be coordinated.  Equity.  Concerns regarding the project design.
Questions about whether this project would be done by developer of area.  
Private Road. 2.2 $27,904,275

17

Brooklake Rd.:  Pueblo
Ave.‐OR 99E, Pedestrian
and Bicycle Improvements

Marion County Public
Works $585,000

Brooks is a growing unincorporated community of approximately 400 people.
It has several commercial, industrial, educational, and residential areas but 
generally lacks sidewalk and bike lanes on key routes.  Brooklake Road is an arterial
with 9000 vehicles per day, connecting I‐5 to OR 99E.  It is a key freight route
connection between Salem and Woodburn.  There are a high percentage of large
trucks that pose safety concerns for bicyclists and pedestrians.  There are sidewalks
along all but 185' on the south side.  There is a shoulder of varying width to
accommodate bikes and sidewalks and curb and gutter with gaps on the
north side.  This project will complete the pedestrian and bicycle facilities on both
sides of Brooklake Road on the most densely developed section between OR 99E and
Pueblo Ave.

Finance and Funding:  Larger match than most.  Possible Enhancement
funding.  Equity.  Accessibility.  Safety. 2.2 $28,489,275

23
Rickreall Creek Trail
System Phase 5 City of Dallas $278,000

Construction of a section of the Rickreall Creek Trail System, including 2700 feet of
10‐foot‐wide concrete trail.  Along the trail, there will be the installation of trail
fixtures such as benches and signage.  A portion of the sidewalk will go around the
perimeter of the Central Bark Dog Park and will be used to connect the neighborhood
to the RCTS.

Safety:  Bike facilities off road.  Accessibility:  Connectivity to
parks/recreation/downtown.  Livability.  Land Use.  Connectivity. 2.3 $28,767,275

16
Hwy. 99E Sidewalks
and Bike lanes

City of Aurora/
Oregon Department of
Transportation $805,000

Aurora is a National Historic District with tourism industry that attracts persons from
throughout the state and abroad.  Visitors come to shop for antiques and participate
in events related to the historic districts and antiquing events.  Highway 99E divides
the district with a very busy highway which lacks sidewalks in many of the retail
areas.  The proposed improvements would be continuation of a previous ODOT award
that installed sidewalks and bike lanes from Main Street to Bob's Avenue along 99E.
The project is a high safety priority for ODOT and would encourage continued 
economic and retail activity in the city.

Finance and Funding:  Continuation of previous ODOT/federal funding.
Mobility:  Links with buses and ped facilities.  Economic Vitality:
Enhances tourism.  Accessibility:  Access to Historic District.  Concerns
about storm water system.  Safety:  Sidewalks only on one side.  Access
to mobile home park.  Livability.  Economic Vitality. 2.3 $29,572,275

20

OR 214/99E Intersection
Local Street Conflict
Elimination ‐ Woodburn City of Woodburn $1,102,815

Project would include elimination of local street conflicts at the intersection of
OR 214/99E.  The current intersection of George Street at OR 214 would be closed to
through traffic and restricted to pedestrian, bicycle, and emergency vehicle access
only.  The intersection of Birds Eye at OR 214 would be eliminated.  George Street be
extended to the east to meet a new street intersecting OR 214 east of the OR 214/99E
intersection.  Vicinity local streets would be improved to provide proper connectivity.
Project would include engineering, right‐of‐way acquisition, surveying, construction
of utilities, streets, sidewalks, street lighting, striping, and signage.

Safety:  Heavy on safety.  Gets rid of an intersection too close to the
intersection of two state highways.  Equity:  Poor section of town. 
Accessibility:  Regional connectivity as well as local connectivity
improved.  There is no connection for bikes and pedestrians on 99E.
Economic Vitality:  Improved freight movement.  Benefits to State System:
Gets rid of intersection too close to state highways intersection.
Mobility:  Improved pedestrian mobility.  Land Use:  Part of Highway 99E
Corridor Plan. 2.3 $30,675,090



Project
Number

in
Notebook

Project
Name

Project
Sponsor

Enhance It
Funds

Requested
Project
Summary

Steering Committee
Benefits Discussion

Steering
Committee 
Ranking*

Running
Total

24
Rideshare Outreach
Support Project, SAMTD

Salem Area Mass 
Transit
District $50,000

The first section of this project is for Employee Transportation Coordinator (ETC)
Training and Web Portal development.  An effective way for an employer to increase
employees' awareness of travel options is by their designating an Employee
Transportation Coordinator within their organization.  The duties are often in
addition to regularly assigned, so it is important that we provide them with tools to make their 
job easier.

The second section is an Employee Outreach Challenge. This will be a commuter challenge 
targeting work sites and commuters in Polk, Marion, and Yamhill Counties.  Utilizing the Drive 
Less Connect ride matching tool, we want to enhance our metric gathering ability and track 
not only new and existing users but also track carpools/vanpools formed and mode shift.

Economic vitality:  Access to jobs.  Leverages other funding to
maintain program at current levels.   Equity.  Mobility.  Environmental 
Stewardship. 2.5 $30,725,090

26

Yamhelas Westsider
Trail with Rail (UPRR:
Hagg Lake to
McMinnville) Yamhill County $2,153,520

The project includes the acquisition of an abandoned Union Pacific Railroad
 right‐of‐way from Hagg Lake to OR 99W near McMinnville.  The 17‐mile long railway
corridor is located in the heart of scenic Oregon Wine Country and provides linkages
between 4 cities, 2 counties, and several regionally significant recreation sites.
The acquisition would preserve the railway in one single public ownership and
addresses multiple transportation needs including pedestrian, bicycling, and
future rail service.  In addition to financial support committed by Yamhill County,
the project is supported by a grass‐roots coalition of stakeholders, known as the
Friends of Yamhelas Westsider Trail, who are actively working toward the acquisition
and development of a trail within the old railway line.

Economic Vitality:  Opportunities for economic development and
potential tourism.  ROW issues/need to preserve ROW.  Concern
about what the ultimate goal is for this area.  Concern that rails and
trails don't mix.  Project is scalable.  Time sensitive.  Livability:
Increase the livability of the area.  Mobility.  Safety. 2.7 $32,878,610

25

Silver Falls North
Canyon Safety and Access
Enhancements

Oregon Parks and 
Recreation $3,169,850

The Silver Falls North Canyon project addresses safety issues along the Oregon Silver
Falls Tour Route, OR 214, through Silver Falls State Park.  Project activities include
widening the highway to provide turn lanes into a Tour Route day‐use/rest area,
expanding off‐highway parking at two locations, increasing universal access at third
parking area, and decommissioning a fourth parking area in a high‐risk location.  The
project will also expand ADA‐compliant parking and add amenities to the Silver Falls
Tour Route including a restroom facility, picnic site, and ADA‐compliant walkways.

Economic Vitality:  promotes tourism.  750,000 people annually.
Finance and funding:  What other types are available?  This type of
project used to be funded under Scenic Routes.  Benefits State Facility.
Equity:  ADA improvements.  Safety.  Phasing opportunities. 3.0 $36,048,460

6***
High Risk Rural Safety
Corridor Analysis

Marion County Public
Works $570,000

The project consists of a comprehensive corridor safety analysis to identify
and address issues on the following collector corridors:  Howell Prairie Road,
Boones Ferry Road, Vitae Springs Road, Abiqua Road, and Parrish Gap Road.  We
propose to upgrade signing to meet new MUTCD standards, upgrade materials
to high‐intensity sheeting, upgrade street name signs, evaluate directional signing
perform curve assessments, and evaluate fixed object obstructions and
guardrail needs.  We propose to make fixes for low cost needs and identify and
prioritize remaining needs.

Finance and Funding:  May qualify for state Fix‐It funding or safety
funds.  Equity:  Rural populations.  Concerned about non‐specific fixes. 3.0 $36,618,460

7
Integrated Transit ITS
Project, SAMTD

Salem Area Mass 
Transit
District $1,500,000

The Enhance It Grant Project will upgrade Salem Area Mass Transit District's current
patchwork of intelligent Transportation System (ITS) technology and provide an
integrated system for all SAMTD transit services including urban fixed route, ADA,
and rural service.  The project will fill technology gaps replacing long outmoded
components that are no longer supported by the manufacturer ensuring that
components of the technology can communicate with each other, and ensuring
technology consistency across the fleet.

Safety:  GPS system.  Equity:  ADA requirement to announce
transfer points.  Mobility.  Long‐term benefits. 3.0 $38,118,460

* Steering Committee Ranking:  Projects with the same numeric value were ranked by the Steering Committee as being equal, and their order of presentation is random.
** Related Fix‐It Project Possibility
*** Project could be a Fix‐It or Safety funded project.



Urban Project Needs Summary by City

2/8/2013

City

Total Project costs on 
County Facilities within 
UGB Comments

Aumsville $9,804,000
Aurora $3,630,000
Detroit $0 No County Roads
Donald $300,000
Gates
Gervais $1,245,000
Hubbard $170,000
Idanha $0 No County Roads
Jefferson $710,000
Keizer $0 No County Roads
Mill City
Mt Angel $435,000
Salem $126,931,000 Does not include Cordon/Hwy22 interchange
Scotts Mills Need bridge replacement cost
Silverton $8,975,000
St Paul
Stayton $7,500,000
Sublimity $1,000,000
Turner $3,242,000
Woodburn $24,000,000 includes some facilities outside UGB

Total $187,942,000

For Budget purposes an additional $35 million for urban projects outside of Salem in Salem UGB was inc
For a total of approximately $205 million in Urban capital funding needs

A list of what projects are included can be found for individual cities at:

G:Engineering/Transportation/Transportation Planning/Urban Plan/Urban Project List Notebook.xls



Urban Project Needs Summary by City

2/8/2013

                 cluded



Urban Project Needs Woodburn

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost (County) Cost (City) Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes

Crosby Road upgrade Crosby Road Upgrade to minor arterial standards upgrade $20,860,000 2004 County
Includes area 
outside UGB

Total Project Cost $20,860,000 2004

Inflated Cost to 2011
Using 12% Seattle 
Cost Index $24,000,000 2011



Urban Project Needs Turner

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost (County) Cost (City) Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes

Completed
55th Ave/Gaston 
St/2nd St connection

55th Av between Gaston and 
3rd

Correct easement, extend 2nd St to 
Gaston and extend Gaston to 55th Realignment 2002 County Does not include ROW

3rd St improvements
3rd St from Val View Dr to 
North CL

Improve with sidewalks, curbs, gutters, 
driveway aprons, bike lanes, and 
center turn lane. (2800')  Corridor 2002 County

Programmed

Delaney Road 
Improvements

Delaney Rd west of 3rd St to 
Mill Creek Bridge

Improve Delaney Rd with sidewalks, 
curbs, gutters, driveway aprons, 
bikelanes, on street parking (2300') Corridor $1,092,000 2010 County

Transportation 
Enhancement Grant

From TIA
3rd/Delaney signal 3rd/Delaney Install traffic signal Signal $450,000 2007 County Riverbend TIA
3rd St Improvements From exisitng to CL Urban upgrade Corridor Developer County Riverbend TIA

Wipper Road Bridge Upgrade or replacement Bridge $1,700,000 2009 County Prospectus

Total Project Cost $3,242,000



Sublimity

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost (County) Cost (City) Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes

Starr Rd/Center 
Street 
Improvements

Intersection of Starr 
Rd & Center St

Signalize and add 
turn lanes signal $1,000,000 2007 County TSP

W Starr St
NW Johnson St to N 
Center St Sidewalks south side BP $30,000 2010 County SRTS

Various Various
Replace/install ADA 
ramps 6 locations BP $3,000 2010 County SRTS

Berry St SE
Ne Cherry St to 525 
Berry St Sidewalks west side BP $60,000 2010 County SRTS

E Church St SE Pine St SS20 Flashers BP $30,000 2010 County SRTS
S Center St Main St SS20 Flashers BP $30,000 2010 County SRTS

E Starr St
NE Pine St to Berry 
St Sidewalks both sides BP N/A 2010 County SRTS

E Starr St
N Center St to NE 
Pine St

Sidewalk segments 
both sides BP N/A 2010 County SRTS

S Center St 
658 S Center St to 
514 S Center St Sidewalks east side BP N/A 2010 County SRTS

E Church St
S Center St to SE 
Pine St Sidewalks both sides BP N/A 2010 County SRTS

Berry St SE
E Starr St to Cherry 
St Sidewalks west side BP N/A 2010 County SRTS

W Starr St
West city limits to 
356 NW Starr St Sidewalks south side BP N/A 2010 County SRTS

N Center St
North city limits to 
Starr St

Sidewalk segments 
both sides BP N/A 2010 County SRTS

Total Project Cost $1,153,000 County

Inflated Cost Using 5%/yr 



Stayton

Project Location Project Description Project Type
Cost 
(County)

Cost     
(City)

Estimate 
Year Jurisdiction Notes

Cascade Hwy/Hwy 22 
Interchange Cascade Hwy and Hwy 22

Construct interchange at Cascade Hwy, 
widen Hwy 22 Interchange ODOT Done

Golf Club Road 
Improvements

Golf Club Road from Shaff 
Road to Hwy 22

Widen to 5 lanes w/ sidewalks.  Signalize 
Golf Club/Shaff/Wilco intersection

Capacity 
Signal/Recons
truct $4,000,000 2004 County

Roundabouts
Washington St to Santiam 
St

Construct Washington St to Santaim St 
Corridor roundabouts

Capacity 
Corridor 
Improvements $1,100,000 2004 County

Golf Club Road/Hwy 
22 Improvements

Golf Club Road at Hwy 22 
EB Ramps Signalize and install EB right turn lane

Capacity 
Signal $250,000 2004 County

Golf Club/Mill Creek 
Rd Signal

Golf Club Road at Mill Creek 
Rd Signalize intersection

Capacity 
Signal $175,000 2004 County

Washington St/Ida 
St/Wilco Road 
Roundabout

Washington St/Ida St/ Wilco 
Road Intersection Install Roundabout

Capacity 
Intersection $850,000 2004 County/City

Sidewalks on Santiam 
St

Santiam St between 
Highland Dr and CL

Install sidewalks both sides, intermittant 
sections Pedestrian $80,000 2004 County

Sidewalks on Shaff Rd Shaff Rd E of Douglas St
Install sidewalks north side of Shaff Rd 
east of Douglas St Pedestrian $28,500 2004 County

Inflated Cost Using 5%/yr $7,500,000 2007
Stayton Elementary Safe Routes to School

Shaff Rd NE
Gardner Av to 1195 Wyatt 
Av Sidewalks south side $30,000 2010 MC SRTS

E Washington St
210 E Washington St 
frontage Sidewalks south side $10,000 2010 MC SRTS

E Washington St 776 N 5th Av frontage Sidewalks south side $12,500 2010 MC SRTS
N 1st St W Locust St SS20 Flashers $30,000 2010 MC SRTS
E Washington St N 3rd Av SS20 Flashers $30,000 2010 MC SRTS

E Washington St
470 E Washington St 
frontage Sidewalks south side 2010 MC SRTS

Fern Ridge Rd SE Cascade Hwy to N 3rd Av Sidewalks north side 2010 Stayton SRTS
Fern Ridge Rd SE Dawn Dr to Kent Ct Sidewalks south side 2010 MC SRTS
E Washington 
St/6th/Jefferson/10th N 1st St to east UGB Evaluate bike lanes on both sides 2010 MC SRTS

N 10th Av
E Jefferson St to E Santiam 
St Sidewalks east side 2010 MC SRTS

Shaff Rd NE
Stayton Middle School to 
Cascade Hwy Sidewalks north side 2010 MC SRTS

Fern Ridge Rd SE
975 Fern Ridge Rd to 1501 
Fern Ridge Rd Sidewalks north side 2010 MC SRTS

E Santiam St N 10th Av to east city limits Sidewalks both sides 2010 MC SRTS
E Jefferson St N 6th Av Evaluate crosswalks on city legs 2010 Stayton SRTS

Total Project Cost $7,612,500



St Paul

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost Cost (City) Estimate YeaJurisdictio



St Paul

Notes



Silverton

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost (County) Cost (City) Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes

C St Reconstruction C St from 1st to Westfield St 1950' Reconstruction Reconstruction $635,000 2000 County
W. Main St 
Reconstruction

W. Main St from Westfield to 
Petit Lane W. Main St reconstruction Reconstruction $1,880,000 2000 County

Eureka Av 
Reconstruction

Eureka Ave from W. Main St 
to Edison Road 5200' reconstruction Reconstruction $1,440,000 2000 County

Westfield St 
Reconstruction

Westfield St from McClaine to 
W Main 2450' reconstruction Reconstruction $880,000 2000 County

Steelhammer Rd 
Reconstruction Steelhammer Road

Steelhammer Rd 
reconstruction Reconstruction $320,000 2000 County

Cascade 
Hwy/Westfield St 
Channelization

Cascade Hwy/ Westfield 
intersection

Channelize Cascade 
Hwy/Westfield St intersection

Intersection 
improvement $350,000 2000 County

Hobart Road/Hwy 
214 Channelization Hobart Rd/Hwy 214

Channelize Hobart Rd/Hwy 
214 intersection

Intersection 
improvement $100,000 2000 County

$5,605,000 2000 County
Total Project Cost

Inflated Cost Using 5%/yr $7,900,000 2007

City/ODOT TSP
Total Projects See TSP Pages $10,850,000

1st/Hobart signal 1st/Hobart Install Signal
Intersection 
Improvement $250,000 2008

ODOT/ 
County TSP

C/McClaine RTL C St/McClaine Construct RTL
Intersection 
Improvement $420,000 2008 City/County TSP

James/C James/C St Restrict NB and SB left turns
Intersection 
Improvement Minimal  none 2008 City/County TSP

Hwy 213 
/Steelhammer LTL Hwy 213/Steelhammer Construct LTL w/ median

Intersection 
Improvement $250,000 2008

ODOT/ 
County TSP

Pioneer/Monitor 
Roundabout Pioneer Dr/ Evans Valley Rd Construct Roundabout

Intersection 
Improvement $750,000 2008 City/County TSP

Hwy 213 /Monitor 
Roundabout Hwy 213/ Monitor Rd Construct Roundabout

Intersection 
Improvement $2,300,000 2008

ODOT/ 
County TSP

Pine  Sidewalk infill Pine St from Grant to CL Sidewalk Gap infill BP $164,000 2008 County TSP
C St Sidewalks C St from McClaine to James Sidewalks BP $157,000 2008 County TSP

Projects on Roads that don't affect County Facilities from the TSP

Projects on Roads that affect County Facilities from the TSP Action Plan



Silverton

Steelhammer 
Sidewalks

Steelhammer from Oak to 
Evans Valley Sidewalks BP $388,000 2008 County TSP

Westfield Sidewalks Westfield from Main to Sidewalks BP $21,000 2008 County TSP Completed
Pine  bike lanes Pine St from Grant to CL Bike lanes BP $345,000

$7,900,000 $8,452,000 2008 TSP

$1,578,000 2008 TSP

$3,679,000 2008 TSP

$370,000 2008 TSP

Total TSP Action Projects $8,975,000 $24,164,000 TSP

Pededstrian Projects from TSP

Transit Projects from TSP

Reconstruction Projects from TSP

Bicycle Projects from TSP



Scotts Mills

Scotts Mills

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost (County) Cost (City) Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes

Covered Bridge
3rd St River 
Crossing

Replace existing bridge with 
covered bridge or a pedestrian 
bridge at old alignment Bridge



Salem

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost Estimate Year Jurisdiction Comments

Lancaster Dr NE & SE
Along unincorporated 
sections of Lancaster Dr

Conduct an access management study along 
unincorporated portion of Lancaster Dr

IT         
Roadway $279,000 2007 County IT

Ward Dr NE
Ward Ct NE to Lancaster 
Dr NE

Improve to minor arterial standards, including 2 
travel lanes and a center turn lane with curbs, 
gutters, sidewalks and bikelanes, plus 
intersection improvements

Modernization 
Roadway $1,575,000 2007 County

Cordon Road SE at State Street

Construct improvements to the intersection with 
State S that include turn pockets where 
appropriate

Capacity 
Intersection $500,000 2007 County Capacity

Blossom Dr NE
Lilac Lane NE to Portland 
Road NE

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $1,000,000 2007 County

Auburn Road NE* at Cordon Road NE
Install east and west bound left turn lanes on 
Auburn Road NE to Cordon Road NE

Capacity 
Intersection RTSP 2007 County $450,000

Cordon Road NE* at Indiana Ave NE
Install north bound left turn lane on Cordon 
Road NE to west bound Indiana Road NE

Safety 
Intersection RTSP 2007 County $500,000

Cordon Road NE* at Herrin Ave NE
Install north bound left turn lane on Cordon 
Road NE to west bound Herrin Road NE

Safety 
Intersection RTSP 2007 County $500,000

Cordon Road NE* at Hayesville Drive NE
Install north bound left turn lane on Cordon 
Road NE to west bound Hayesville Dr NE

Safety 
Intersection RTSP 2007 County $500,000

Hazelgreen Road NE*
at Cordon Road NE/55th 
Ave NE

Construct turn lanes on all four legs, include 
minor intersection realignment, and install 
signal

Capacity 
Intersection RTSP 2007 County $900,000

Hollywood Dr NE at Silverton Road NE
Install north bound left turn pocket on 
Hollywood Dr NE to west bound Silverton Rd

Capacity 
Intersection $500,000 2007 County

Ward Dr NE at Lancaster Dr NE
Add east bound right turn lane on Ward Dr to 
Lancaster Dr and upgrade signal

Capacity 
Intersection $600,000 2007 County

45th Ave NE
Silverton Road to Ward 
Drive NE

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $2,635,000 2007 County

Auburn Road NE
Cordon Road NE to 
Lancaster Drive NE

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $402,000 2007 County

Cordon Road SE*
Caplinger Road SE to 
State St

Improve to Parkway standards, including 4 
travel lanes, center turn lane or left turn lanes at 
selected locations, shared use path

Capacity 
Roadway RTSP 2007 County $2,480,000

Cordon Road SE* State St to Center St NE

Improve to Parkway standards, including 4 
travel lanes, center turn lane or left turn lanes at 
selected locations, shared use path

Capacity 
Roadway RTSP 2007 County $4,600,000

Cordon Road SE*
Center St NE to 
Sunnyview Rd NE

Improve to Parkway standards, including 4 
travel lanes, center turn lane or left turn lanes at 
selected locations, shared use path

Capacity 
Roadway RTSP 2007 County $4,600,000

Cordon Road SE*
Sunnyview Rd NE to 
Silverton Rd NE

Improve to Parkway standards, including 4 
travel lanes, center turn lane or left turn lanes at 
selected locations, shared use path

Capacity 
Roadway RTSP 2007 County $4,600,000



Salem

Hollywood Dr NE
Silverton Rd NE to city 
limits

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $1,300,000 2007 County

Connecticut Ave SE
Pennsylvania Ave Se to 
Rickey St SE

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $640,000 2007 County

Hayesville Drive NE
Lancaster Dr NE to 
Cordon Rd NE

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $4,602,000 2007 County

Includes some 
roadway within CL

Herrin Rd NE
45th Ave NE to Cordon 
Rd NE

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $2,412,000 2007 County

Macleay Rd NE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Connecticut Av SE

Improve to urban Collector standards, including 
2 travel lanes with curbs, gutters, sidewalks and 
bike lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $1,625,000 2007 County

Sunnyview Rd NE
Walker Rd NE to Cordon 
Rd NE

Improve to Minor arterial standards, including 2 
travel lanes and a center turn lane with curbs, 
gutters, sidewalks and bikelanes, plus left turn 
lanes at intersections

Modernization 
Roadway $765,000 2007 County

Croisan Creek Rd S
Kuebler Blvd S to Skyline 
Rd S/Davis Rd S

Extend Croisan Creek Rd S northward to the 
intersection of Skyline Road S and Davis Rd S

Modernization  
Roadway $1,312,000 2007 County Capacity

Greencrest St NE
Auburn Road NE to State 
St NE

Extend Greencrest St NE south to State St to 
create a north-south collector connecting 
Center St NE and State St

Modernization 
Street 
Extension $2,470,000 2007 County Capacity

Lancaster Dr NE 
Hayesville Dr NE to 
Silverton Rd NE

Install fiber optic cable and Interconnect signals 
along Lancaster Dr NE ITS $125,000 2007 County IT

Lancaster Dr SE
Act 3 Theater to Rickey St 
SE

Install fiber optic cable and Interconnect signals 
along Lancaster Dr SE ITS $75,000 2007 County IT

Silverton Rd NE
Lancaster Dr NE to 
Cordon Rd NE

Install fiber optic cable and Interconnect signals 
along Silverton Rd NE ITS $150,000 2007 County IT

Cordon Road SE at Santiam Highway OR22

Construct a grade-separated interchange to 
improve access to the Cordon RoadSE/Kuebler 
Blvd SE circumferential travel route

Capacity 
Intersection RTSP 2007 Salem

Capacity 
$20,000,000

River Road S

County sections between 
Croisan Creek Rd S to 
UGB

Improve to Minor Arterial standards where 
topography allows, including 2 travel lanes with 
curbs, gutters, sidewalks and bike lanes, plus 
left turn pockets at intersections

Modernization 
Roadway $5,000,000 2007 Salem

Total project 
$9,800,000 
Estimate Co 
portion is half

Center St NE
Lancaster Dr NE to 
Cordon Rd NE

Improve to urban standards, including 2 travel 
lanes and a center turn lane with curbs, gutters, 
sidewalks and bike lanes

Capacity  
Roadway $5,051,000 2007 Salem Added for Budget

State St
Lancaster Dr NE to 
Cordon Rd NE Urban upgrade

Capacity 
Roadway $5,000,000 2007 Salem Added for Budget

Satter Dr NE 45th Ave NE to end Urban upgrade
Modernization 
Roadway $2,500,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Sesame St NE
45th Av NE to 48th Ave 
NE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,500,000 2007 County Added for Budget



Salem

Fisher Rd NE Ward Dr NE to City Limits Urban upgrade
Modernization 
Roadway $3,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Brown Rd NE
Silverton Rd NE to city 
limits Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $1,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Monroe Av NE
Lancaster Rd NE to east 
end Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Monroe Av NE
Lancaster Rd NE to west 
end Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $3,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

36th Av NE
Center St NE to Monroe 
St NE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Amber St NE
Lancaster Dr NE to City 
limits Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $1,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

37th Av SE Mahrt Av SE to City limits Urban upgrade
Modernization 
Roadway $1,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Mahrt Av SE
37th Av SE to Lancaster 
Dr SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $1,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Mahrt Av SE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Connecticut Av SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $3,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Hudson Av NE
Cul-de-sac to Lancaster 
DR NE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $250,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Hudson Av NE
Lancaster Dr NE to 
Draper St NE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Elma Av 
Munkers St SE to cul-de-
sac Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,500,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Durbin Av SE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Meadowlawn Dr SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $250,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Durbin Av SE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Connecticut Av SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Glenwood Dr SE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Connecticut Av SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Munkers St SE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Munkers Ct SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $500,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Munkers St SE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Connecticut Av SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Hager St SE
Lancaster Dr SE to 
Connecticut Av SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,500,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Macleay Rd NE
Pennsylvania Ave SE to 
Cordon Rd SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $4,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Viewcrest River Road S to UGB Extension
Modernization 
Roadway $7,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Croisan Creek Rd S
Kuebler Blvd S to Heath 
St S

This project will widen the section of road to a 
30-ft cross section which will include shoulders 
but no curbs, gutters, or sidewalks

Modernization 
Roadway $7,770,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Skyline Rd S Salem City limits to UGB Urban upgrade
Modernization 
Roadway $3,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Liberty Rd S
Holder Lane to South 
UGB

Improve to an interim 3 lane urban standard, 
with 2 travel lanes, a center turn lane, curbs, 
gutters, sidewalks, and bike lanes

Modernization 
Roadway $1,822,000 2007 County Added for Budget



Salem

Rees Hill Rd SE
Sunnyside Rd SE to 
Champion Hill Rd SE

Improve to Collector standards, including 2 
travel lanes, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and bike 
lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $2,603,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Sunnyside Rd SE Pawnee Cr SE to UGB

Improve to Minor Arterial standards with 2 travel 
lanes, left turn pockets, bike lanes, curbs, 
gutters, and sidewalks

Modernization 
Roadway $3,784,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Gaffin Road SE
Cordon Rd SE to west of 
Hwy 22 interchange

Provide a 3/4 street improvement on a 1,500 
foot segment bordering City-owned property to 
Minor Arterial standards and provide turnpike 
improvements to the remaining portion (approx. 
3500 feet) of the roadway

Modernization 
Roadway $2,082,000 2007 County Added for Budget

36th Av SE
Kuebler Blvd SE to 
Wiltsey Road Improve to standards

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Wiltsey Rd SE
Battle Creek Rd SE to 
36th Av SE

Improve to Collector standards, including 2 
travel lanes, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and bike 
lanes where designated

Modernization 
Roadway $2,377,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Battle Creek Rd SE Salem City limits to UGB Urban upgrade
Modernization 
Roadway $1,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Boone Rd SE
32nd Av SE to Turner Rd 
SE Urban upgrade

Modernization 
Roadway $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Middle Grove Dr NE North of Heathwood St NE Complete final connection
Modernization 
Roadway $750,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Elma Av NE Railroad Complete connection across old railroad bed
Modernization 
Roadway $250,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Act III Access Road
Lancaster Rd SE to 
Serline Way SE Extension of road to East

Modernization 
Roadway $750,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Meadowlawn Dr SE Vicinity of Macleay Rd SE Complete final connection
Modernization 
Roadway $750,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Five new traffic signals Various locations Install new signals at new locations
Capacity 
Intersection $1,750,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Signal upgrades Various locations Replace existing signals
Modernization 
Intersection $1,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Signal Interconnect Various locations
Install Fiberoptic cable and Interconnect of 
signals

Modernization 
Roadway $1,500,000 2007 County Added for Budget

ADA Signal upgrades Various locations Upgrade existing signals to comply with ADA
Modernization 
Intersection $500,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Sidewalks Various locations
Complete sidewalk segments not associated 
with urban upgrades

Bike/ 
Pedestrian $2,000,000 2007 County Added for Budget

Drainage Issues Various locations See Bob Pankratz for Projects Drainage $4,225,000 2007 County Added for Budget
Total Project Cost $126,931,000

Inflated Cost Using 5%/yr 

*Projects totalling $19,130,000 are included in the RTSP and are not included in total project costs for Salem

Karen's Wild Guess for funding option work session



Mt Angel

Project Location Project Description Project Type
Cost 
(County)

Cost    
(City)

Estimate 
Year JurisdictioNotes

W. Marquam Bike 
and ped 
improvements

W. Marquam Street, N Main 
to Railroad Ave

Bike and pedestrian 
improvements Bike and Ped $30,000 2003 County

W. Marquam Bike 
and ped 
improvements

W. Marquam Street, Railroad 
Ave to City Limits

Bike and pedestrian 
improvements Bike and Ped $90,000 2003 County

Realignment of Hwy 
214/Marquam St

Highway 214/Marquam St 
Intersection Realignment ODOT

Total County Projects $120,000 2003 County

Inflated Cost Using 5%/yr $150,000
From Safe Routes to School Project

E Marquam St
Mt Angel Middle and JFK 
High School frontage

Evaluate crosswalk 
needs Bike and Ped $5,000 2010 MC SRTS

E Marquam St
Main St. to 1020 E Marquam 
St Sidewalks north side Bike and Ped $300,000 2010 MC SRTS

E Marquam St
Main St. to 1020 E Marquam 
St Bike lanes both sides Bike and Ped $100,000 2010 MC SRTS

SR 214/N Main St Marquam St SS20 Flashers Bike and Ped $30,000 2010 ODOT SRTS

E Marquam St
Mt Angel Middle and JFK 
High School frontage SS20 Flashers Bike and Ped $30,000 $30,000 2010 MC SRTS

W Marquam St Railroad tracks to N Main St

Sidewalk segments 
and bike lanes both 
sides Bike and Ped 2010 Mt Angel SRTS

SR 214/N Main St Marquam St to Johns St Sidewalks west side Bike and Ped $75,000 2010 ODOT SRTS

SR 214/N Main St
North city limits to south city 
limits Bike lanes both sides Bike and Ped $100,000 2010 ODOT SRTS

E Marquam St
Railroad tracks to west city 
limits

Sidewalk segments 
and bike lanes both 
sides Bike and Ped Low priority 2010 MC SRTS

SR 214 Church St to Garfield St Sidewalks east side Bike and Ped $125,000 2010 ODOT SRTS

E Marquam St
Alder St to 1075 E Marquam 
St Sidewalks south side Bike and Ped Low priority 2010 MC SRTS

SR 214/N Main St Industrial Way to 830 N Main Sidewalks west side Bike and Ped $250,000 2010 ODOT SRTS

SR 214/N Main St
North city limits to 765 N 
Main Sidewalks east side Bike and Ped $200,000 2010 ODOT SRTS

SR 214 Church St to south city limits Sidewalks west side Bike and Ped $650,000 2010 ODOT SRTS

$435,000 $1,460,000



Mill City

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost Cost (City) Estimate YeaJurisdictio



Mill City

Notes



Project List Keizer

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost Cost (City) Estimate YeaJurisdictio

Keizer has no projects on County Roads.  See list for all projects proposed in 2009 TSP

Total of Financially unconstrained Projects -- $24,215,000



Project List Keizer

Notes



Jefferson

Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost Estimate Year Jurisdiction

Jefferson 
Hwy/North Street 
Improvements

Jefferson Highway & 
North Street intersection

Signalization and 
addition of 
northbound and 
westbound right turn 
lanes Signal $275,000 2001 ODOT

Sidewalk 
reconstruction Various Reconstruction Sidewalk $56,500 2001 City
New Sidewalks Various Construct Sidewalks Sidewalk $266,600 2001 City

New Sidewalks
Main St from Jefferson 
Hwy to southeast UGB Construct Sidewalks Sidewalk $440,000 2001 County

New Sidewalks

North Ave from Jefferson 
Highway to Jefferson-
Marion Rd Construct Sidewalks Sidewalk $90,000 2001 County

Total County Projects $530,000 2001 County

Inflated Cost Using 5%/yr $710,000 2007



Project Location Project Description Project Type Cost Cost (City) Estimate YeaJurisdictio



Notes



URBAN PROJECT LIST Hubbard

Project Location Project Description Project Type
Cost 
(County)

Cost (City 
ODOT)

Estimate 
Year Jurisdiction Notes

From Hubbard TSP
Roadway 
Improvement 
Projects OR 99E Total of projects Roadway $3,345,000 2011 City/ODOT

From 
TSP

Bicycle 
Improvements OR 99E Bike lanes BP $162,000 2011 City/ODOT TSP
Pedestrian 
Improvements See List Not on County Roads BP $2,070,000 2011 City/ODOT TSP

J Street UGB to UGB Sidewalks BP $170,000 $170,000 2011 County/City

Assumed 
half cost 
is City

TOTAL $170,000 $5,747,000



URBAN PROJECT LIST Gervais

Project Location Project Description
Project    
Type

Cost 
(County) Cost (City)

Estimate 
Year Jurisdiction Notes

Sidewalk improvements First, Ivy BP $505,000 $505,000 2010 Both* 2010 Bike Ped Application

3rd St NE Douglas Av to Ivy Av
Sidewalks east side 
and bike lanes both BP $350,000 2010 County SRTS

Douglas Av NE
West city limits to east city 
limits

Convert shoulders to 
bike lanes BP $50,000 2010 County SRTS

Douglas Av NE 3rd St to 7th St
Sidewalks and bike 
lanes both sides BP $250,000 2010 County SRTS

Douglas Av NE Sacred Heart School frontage SS20 Flashers BP $30,000 2010 County SRTS

Checkerboard St NE Gervais Middle School SS20 Flashers BP $30,000 2010 County SRTS

Douglas Av NE
Gervais Middle School 
frontage SS20 Flashers BP $30,000 2010 County SRTS

3rd St NE/Checkerboard 
Rd NE

Douglas Av NE to south city 
limits

Sidewalks and bike 
lanes both sides BP

Not  
available 2010 County SRTS

Douglas Av NE West city limits to 7th St 
Sidewalks and bike 
lanes both sides BP

Not 
available 2010 County SRTS

Ivy Av NE West city limits to 3rd St 
Sidewalks and bike 
lanes both sides BP

Not 
available 2010 County SRTS

Douglas Av NE School frontage to OR 99E
Sidewalks and bike 
lanes both sides BP

Not 
available 2010 County SRTS

TOTAL $1,245,000
* Cost per jurisdiction not determined



Gates

Locatio
n

Project 
Descripti Project Type

Cost 
(County)

Cost 
(City Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes



Donald

Location
Project 
Description Project Type

Cost 
(County)

Cost (City/ 
ODOT) Estimate Year

Construct Bicycle lanes 
and sidewalks on 
Butteville Road

Butteville Road 
near Main Street 
within city limits

Construct Bicycle 
lanes and sidewalks 
on Butteville Road Bike/Ped $300,000 2007

Total Projects $300,000



Donald

Jurisdiction Notes

County, City



Project List Detroit

Locatio
n

Project 
Descripti Project Type

Cost 
(County)

Cost 
(City Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes

No Projects on County Roads.  See list for all projects proposed in Detroit from 2009 TSP

Priority Alternative Projects total $2,885,000

*



Project List Aurora

Location Project Description Project Type
Cost 
(County)

Cost (City/ 
ODOT)

Estimate 
Year Jurisdiction Notes

Short Term

OR 99E Main to Bob's
Add sidewalks, bike lanes, 
parking

Urban 
Upgrade  $    400,000 2009 TSP ODOT

Ehlen/Airport Int Add SB LTL and WB RTL
Capacity/ 
Safety  $   150,000 2009 TSP County

Ehlen Rd: Airport to 
OR 99E

Phase 1              Multi-use 
path BP  $   116,000 2009 TSP County

Airport Rd: City limits 
to Ehlen Rd

Phase 1 Construct 
protected shoulders BP  $   292,000 2009 TSP County

Airport Rd and Kasel 
Ct/Albers Way Covered bus stop Transit  $       6,000 2009 TSP County

OR 99E/Ottaway
Turn lanes and pedestrian 
improvements Safety/BP  $    311,000 2009 TSP ODOT

Ottaway/Liberty Improve sight distance Safety  $      46,000 2009 TSP City
OR 99E at Ottaway 
and Liberty Bus Stop enhancements Transit  $      13,000 2009 TSP City
Main St: Bob's to 
Ottaway Sidewalks and Sharrows BP  $    425,000 2009 TSP City
Medium Term
Airport Rd: City limits 
to Ehlen Rd

Phase 2: Improve to arterial 
standards

Urban 
Upgrade  $   425,000 2009 TSP County

 half 
developer

Ottaway: OR99E to 
Liberty Complete sidewalks BP  $    263,000 2009 TSP City
Liberty St Traffic Calming Safety  $    137,000 2009 TSP City
Long Term
Ehlen Rd: Airport to 
OR 99E

Phase 2: Improve to 
principal arterial standard

Urban 
Upgrade  $   426,000 2009 TSP

half 
developer

OR 99E/Liberty

Add 2nd EB LTL and 
receiving lane, channelize 
SB RTL

Capacity/ 
Safety  $    611,000 2009 TSP ODOT

OR 99E/Bob's Add SB LTL  
Capacity/ 
Safety  $    142,000 2009 TSP ODOT

OR 99E: Bob's to 
Ottaway Bike lanes and sidewalks BP  $    856,000 2009 TSP ODOT



Project List Aurora

Development 
Dependent

Ehlen/Airport Int Install signal and EB LTL
Capacity/ 
Safety  $   379,000 2009 TSP County

Ehlen Rd: Airport to 
OR 99E

Phase 2: Improve to 
principal arterial standard  $   426,000 2009 TSP County

half 
developer

Airport Rd: City limits 
to Ehlen Rd

Phase 2: Improve to minor 
arterial standard

Urban 
Upgrade  $   511,000 2009 TSP County

half 
developer

OR99E/Ottaway Int Install signal
Capacity/ 
Safety  $    326,000 2009 TSP ODOT

Ehlen Rd: UGB to 
Airport Rd

Improve to principal arterial 
standard

Urban 
Upgrade  $   899,000 2009 TSP County

OR99E: Ottaway to 
south UGB

Add bike lanes and 
sidewalks

Urban 
Upgrade  $ 1,322,000 2009 TSP ODOT

New Collector Roads Various locations New 2009 TSP City

Total  $3,630,000  $ 4,852,000 



AumsvilleProject Location Project Description Project Type Cost (County) Cost (City) Estimate Year Jurisdiction Notes
Completed

3rd/Main 3rd St and Main St Pedestrian crossing w/ramps Ped $18,000 2010 TSP County
Completed 
2011

Short Term
Pedestrian Path Del Mar to 11th Multi-use Path BP $30,000 2010 TSP Aumsville
Pedestrian Path Carmel to Windemere Multi-use Path BP $15,000 2010 TSP Aumsville

1st St Willamette to Gordon

Multi-use Path on east side of 1st 
St, east of ditch, using church 
ROW BP $35,000 2010 TSP County

1st/Willamette 1st St/Willamette Int SB LTL as interim
Capacity/ 
Safety $273,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 
or RR

11th St
Approaching Olney St 
sb School warning flashers BP $25,000 2010 TSP County

UGB Buildout 2010 TSP

OR22 @ Shaw 
Hwy EB Ramps

Install signal, add SB LTL, dual 
WB LTL, widen 1st St 600' south 
for 2 thru lanes each direction

Capacity/ 
Safety $1,600,000 2010 TSP County/ODOT

Does not 
include ROW 

1st/Del Mar 1st St/Del Mar int

Install signal, widen to add 2nd 
NB and SB thru lanes, LTL for all, 
WB RTL, improve RR Xing, gates 
and interconnect

Capacity/ 
Safety

$3,500,000    
Partial 

developer 
construction 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

East Del Mar 
Extension 1st St to Bishop Construct new 3-lane urban street New

Developer 
Constructed 2010 TSP Aumsville

Does not 
include ROW 

1st/Willamette 1st St/Willamette Int

Install SB LTL, widen to two-lanes 
each direction, bikel anes and 
sidewalks Install RR crossing 
gates, relocate local St on west 
side

Urban 
Upgrade 
Capacity 
Safety $2,300,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

1st/Main 1st/Main int
Signalize, sidewalks, bike lanes 
add RR gates interconnect

Urban 
Upgrade 
Capacity 
Safety $1,800,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

8th/Main 8th/Main int
Widen SW corner radius for large 
vehicles Safety $24,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

11th/Olney 11th/Olney int Signalize 
Capacity/ 
Safety $650,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Willamette
Eastern Terminous to 
Puma Complete street connection New

Developer 
Constructed 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

14th St Olney to Cleveland
Construct urban street with bike 
lanes and sidewalks New

Developer 
Constructed 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Del Mar Dr 14th to 11th
Construct urban street with bike 
lanes and sidewalks New

Developer 
Constructed 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Cleveland St 14th to 11th
Construct urban street with bike 
lanes and sidewalks New

Developer 
Constructed 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 



Aumsville
Main/Mill Creek Park entrance to 11th Install bike lanes BP $117,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Main St 11th to 3rd 
Complete sidewalk gaps on south 
side of street BP $480,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Main/Mill Creek 1st to Bishop

Complete sidewalk gap, add bike 
lanes on north side and shoulder 
on south side BP $420,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Bishop Rd
Mill Creek Rd to future 
park Multi-use path BP $163,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

11th St Olney to Main Bike lanes BP $408,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

11th St South of Olney Complete sidewalk on west side BP $198,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

11th St Main St to Hazel St Complete sidewalks BP $289,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

Del Mar Dr 10th to 11th Multi-use path connection BP $40,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

Cleveland St 11th to 1st Complete sidewalks BP $240,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

5th St Cleveland to Main Complete sidewalks BP $90,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

Willamette
Eastern Terminous to 
Puma Multi-use path connection BP $40,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Carmel to 
Windemere Multi-use path connection BP $30,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

1st to York Multi-use path connection BP $30,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

Mill Creek Trail 11th to 1st Investigate feasilbility of trail BP NA 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

Plus UGB Exp
OR22 @ Shaw 
Hwy WB ramps Add NB LTL

Capacity/ 
Safety $300,000 2010 TSP County/ODOT

Does not 
include ROW 

OR22 @ Shaw 
Hwy EB ramps Signalize, widen, add lanes

Capacity/ 
Safety

$3,400,000 
partial 
developer 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

1st/Cleveland 1st/Cleveland int Signalize, add NB LTL
Capacity/ 
Safety $590,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

1st/Church 1st/Church int Restrict to right-in, right-out Safety $12,000 2010 TSP County
Does not 
include ROW 

11th/Olney 11th/Olney Add NB and SB LTL 
Capacity/ 
Safety $120,000 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Misc new streets
Developer 
Constructed 2010 TSP County

Does not 
include ROW 

Total Projects $9,804,000 $515,000





 
                                                                                                             February 7, 2013 

Wastewater Treatment Plant Update: 
 
In the month of January: 
Operated and maintained the treatment plant to meet all standards set forth in the NPDES permit along 
with the added requirements of the Consent Decree with the Willamette River Keepers. 
Influent flow for the month of January was 1.8 million gallons. 
Effluent flow for the month of December was 2.9 million gallons. 
The removal percentage for both BOD(biochemical oxygen demand) and TSS(total suspended solids) 
averaged in the high 90’s.  
On- going grease removal from lift station #2. Replaced both contactor/mag starters in lift station #2. 
These were damaged when there was a phase loss and the pumps kept running. We are planning on 
installing phase protection on all lift stations.  
Pulled and replaced pump #2 with backup pump at lift station #2. Seal failure alarm. Pump is in the shop, 
seals are being replaced. 
Portland Engineering was on site to evaluate the control programming of the water and wastewater 
systems. They made an offer to take over as Industrial Systems replacement. 
I am seeking the council’s approval of declaring the surface aerators, and lift station compressors as 
surplus. 
Year end reports completed and sent to DEQ. 
In talks with the City of Salem, possibly receiving our waste sludge. 
General housekeeping and landscape maintenance. 
  
Otis Phillips 
Wastewater Operator 
City of Aurora 
Work Cell 503-519-6426 
Plant Phone 503-678-1035 
Phillips@ci.aurora.or.us 
 

 

mailto:Phillips@ci.aurora.or.us


ORDINANCE NUMBER 469 
 
AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR AN AMENDMENT TO THE CITY OF AURORA 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THAT CERTAIN PROPERTY OWNED BY ANTHONY 
AND GAYLE FIDANZO, WHICH IS WITHIN THE CITY'S URBAN GROWTH 
BOUNDARY AND ABUTS THE CORPORATE CITY LIMITS  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Aurora received an application for a Comprehensive Plan Map 
Amendment (File No. CPMA-12-01) to amend portions of the Comprehensive Plan Flood 
Hazard (FH) designation based upon updated Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) information; and 
 
WHEREAS, the applicant submitted data supporting revisions to the most current 
floodplain data based upon a Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA) from FEMA; and 
 
WHEREAS, the LOMA provides a revised 100-year floodplain designation for the subject 
property;  
 
WHEREAS, the Aurora Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed 
Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment on November 6, 2012, and the City Council held a 
public hearing on the proposed Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment on December 11, 
2012 to consider the application; 
 
WHEREAS, the respective Staff Reports, Final Findings and Order and the public hearing 
minutes from both meetings, which include the findings supporting these proposals are on 
file with the City and hereby incorporated by this reference; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF AURORA ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  The City hereby adopts Exhibit A (LOMA, legal description, and map) attached 
hereto and incorporated by this reference, as the official boundary amendment for the 
Comprehensive Plan Map related to the subject property; 
 
Section 2.  Adoption of Plan Update. Based on the findings of the staff reports; and the 
testimony received at the public hearings on November 6, 2012 and December 11, 2012; and 
 
Section 3. The City of Aurora Comprehensive Plan Map and all exhibits attached hereto are 
incorporated herein and shall be known as the "Aurora Comprehensive Plan Map 2013".  
 
Section 4. Effective Plan. This Ordinance being the final decision on the referenced 
application and shall be in full force and effect upon the thirtieth day after its passage by 
the Council and approval by the Mayor. 

Ordinance Number______         Page 1 of 2 
Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment related to CPMA-12-0 
 

 
 



Section 5. The "City of Aurora Comprehensive  Update" as amended by copy of this 
Ordinance shall be filed with the Marion County Surveyor and Assessor. 
 

INTRODUCED by the Aurora City Council for a first reading by title only and for posting 

on the regularly scheduled January 8, 2013 City Council meeting at Aurora City Council 

Chambers. 

 

PASSED and adopted by the City Council of the City of Aurora after its second reading by 

title only on this 12th day of February 2013, by the following votes:  

   

AYES: __________  NAYS: __________ 

Approved by the Mayor on this 12th day of February, 2013. 

 

 

________________________________________ 
Greg Taylor, Mayor 
Attest: 

 

____________________________________   
Kelly Richardson, City Recorder  

Ordinance Number______         Page 2 of 2 
Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment related to CPMA-12-0 
 

 
 













 
 EXHIBIT A 
 CITY OF AURORA SCHEDULE OF FEES/DEPOSITS  
 FOR PLANNING & ZONING APPLICATIONS  
 
 The following estimated user fees are hereby imposed as a fee/deposit against the actual cost for processing land 
development applications and related permits.  The "user fee" philosophy underlying these charges is designed to eliminate the amount 
of general fund monies used to process land development applications and permits, by charging the entire cost of the City providing 
that service directly to the person utilizing or receiving the benefit of the service.  In this way, existing property tax revenues are not 
used to subsidize the processing of new land development applications. 
 Where the term "actual costs" is used, these costs include, but are not limited to, services rendered by the city planning 
consultant, city engineer consultant and city attorney, as well as all City administrative costs for communicating and meeting with the 
applicant/property owner and others, public notices, agency referral notices, staff reports, notices of decision, development 
agreements, correspondence, postage, photocopying, supplies, financial accounting and city clerical work. 
 If the actual costs exceed the deposit, the City reserves the right to request an additional deposit from the 
applicant/owner and the City will send an invoice for the additional charges to the applicant.  The City shall not issue final approvals 
for land development and/or issue building permits, until all land development and other fees, including any additional charges are 
paid.  If the applicant chooses to withdraw the application before preliminary approval has been issued by the City, then any unused 
deposit fees shall be refunded to the applicant upon the City’s receipt of the applicant’s written withdrawal and request for refund. 
 
NO APPLICATION SHALL BE REVIEWED OR ACCEPTED FOR PROCESSING TO DETERMINE ITS 
COMPLETENESS UNTIL ALL FEES/DEPOSITS ARE PAID.  Please note that additional land development and building permit 
fees/deposits may be required by the City, Aurora Rural Fire District, Marion County or State of Oregon. 
 This schedule of fees/deposits is effective June 17, 2004 pursuant to City Resolution No. 462, and is applicable to the 
following land development applications and related permits.  The costs for application processing shall be based on the actual costs to 
the City of such processing and shall be based on the following hourly rates: 
 
 
City Planning Consultant ....................................................... $85.00/hr. 
 City Planner/Paralegal ..................................... $65.00/hr. 
 City Engineering  ............................................ $80.00/hr. 
 Consultant Clerical .......................................... $35.00/hr. 

 City Public Works  ........................................... $40.00/hr. 
 City Recorder ................................................... $30.00/hr. 
 City Clerk ........................................................ $30.00/hr. 
 City Attorney  ................................................ $130.00/hr. 

 
PLEASE NOTE: The following fees/deposits marked with an asterisk (*) require that public hearing notices be published in the 
Canby Herald, which additional cost of publication shall be charged to the applicant. 
 
FEE DESCRIPTION 
 
1. PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCE .........................................................................   Actual Costs $600.00 deposit  
  
2. QUASI-JUDICIAL MAP AND TEXT AMENDMENTS 
 
  a. Comprehensive Plan Amendment ...........................................................   Actual Costs-$3,000.00 deposit* 
  b. Zoning & Development Ordinance Amendment ....................................   Actual Costs-$3,000.00 deposit* 
 
3. CITY ANNEXATIONS .......................................................................................................   Actual Costs-$1,500.00* 
 
4. SITE DEVELOPMENT REVIEW 
  a. Residential Zones (R-1, R-2) 
        1) Manufactured Home Parks .............................................................   Actual Costs-$3,000.00 deposit* 
 
   2) Other development other than single family 
    a) Project Value -0- to $49,999 .......................................................   Actual Costs-$500.00 deposit  
    b) Project Value $50,000 to $99,999............................................   Actual Costs-$1,000.00 deposit  
    c) Project Value $100,000 to $499,999........................................   Actual Costs-$1,500.00 deposit  
    d) Project Value $500,000 and over .............................................   Actual Costs-$2,000.00 deposit  
 
       b. Commercial Zone (C) and Industrial Zone (I) 
   1) Project Value -0- to $49,999 ...............................................................   Actual Costs-$500.00 deposit  
   2) Project Value $50,000 to $99,999 ....................................................   Actual Costs-$1,000.00 deposit  
    a) Project Value $100,000 to $499,999........................................   Actual Costs-$1,500.00 deposit  
    b) Project Value $500,000 and over .............................................   Actual Costs-$2,000.00 deposit  

PAGE 1 - RESOLUTION NO. 464 - Exhibit "A" - SCHEDULE OF FEES/DEPOSITS 



 
 
        
5. LAND DIVISIONS 
 
  a. Subdivisions - Tentative and Final Plats ..............................   Actual Costs-$3,000.00+$50.00/lot deposit* 
  b. Partitions-Tentative & Final Map Review ..............................................   Actual Costs-$1,000.00 deposit* 
 
6. CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS 
 
  a. All Zones    Actual Costs- .................................................................................................. $800.00 deposit* 
  b. Minor Alterations of Conditional Use Permits ............................................   Actual Costs-$400.00 deposit   
  c. Home Occupations ......................................................................................   Actual Costs-$ 250.00 deposit   
    ($75.00 deposit for Type I home occupations that are not referred to consultants) 
 
7. VARIANCES 
 
  a. Minor Variance from dimensional and setback standards, etc. .................... Actual Costs-$300.00 deposit* 
          b. Major Variance from public facilities standards .....................................   Actual Costs-$1,000.00 deposit* 
 
8. HISTORIC OVERLAY DISTRICT PERMITS 
  a. Certificate of Appropriateness (New Construction/Major Renovations) ...   Actual Costs-$350.00 deposit* 
  b. Certificate of Appropriateness (all others) ........................................   Actual Costs- See HRB fee schedule 
  c. Demolition Permit ......................................................................................   Actual Costs-$350.00 deposit* 
 
9. NON-CONFORMING USE OR STRUCTURE (also may require Site Design Review Approval) 
  a. Reinstatement, Enlargement or Alteration of Use .....................................   Actual Costs-$350.00 deposit* 
  b. Alteration or Expansion of Structure 
   1) Residential Zone (R-1 and R-2) ........................................................   Actual Costs-$350.00 deposit* 
   2) Commercial Zone (C) ........................................................................   Actual Costs-$500.00 deposit* 
   3) Industrial Zone (I) .............................................................................   Actual Costs-$500.00 deposit* 
 
10. TEMPORARY USES OR STRUCTURES 
  a. Temporary Uses/Structures (Planning Director approval) ...........................   Actual Costs $100.00 deposit 
  b.  Temporary Uses/Structures (Planning Commission approval) ...................   Actual Costs $250.00 deposit 
  
11. LOT LINE ADJUSTMENTS .......................................................................................   Actual Costs-$400.00 deposit  
 
12. APPEALS 
  a. From Administrative Decision or HRB Decision 
   1) Hearing Required ..............................................................................   Actual Costs-$800.00 deposit* 
   2) No Hearing Required...........................................................................   Actual Costs-$600.00 deposit  
  b. From Planning Commission Decision .......................................................   Actual Costs-$800.00 deposit* 
 
13. TRANSCRIPTS FROM APPEAL HEARINGS ................................................................. By Ordinance, actual costs 
 
14. STREET VACATION AND/OR DEDICATION ........................................................   Actual Costs-$500.00 deposit 
 
15. INFRASTRUCTURE AND RIGHT-OF-WAY PERMITS 
    a. Right-of-way Permit Review .....................................   Actual Costs$200.00 deposit + bond and insurance 

  b.  Infrastructure Permits (Sewer, Water, Street and Storm improvements, includes City Engineer and Public   
   works review…… ....................................................... Actual Costs $500.00 deposit + bond and insurance 
  c. Access Permit Application …………………………………………………….....Actual costs $250.00 deposit 

 
16. ACCESSORY DWELLINGS 

a. Administrative Decision  .............................................................................   Actual Costs $400.00 deposit 
b. As Limited Land Use Decision  ...................................................................   Actual Costs $500.00 deposit 
c. As Quasi-judicial Decisions with HRB approval  ........................................   Actual Costs $800.00 deposit 

 
17. SIGN PERMITS 
  a. Permanent Signs in All Zones .......................................................................................................... . $60.00 
  b. Certificate of Appropriateness for Signs in Historic District  ............................................................ $25.00  

PAGE 2 - RESOLUTION NO. 462 - Exhibit "A" - SCHEDULE OF FEES/DEPOSITS 



 
18. FENCE PERMITS 
  a. Fence Permit (over 6 feet tall) ………………………………………………………………………$30.00 
  b. Replacement Fence Permit (over 6 feet tall)………………………………………………………..$20.00 
  c. Fence Permit Variance (over 6 feet tall)…………………………………………………………….$50.00 
 
19. ZONING & DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCES INTERPRETATION………………..Actual Costs-$500.00 deposit 
 
20. ALL APPLICABLE CURRENT SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHARGES AS ADOPTED BY ORDINANCE OR 

RESOLUTION ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED HEREIN BY THIS REFERENCE. A SCHEDULE OF ALL 
BUILDING PERMIT AND OTHER APPLICABLE DEVELOPMENT FEES CAN BE OBTAINED BY 
CONTACTING THE CITY RECORDER AT CITY HALL AT 503-678-1283 

   
21.  Proposed addition for interpretation of zoning, uses of land, ect : proposed from Planning is first 15 minutes of phone 
conversation city paid, anything over that and research needed fill out application and pay 125.00 anything over 2 hours applicant 
noticed of possible billing.  

PAGE 3 - RESOLUTION NO. 464 - Exhibit "A" - SCHEDULE OF FEES/DEPOSITS 



 
18. FENCE PERMITS 
 
  a. Fence Permit ...................................................................................................................................    $25.00  
  b. Replacement Fence Permit ...........................................................................................................      $15.00  
  c. Fence Permit Variance ....................................................................................................................    $50.00  
 
19. ZONING & DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION ..........................   Actual Costs-$400.00 deposit 
 
20. ALL APPLICABLE CURRENT SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHARGES AS ADOPTED BY ORDINANCE OR 

RESOLUTION ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED HEREIN BY THIS REFERENCE.  A SCHEDULE OF ALL 
BUILDING PERMIT AND OTHER APPLICABLE DEVELOPMENT FEES CAN BE OBTAINED BY 
CONTACTING THE CITY RECORDER AT CITY HALL AT 503-678-1283. 

 
   

 
 
C:\WorkingDocuments\CLIENTS\AURORA\Forms\Fee Schedules\FeeScheduleExhA2002.wpd 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      

PAGE 4 - RESOLUTION NO. 462 - Exhibit "A" - SCHEDULE OF FEES/DEPOSITS 



Title 17 
 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
17.04 General Provisions 
 17.04.010 Short Title. 
 17.04.020 Purpose. 
 17.04.030 Adoption of Guidelines. 
 17.04.040 Adoption of Inventory. 
 17.04.050 Applicability. 
 17.04.060 Pre-existing Approvals. 
 17.04.070 Interpretation. 
 17.04.080 Fees. 
 17.04.090 Enforcement. 
 
17.17.0808 Definitions 
 17.08.010 Meaning of Words Generally. 
 17.08.020 Meaning of Common Words. 
 17.08.030 Meaning of Specific Words and Terms. 
 
17.12 Use Regulations 
 17.12.010 Permitted Uses in the Historic Residential Overlay 
 17.12.020 Conditional Uses in the Historic Residential Overlay 
 17.12.030 Permitted Uses in the Historic Commercial Overlay 
 17.12.040 Conditional Uses in the Historic Commercial Overlay 
 
17.17.1612 Historic Review BoardHistoric Review Board 
 17.16.010 Authority. 
 17.16.020 Responsibilities. 
 17.16.030 Membership. 
 17.16.040 Meetings. 
 
17.17.2016 Application Procedures 
 17.20.010 Purpose. 
 17.20.020 Consolidation of Proceedings. 
 17.20.030 Application Process. 
 17.20.040 Time Period for Decision Making Chapters:. 
  Procedures 
 17.20.050 Approval Authority Responsibilities. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.88"

394 
 



 17.20.060 Notice of Pending Decision. 
 17.20.070 Decision Procedure. 
 17.20.080 Standards for the Decision. 
 17.20.090 Notice of Decision. 
 17.20.100 Record of Proceeding. 
 17.20.110 Appeal. 
 17.20.120 Modification and Revocation of Approvals. 
 17.20.130 Re-submittal of an Application Previously Denied. 
 17.20.140 Expiration and Extension of Approvals. 
 
17.217.240 Signs 
 17.24.010 General authority. 
 17.24.020 Purpose. 
 17.24.030 Sign Permits Required. 
 17.24.040 Application. 
 17.24.050 Definitions. 
 17.24.060 Exempt Signs. 
 17.24.070 General Sign Provisions. 
 17.24.080 Prohibited Signs. 
 17.24.090 Historic Residential Overlay. 
 17.24.100 Historic Commercial (HC) Overlay. 
 17.24.110 Nonconforming Signs. 
 17.24.120 Termination of Signs by Abandonment. 
 17.24.130 Relief From Sign Standards. 
 17.24.140 List of Approved Font Types. 
 
17.217.284 Accessory Dwelling Units and Structures 
 17.28.010 Purpose. 
 17.28.020 Applicability and Administration. 
 17.28.030 Application Submittal Requirements. 
 17.28.040 Approval Standards. 
 
17.3228 Temporary Uses and Structures 
 17.2932.010 Purpose. 
 17.32.020 Application Submittal Requirements. 
 17.32.030 Temporary Uses. 
 17.32.040 Temporary Structures. 
 17.32.050 Outdoor Display. 
 
17.36 Moving of Structures  
 17.36.010  Moving Contributing Structures. 

395 
 



 17.36.020  Moving Structures into the Historic District. 
 
17.40  Design Standards 
  17.40.010 Purpose. 
 17.40.020 Fences 
 17.40.030 Awnings 
 17.40.040  Porches 
 17.40.050 Windows 
 17.40.060 Doors 
 17.40.070 Chimneys 
 17.40.080  Roofs 
 17.40.090 Foundations 
 17.40.100 Siding 
 17.40.110 Visible Facades 
 17.40.120 New Additions to Contributing Structures 
 17.40.130 New Construction in the Historic District 
 17.40.140 Height  
 17.40.150 Public Right-of-Way 
 17.40.160 Drive-in and Drive Thru Structures 
 17.40.170 Setbacks 
 17.40.180 Garage Doors 
 17.40.190 Lots and Parcels 
 
 
 
  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.88"

396 
 



 
Chapter 17.04 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Sections: 
17.04.010 Short title. 
17.04.020 Purpose. 
17.04.030 Adoption of guidelinesGuidelines. 
17.04.040 Adoption of Inventory. 
17.04.050 Applicability. 
17.04.050060 Pre-existing approvalsApprovals. 
17.04.060070 Interpretation. 
17.04.070 Fees. 
17.04.080 Fees. 
17.04.090 Enforcement. 
 
17.04.010 Short title. 
 This title shall be known as the "Historic Preservation Ordinance of the City of Aurora" and 
shall be referred to herein as "this title." (Ord. 416 § 8.10.010, 2002) 
 
17.04.020 Purpose. 
 TIt is the general purpose of this title to provide the principal means for the preservation of the 
buildings and sites and the visual character of the historic Aurora Colony. This title is designed to 
regulates the design of buildings and structures within the historic commercial and residential 
overlays defined in Title 16 of the Aurora Municipal Code. 
 This title promotes preservation and restoration of existing structures and construction of new 
structures with consideration of Aurora’s unique heritage and recognizes the role of historic 
preservation in protecting and enhancing real property values, and safeguarding and enhancing 
the livability and appearance of the city. (Ord. ____416 § 8.10.020, 2002) 
 
17.04.030 Adoption of guidelinesGuidelines. 
 The Aurora Design Guidelines for Historic District Properties are incorporated as Appendix A 
set out in the Appendix to this code. These guidelines areprovide a wealth of useful information 
which supports historic preservation in Aurora, and all applicants shall be instructed to review the 
guidelines upon their first contact with the basiscity. The guidelines do not include standards or 
criteria for reviewing applications under this title or other titles of the Municipal Code. (Ord. 4__ 
§_____, 20__) 
 
17.04.040 Adoption of Inventory. 

397 
 



 The Inventory [need formal name], herein referred to as “Inventory” is incorporated as Appen-
dix B to this code. The Iinventory is the primary reference for a certificate of 
appropriatenessstructures and sites within the historic district, and all applicants shall be instruct-
ed to review the Iinventory for information about their property upon their first contact with the 
city.  The Iinventory does not include standards or criteria for applications under this title or other 
titles of the Municipal Code. (Ord. 4__ §_____, 20__). (Ord. 416 § 8.10.030, 2002)  
 
 
17.04.040050 Applicability. 
 A. Except as otherwise specifically provided by this titledescribed in Subsection B immedi-
ately below, all exterior changes to a building or site within the historic commercial overlay and 
the historic residential overlay must be approved under this title. It is unlawful for any person to 
erect, demolish, remove, establish, construct, move into, externally alter, enlarge, use, or cause to 
be used, any building, structure, improvement or  (demolish or remove)use of premises located in 
the historic commercial or historic residential overlays in a manner contrary to the provisions of 
this title. 
 B. The only exterior changes not subject to the requirement for approval under this title are: 
 1. Exterior painting, reroofing and general repairs when the new materials match those al-
ready in use; and 
 2. Landscaping work including shrubbery, annual plantings and general maintenance. The not 
exceeding $2500 in cost (however the removal of trees greater than twenty-four (24) inches in 
diameter requires approval. ).  
 3.  Exterior painting with colors previously approved by the city.  
 4. Installation of black roof shingles. 
 
(Ord. 416 § 8.10.040, 2002)______________) 
 
17.04.050060 Pre-existing approvalsApprovals. 
 All development applications approved more than two years prior to the adoption of the ordi-
nance codified in this title shall be considered void, unless the historic review boardHistoric Re-
view Board determines that the conditions of approval are substantially completed. All develop-
ment applications approved less than two years prior to the adoption of said ordinance may occur 
according to such approvals. All development applications received by the city after the adoption 
of said ordinance shall be subject to review for conformance with the standards under this title or 
as otherwise provided by state law. (Ord. 416 § 8.10.060, 2002) 
 
17.04.060070 Interpretation. 
 A. An interpretation is a decision which is made under land use standards that require an 
exercise of policy or legal judgment. By definition, an interpretation does not include approving 
or denying a building permit issued under clear and objective land use standards. 

Comment [s1]: Check to make sure that the appen-
dix B can be updated by resolution only by HRB and 
would not require Council action every time it needs to 
be updated 

398 
 



 B. Each development and use application and other procedure initiated under this title shall be 
consistent with the adopted comprehensive plan of the city as implemented by this title and appli-
cable state and federal laws and regulations. All provisions of this title shall be construed in con-
formity with the adopted comprehensive plan. 
 C. Where the conditions imposed by any provision of this title are less restrictive than compa-
rable conditions imposed by any other provision of this title or of any other ordinance, or resolu-
tion, the most restrictive or that imposing the higher standard shall govern. 
 D. The Hhistoric Rreview Bboard shall have the initial authority and responsibility to inter-
pret all terms, provisions and requirements of this title. All requests for interpretations shall be in 
writing and on forms provided by the city recorderCity Recorder. Upon receipt of such a request, 
the historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall schedule the interpretation as a considera-
tion item at the next regularly scheduled meeting unless a special meeting is requested pursuant to 
Section 17.1217.16.040. 
 If the person making the request disagrees with the historic review boardHistoric Review 
Board’s interpretation, they may appeal it to the city councilCity Council. The councilCouncil 
will hear the appeal as a consideration item at the next month’s regularly scheduled meeting. The 
decision of the councilCouncil shall be conclusive upon the parties. 
 E. The city recorderCity Recorder shall keep a written record of all interpretations and shall 
make the record available for review on written request. 
 F. The city councilCity Council may exempt special events from the provisions of this title. A 
special event is an activity lasting a total of seven contiguous calendar days or less in a one-year 
period and approved by the city councilCity Council. (Ord. 416 § 8.10.070, 2002) 
 
17.04.070080 Fees. 
 To defray expenses incurred in connection with the processing of applications, the city may 
charge fees as established by resolution of the councilCouncil. The filing of an application shall 
not be considered complete, nor shall action be taken to process it until the required fee has been 
paid. (Ord. 416 § 8.10.080, 2002) 
 
 
 
17.04.080090 Enforcement. 
 Enforcement of this title shall be as codified in Chapter 16.82 of the Aurora Municipal Code. 
(Ord. 416 § 8.10.090, 2002) 
 
 

Comment [r2]: Does this meet the land use 
standards these are subject to? Is notice on the 
agenda sufficient? For example. 16.02.050E regard-
ing quasi judicial and legislative processing? 

399 
 



Chapter 17.0817.08 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Sections: 
17.0817.08.010 Meaning of words generally. 
17.0817.08.020 Meaning of common words. 
17.0817.08.030 Meaning of specific words and terms. 
 
17.0817.08.010 Meaning of words generally. 
 All of the terms used in this title have their commonly accepted, dictionary meaning unless 
they are specifically defined in this chapter or definition appears in the Oregon Revised Statute, 
or the context in which they are used clearly indicates to the contrary. (Ord. 416 § 8.40.010, 
2002) 
 
17.0817.08.020 Meaning of common words. 
 A. All words used in the present tense include the future tense. 
 B. All words used in the plural include the singular, and all words used in the singular include 
the plural unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary. 
 C. All words used in the masculine gender include the feminine gender. 
 D. The word "building" includes the word "structure." 
 E. The phrase "used for" includes the phrases "arranged for," "designed for," "intended for," 
"maintained for" and "occupied for." 
 F. The words "land" and "property" are used interchangeably unless the context clearly indi-
cates to the contrary. 
 G. The term "this title" shall be deemed to include the text, the accompanying Aurora Design 
Guidelines for Historic District Properties and all amendments made hereafter to either. 
 GH. The word "shall" is mandatory and the word "may" is permissive. 
 I. Where the word "must" or "shall" is used in the Aurora Design Guidelines for Historic 
District Properties (Appendix A), the guideline in question must be met if it is applicable to the 
application in order for the historic review board to issue a certificate of approval. 
 J. Where the word "should" is used in the Aurora Design Guidelines for Historic District 
Properties (Appendix A), the guideline is strongly recommended. 
 K. Where the word "encouraged" is used in the Aurora Design Guidelines for Historic District 
Properties (Appendix A), the applicant is urged to consider complying with the guideline, but is 
not required to do so to receive approval. (Ord. 419 § 20D, 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.40.020, 2002) 
 
17.0817.08.030 Meaning of specific words and terms. 
 The meaning of all specific words and terms, except as specifically defined in this title, shall 
be as defined in Aurora Municipal Code Title 16. 

400 
 



 "Adaptive use" means the process of converting a building to a new use that is different from 
that which its design reflects. For example, converting a residential structure to offices is adaptive 
use. Good adaptive use projects retain the historic character while accommodating the new func-
tions. 
 "Booth" means an open-air structure typically consisting of partial walls, counter and roof and 
which is portable, either as a whole or in parts. 
 "Canopy" means a protective exterior cover consisting of a roof, typically made of cloth, plas-
tic or other materials that may be self-supported or using the support of another structure. Cano-
pies may contain partial walls. 
 “Colony structure” means a structure built during the Aurora Colony period, from 1856 to 
____. 
 “Contributing structure” means a structure built before 1921. 
 
“Finish material” includesunder 16 is siding, trim, masonry and color of the exterior walls. 
 
 “Masonry” means natural stone, imitation stone, brick, concrete masonry , units blocks, and 
similar materials. 
 “Noncontributing structure” means a structure built in 1921921 or later.  
 "Preservation" means the maintenance and repair of existing historic materials, and the con-
scious retention of the property’s form as it has evolved over time. This method of treatment 
focuses on maintenance and repair of historic materials and features, rather than extensive re-
placement and new construction. New exterior additions are not part of this treatment. Sensitive 
upgrading of mechanical, electrical, and plumbing systems and other code-required work to make 
a property function is appropriate. 
 "Rehabilitation" means there is a need to alter or add to an historic property to meet continuing 
or changing uses while retaining the property’s historical, cultural, or architectural values. This 
method of treatment is used when repair and replacement of deteriorated features is necessary; 
when alterations and additions to the property are planned for a new or continued use; when de-
piction of a particular period is not appropriate. 
 "Remodeling" means to remake or to make over the design image of a building. The appear-
ance is changed by removing original detail and by adding new features that are out of character 
with the original. A "stylistic" change is often involved. A remodeling project is inappropriate on 
an historic building in Aurora, because it would involve altering its historic character. 
 "Renovation" means to improve by repair, to revive. In renovation, the usefulness and appear-
ance of the building is enhanced. The basic character and significant details are respected and 
preserved, but some sympathetic alterations may also occur. Alterations that are made are gener-
ally reversible, should future owners wish to restore the building to its original design. 
 "Restoration" means to reproduce the appearance of a building exactly as it looked at a particu-
lar moment in time; to reproduce a pure style, either interior or exterior. This process may include 
the removal of later work that deviates from the original style or the replacement of missing his-
toric features. Use a restoration approach for missing details or features of an historic building 

401 
 



when the features are determined to be particularly significant to the character of the structure and 
when the original configuration is accurately documented. 
 "Tent" means a protective exterior cover consisting of roof and walls typically made of cloth, 
plastic or other flexible material and having a supporting structure. (Ord. ___ § ____, 2012) 

Formatted: Space After:  10 pt, Line spacing: 
Multiple 1.15 li, Adjust space between Latin and
Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and
numbers, Tab stops: Not at  0.17" +  0.42" + 
0.88" +  1.04"

402 
 



Chapter 17.12 

USE REGULATIONS 
Sections: 
17.12.010 Permitted Uses in the Historic Residential Overlay 
17.12.020 Conditional Uses in the Historic Residential Overlay 
17.12.030 Permitted Uses in the Historic Commercial Overlay 
17.12.040 Conditional Uses in the Historic Commercial Overlay 
 
17.12.010 Permitted Uses in the Historic Residential Overlay 
 
In the historic residential overlay, only the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted 
outright: 
 
 A. Registered child care facility or certified group child care home defined by ORS 657A; 
 B. Home occupation (Type I) subject to Chapter 16.46; 
 C. Residential care home; 
 D. Single-family detached residential dwelling; 
 E. Public support facilities; 
 F. Accessory dwelling units in the rear or side yard subject to Chapter 16.54; 
 G. Accessory structures in the rear or side yard. (Ord. ___ § ______, 201_) 
 
17.12.020 Conditional Uses in the Historic Residential Overlay 
 
The following uses and their accessory uses may be permitted in the historic residential overlay, 
subject to other relevant sections of this title and any conditions imposed by the Planning Com-
mission: 
 
A. Church, provided that all building setbacks shall be a minimum of thirty (30) feet from any 
property line; 
B. Home occupation (Type II) subject to Chapter 16.46; 
C. Minor impact utilities; 
D. Schools limited to pre-kindergarten through eighth grade, provided that all building setbacks 
shall be a minimum of thirty (30) feet from any property line; 
E. Museum; 
F. Bed and breakfast establishments. (Ord. ___ § ______, 201_) 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

403 
 



17.12.030 Permitted Uses in the Historic Commercial Overlay 
 
In the Historic Commercial Overlay, activities shall be conducted within an enclosed structure or 
building and are subject to Chapter 16.58. Only the following uses and their accessory uses are 
permitted outright: 
 
A. Auditorium, exhibit hall, community building, club, lodge hall, fraternal organization or 
church; 
B. Bed and breakfast inn, hotel or motel; 
C. Bicycle sales or repair; 
D. Community recreation facilities; 
E. Cultural exhibits and library services; 
F. Day care facility licensed by state; 
G. Dwelling units located on the second floor of the commercial structure; 
H. Eating and drinking establishments; 
I. Financial, insurance and real estate offices; 
J. General retail and convenience sales, except adult bookstores; 
K. Medical or dental services including labs; 
L. Parking structure or lot; 
M. Professional and administrative offices; 
N. Public safety and support facilities; 
O. Public transportation passenger terminal or taxi stand; 
P. Repair services for household and personal items, excluding motorized vehicles; 
Q. Sales, grooming and veterinary offices or animal hospitals without outside pens or noise be-
yond property line; 
R. Schools; 
S. Single-family residence, provided it is an accessory use and cannot be sold separately; 
T. Studios, including art, photography, dance, and music; 
U. Vehicle fuel sales.  (Ord. ___ § ______, 201_) 
 
17.12.040 Conditional Uses in the Historic Commercial Overlay 
 
The following uses and their accessory uses may be permitted when in accordance with the re-
quirements of Chapter 16.60, subject to other relevant sections of this title and any conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission: 
 
A. Home occupations (Type II) subject to Chapter 16.46; 
B. Retail or wholesale business with not more than fifty (50) percent of the floor area used for the 
manufacturing, processing or compounding of products in a manner which is clearly incidental to 
the primary business conducted on the premises. (Ord. ___ § ______, 201_)

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Left, Tab stops:  0", Left +  1", Left +
Not at  1.04"

404 
 



Chapter 17.1217.16 
 

HISTORIC REVIEW BOARDHISTORIC REVIEW BOARD 
 
Sections: 
17.1217.16.010 Authority. 
17.1217.16.020 Responsibilities. 
17.1217.16.030 Membership. 
17.1217.16.040 Meetings. 
 
17.1217.16.010 Authority. 
 The historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall have the authority to approve or deny, 
in whole or in part, development applications and/or building permits, which include new con-
struction or exterior modifications to cultural resources throughout the city or new construction or 
exterior modifications located on properties within the historic commercial overlay and the histor-
ic residential overlay. All standards and criteria for applications and permits are included in this 
title. 
 The historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall not be authorized to limit or regulate 
where growth and land development takes place or control the interior space of a building design. 
(Ord. 416 § 8.20.010, 2002) 
 
17.1217.16.020 Responsibilities. 
 A. The historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall maintain an inventory of cultural 
resources, including those within the historic commercial overlay, the historic residential overlay 
and within the city’s urban growth boundary. 
 B. With the assistance of the State Historic Preservation Office, the historic review 
boardHistoric Review Board shall draft and recommend to the councilCouncil for adoption the 
prescriptive standards to be used by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board in reviewing 
applications for certificates of appropriateness to construct any structure, alter the exterior of any 
existing structure or any activity that visually impacts properties identified in the Aurora compre-
hensive plan as a cultural resource or located within the historic commercial overlay and the 
historic residential overlay district. 
 C. The historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall be responsible for participation in, 
promoting and conducting public informational, educational and interpretive programs pertaining 
to local resources. 
 D. The historic review boardHistoric Review Board may review and comment upon potential 
conflicts of land use, housing, redevelopment, municipal improvements, and other types of plan-
ning and programs undertaken by any agency of the city, county or state as these relate to the 
cultural resources of the community. 
 E. The historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall perform other functions as may be 
designated by the city councilCity Council. (Ord. 416 § 8.20.020, 2002) 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

405 
 



 
17.1217.16.030 Membership. 
 A. Persons who want to be considered for appointment shall submit a written letter of interest 
to the mayorMayor. The historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall consist of five unpaid 
members who are nominated by the mayorMayor and appointed by city councilCity Council. 
Members may include persons residing within or outside the boundaries of the historic commer-
cial or historic residential overlays. Three members shall own, rent or lease property in the 
boundaries of the historic commercial or historic residential overlays. 
 B. Three members shall reside within the city limits. Those members required to be residents 
of the corporate city limits must have a minimum of six months of such residency before consid-
ered eligible for appointment to the board. 
 C. As available, board members shall be appointed from the following categories: 
 1. An architect with preservation expertise; 
 2. A historian with knowledge of local history; 
 3. A professional in the field of landscape architecture, real estate, urban planning, construc-
tion, community development, archeology, law, finance, cultural geography, cultural anthropolo-
gy, or related fields with demonstrable interest, competence or knowledge of historic preserva-
tion; 
 4. A member of the Aurora Colony Historical Society; and/or 
 5. Interested persons residing within the corporate limits of the city. 
 D. No member of the historic review boardHistoric Review Board may concurrently hold 
other appointed or elected office in the city, with the exception of members of the budget com-
mittee. 
 E. All appointments to the historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall be for a three-
year term, with staggered expiration years. A vacancy shall be filled in the same manner as the 
original appointments, and the appointee shall hold office for the remainder of the unexpired 
term. A member who is absent for three consecutively scheduled meetings without having been 
excused by the board may be removed and the vacancy filled. (Ord. 416 § 8.20.030, 2002) 
 
17.1217.16.040 Meetings. 
 A. The regular meeting of the historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall be held on 
the fourth Thursday of every month. 
 B. Special meetings may be called by the chairperson of the historic review boardHistoric 
Review Board with five days notice posted on the bulletin board in front of City Hall. (Ord. 416 § 
8.20.040, 2002) 
 
 

406 
 



Chapter 17.1617.20 
 

DECISION MAKINGAPPLICATION PROCEDURES 
 

Sections: 
17.1617.20.010 Purpose. 
17.1617.20.020 Consolidation of proceedings. 
17.1617.20.030 Application process. 
17.1617.20.040 Time period for decision making. 
17.1617.20.050 Approval authority  
   responsibilities. 
17.1617.20.060 Notice of pending decision. 
17.1617.20.070 Decision procedure. 
17.1617.20.080 Standards for the decision. 
17.1617.20.090 Notice of decisionDecision. 
17.1617.20.100 Record of proceeding. 
17.1617.20.110 Appeal. 
17.1617.20.120 Modification and revocation of approvals. 
17.1617.20.130 Re-submittal of an  
   application previously  
   denied. 
17.1617.20.140 Expiration and extension of approvals. 
 
17.1617.20.010 Purpose. 
 The purpose of this chapter is to establish procedures for the consideration of applications for a 
certificate of appropriateness. (Ord. 416 § 8.3036.010, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.020 Consolidation of proceedingsApplications not Consolidated. 
 Whenever an applicant requests a certificate of appropriateness for a development that will 
also require development approvalsAn application under this title shall not be consolidated with 
applications under Title 16 or other titles of the Aurora Municipal Code, the certificate of appro-
priateness shall be reviewed separate from the approvals required under Title 16 as provided in 
this title.. [Check with Renate about this]. (Ord. 416 § 8.30.020, 2002)_________) As applicable, 
applications under Title 16 will be determined incomplete until any applicable decision has been 
made under Title 17. 
 
17.1617.20.030 Application process. 
 A. The applicant shall be the recorded owner of the property or an agent authorized in writing 
by the owner. 
 B. The application shall be made on forms provided by the city. 
 C. The application shall: 

Comment [s3]: Notice of Decision 

407 
 



 1. Include the information requested on the application form; 
 2. Address appropriate criteria in sufficient detail for review and action; and 
 3. Be accompanied by the required fee. 
 D. An application shall be deemed incomplete unless it addresses each element standard or 
criterion required to be considered under applicable provisions of this title and the application 
form, unless that requirement has been found inapplicable by the city staff. City staff shall not 
accept an incomplete application. 
 
 E.  If an application is incomplete, city staff shall n: 
 1. Notify the applicant in writing within thirty (30) days of receipt of the application of exact-
ly what information is missing; and a 
 2. Allow the applicant thirty (30) days to submit the missing information.  
 F. The application shall be deemed complete when upon: 
 1.  Receipt of the missing information; or 
 2. Upon receipt of some of the missing information and written notice from the applicant that 
no additional information will be submitted; or 
 3. Upon receipt of written notice from the applicant that none of the missing information will 
be provided. 
 is provided and at that time the one hundred twenty (120) day time period shall begin to run for 
the purposes of satisfying state law. 
 FG. On the 181st day after first being submitted, the application is void if the applicant has 
been notified of the missing information and fails to respond in accordance with 17.20.030E.
 If the applicant refuses to submit the missing information, the application shall be deemed 
incomplete on the sixty-first day after city staff first received the application and returned to the 
applicant.  
(Ord. 416 § 8.3036.030, 2002) 
 
 
17.1617.20.040 Time period for decision making. 
 The city shall take final action on an application for a certificate of appropriateness including 
the resolution of all local appeals, within one hundred twenty (120) days after the application is 
deemed complete, except: 
 A. The one hundred twenty (120) day period may be extended for a reasonable period of time 
at the request of the applicant; 
 B. The one hundred twenty (120) day period applies only to a decision wholly within the 
authority and control of the city. 
 C. If the historic review boardHistoric Review Board fails to approve, approve with modifica-
tion, or denial of an application within seventy-five (75) days after the application is determined 
to be complete, the historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall cause notice to be given and 
the matter to be placed on the City Ccouncil’s agenda. A public hearing shall be held by the 

Formatted: Superscript

408 
 



councilCouncil and the decision shall made by the City Ccouncil. No further action shall be taken 
by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board. (Ord. 416 § 8.3036.040, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.050 Approval authority  
   responsibilities. 
 A. The Hhistoric Rreview Bboard shall make a public decision in the manner prescribed by 
this chapter and shall have the authority to approve, approve with conditions, approve with modi-
fications or deny the following: 
 1. Interpretations subject to Section 17.04.060; 
 2. Signs subject to Chapter 17.2017.24;  
 3. Accessory dwelling units subject to Chapter 17.2417.28; 
 4. Applications for a certificate of appropriateness;approval under this title;  
 5. Recommendations to city councilCity Council for amending this title; 
 6. Appeals of decisions by the administrative approval authority; 
 7 7. Amendments to the Aurora Design Guidelines for Historic District Properties; 
 8.  Amendments to the Inventory [insert formal name] 
 9. Any other matter not specifically assigned to the administrative approval authority, or the 
city councilCity Council under this title.. 
  
 B. The city councilCity Council shall make a public decision in the manner prescribed by this 
chapter and shall have the authority to approve, deny or approve with conditions the following: 
 1. Appeals of decisions made by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board; 
 2. Matters referred to the City Ccouncil by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board; 
 3. Review of decisions of the historic review boardHistoric Review Board, whether on the 
City Ccouncil’s own motion or otherwise. 
 C. The planning director shall have the authority to approve, deny or approve with conditions 
the following applications: 
 1. Temporary uses pursuant to Section 17.2817.32.030.  
 2.   Paint colors. 
 3.  Landscaping projects costing less than $2500. 
 4. Roof installations or replacements using black shingles. 
 
(Ord. 419 §§ 20A, 29A32A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.050, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.060 Notice of Ppending Ddecision. 
 A. The notice requirements of this section are applicable to applications that are subject to 
Aurora Municipal Code Chapters 16.58 (Site Development Review), 16.60 (Conditional Uses) or 
16.72 (Subdivisions). 
 B. Notice required by this section shall be given in the following manner: 
 1. At least fourteen (14) days prior to the scheduled decision, notice shall be sent by mail to: 

Comment [r4]: So do we complete SDR notice 
twice if not processed concurrently or remove 
noticing all together. 

409 
 



 a. The applicant and all owners or contract purchasers of record of the property, which is the 
subject of the application; 
 b. All property owners of record or the most recent property tax assessment roll with one 
hundred (100) feet of the property; 
 c. Any person who requests, in writing; and 
 d. The appellant and all parties to an appeal. 
 2. City staff shall include a copy of the notice and a copy of the mailing labels in the adminis-
trative record. 
 3. At least fourteen (14) days prior to the pending decision, notice of a pending decision 
notice shall be posted on the bulletin board in front of City Hall. 
 4. Notice of a pending decision by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board shall 
include the following information: 
 a. A description of the subject property and a general location, which shall include tax map 
designations from the county assessor’s office; 
 b. A map showing the location of the subject property; 
 c. A description of what the application will allow the applicant to do and what the applicable 
criteria for the decision are; 
 d. State that a fourteen (14) day period for submission of written comments is provided prior 
to the decision; 
 e. State the place, date and time that the written comments are due; 
 f. State that copies of all documents or evidence relied upon by the applicant are available for 
review, the address where copies can be reviewed and that copies can be obtained at cost; 
 g. A statement that issues which may provide the basis for an appeal must be raised in writ-
ing during the comment period and comments must be sufficiently specific give the decision 
maker an opportunity to respond to the issue; 
 h. A statement that the decision does not require an exercise of policy or legal judgment, or a 
public hearing; 
 i. A statement that the applicant and any person who submits written comments during the 
fourteen (14) day period shall receive notice of the decision. 
 C. The failure of a property owner to receive notice shall not invalidate the action provided a 
good faith attempt was made to notify all persons entitled to notice. 
 D. Personal notice is deemed given when the notice is deposited with the United States Postal 
Service. 
 E. In computing the length of time that notice is given, the first date notice is given shall be 
excluded and the day of the hearing or the date on which the appeal period expires shall be in-
cluded unless the last day falls on any legal holiday or on Saturday, in which case, the last day 
shall be the next business day. 
 F. The records of the Marion County assessor’s office shall be the official records used for 
giving notice required in this title, and a person’s name and address which is not on file at the 
time the notice mailing list is initially prepared is not a person entitled to notice. (Ord. 419 § 
29A32A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.060, 2002) 

410 
 



 
17.1617.20.070 Decision procedure. 
 The historic review boardHistoric Review Board decision shall be conducted as follows: 
 A. Request the applicant present the application, explain any graphic or pictorial displays 
which are a part of the application and provide such other information as may be requested by the 
approval authority; 
 B. Read all written comments into the record; 
 C. Allow the applicant to respond to all written comments;  
 D. Because this is a limited land use decision process, there is no procedural requirement for 
the board to allow oral testimony. Oral testimony may be permitted at the discretion of the board. 
If permitted, the applicant shall be allowed to respond to all oral testimony. 
 E. Make a decision pursuant to Section 17.1617.20.080 or continue the decision to gather 
additional evidence or to consider the application further. (Ord. 416 § 8.3036.070, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.080 Standards for the decision. 
 A. The decision shall be based on proof by the applicant that the application fully complies 
with the relevant guidelines in the Aurora Design Guidelines for Historic Propertiesthis title. 
 B. The approval authority shallmay: 
 1. Adopt its own findings of fact and conclusions addressing all applicable standards and 
criteria; or and conclusions; 
  
 2. Adopt findings of fact and conclusions and conclusions submitted by any party provided 
all parties have had an opportunity to review the findings and comment on the same; or 
 3. Adopt findings of fact and conclusions from another source, either with or without modifi-
cation, having made a tentative decision, and having directed staff to prepare findings for review 
and to provide an opportunity for all parties to comment on the same. 
 C. The decision may be for denial, approval or approval with conditions. 
 1.  Conditions may be imposed where such conditions are necessary to: 
 a. Carry out applicable provisions of the Aurora Ccomprehensive Pplan, 
 b. Carry out the applicable implementing ordinances; and 
 2. Prior to the commencement of the issuance of any permits or the taking of any action un-
der the approved certificate of appropriatenessdecision, the owner and any contract purchasers of 
the property which is the subject of the approved application may be required to sign and deliver 
to the city their acknowledgment in a development agreement and consent to such conditions: 
 a. The mayorMayor shall have the authority to execute the development agreement on behalf 
of the city, 
 b. No building permit shall be issued for the use covered by the application until the executed 
contract is recorded and filed in the county records, and 
 c. Such development agreement shall be enforceable against the signing parties, their heirs, 
successors and assigns by the city. (Ord. 419 § 29A32A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.080, 
2002) 

411 
 



 
17.1617.20.090 Notice of decisionDecision. 
 A. All decisions require a noticeNotice of decisionDecision. The noticeNotice of 
decisionDecision shall include a brief statement that identifies the guidelines considered relevant 
to the decision, states the facts relied upon in making the decision, explains the justification for 
the decision based on the guidelineswith reference to the standards, criteria and facts set forth and 
a brief explanation of the in the record, the date the final decision was made, along with the dead-
line for appeal process. The certificate of appropriateness may be combined with the notice of 
decision. 
 B. The applicant and any person who submits written comments during the fourteen (14) day 
period shall be entitled to receiveprovided with the noticeNotice of decisionDecision.  
 C. City staff shall include a copy of the noticeNotice of decisionDecision and a copy of the 
mailing labels in the administrative record. 
 D. The noticeNotice of decisionDecision shall be reduced to writing, signed by the historic 
review boardHistoric Review Board chair, and mailed to the applicant and all parties in the action 
within ten (10) calendar days after the decision is made. The vice chair is authorized to sign the 
noticeNotice of decisionDecision when the chair of the historic review boardHistoric Review 
Board is not available to sign. (Ord. 419 §§ 20B, 2932(A) (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.090, 
2002) 
 
17.1617.20.100 Record of proceeding. 
 The record shall include: 
 A. A copy of the application and all supporting information, plans, exhibits, graphics, etc.; 
 B. A copy of the notice of pending decision and a list of all persons who were given mailed 
notice; 
 C. All testimony, evidence and correspondence relating to the application; 
 D. All information considered by the approval authority in making the decision; 
 E. If approved or approved with conditions, a copy of the certificate of appropriateness signed 
by the approval authority; 
 F. A list of the conditions, if any, attached to the approval of the application; and 
 G. A copy of the notice of the decision, which was given pursuant to Section 17.1617.20.090, 
and a list of all persons who were given mailed notice. (Ord. 419 § 2932(A), 2002; Ord. 416 § 
8.3036.100, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.110 Appeal. 
 A. Standing to Appeal. Any person shall be considered a party to a matter, thus having stand-
ing to seek appeal, provided the person submitted written comments to the approval authority 
during the fourteen (14) day period prior to the decision or the person was entitled as of right to 
notice prior to the decision to be reviewed. 
 B. Computation of Appeal Period. 

Comment [r5]: There is no 14 day comment period 
at this time (whether SDR or not). Karin? DO admin 
decision with Notice of Decision and 14 day appeal 
period to CC? 100 feet? 

Comment [r6]: Who are all parties if no notice 
provided in advance? 

412 
 



 1. The length of the appeal period shall be fifteen (15) days from the date of the final deci-
sion. 
 2. In computing the length of the appeal period, the day of the decision is mailed shall be 
excluded and the last day for filing the appeal shall be included unless the last day falls on a legal 
holiday for the city or on a Saturday, in which case, the last day shall be the next business day. 
 C. Determination of Appropriate Appeal Body. 
 1. Any decision made by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board under this chapter, 
may be reviewed by the City Ccouncil by: 
 a. The filing of a notice of appeal and payment of required fees by any party to the decision 
before five p.m. on the last day of the appeal period; 
 b. The Ccouncil, on its own motion, seeking appeal by voice vote prior to the end of the 
appeal period. 
 2. Failure to file an available appeal shall be considered a failure to exhaust administrative 
remedies. The local appeals process must be completed before any appeal is made to the land use 
board of appeals. 
 D. The notice of appeal shall be filed within the appeal period and contain: 
 1. A reference to the application sought to be appealed; 
 2. A statement of the petitioner’s standing to the appeal; 
 3. The specific grounds for the appeal; 
 4. The date of the decision on the action;  
 5. The applicable fees. 
 E. The appeal hearing shall be confined to the record of the decision. 
 F. Upon appeal, notice shall be given to parties who are entitled to notice under Sections 
17.1617.20.060 and Section 17.1617.20.090. 
 G. The appellate authority shall affirm, reverse or modify the decision, which is the subject of 
the appeal. The decision shall be made in accordance with the time provisions of Section 
17.1617.20.040; or upon the written consent of all parties to extend the one hundred twenty (120) 
day limit, the appellate authority may remand the matter if it is satisfied that testimony or other 
evidence could not have been presented or was not available at the time of the initial decision. In 
deciding to remand the matter, the appellate authority shall consider and make findings and con-
clusions regarding: 
 1. The prejudice to parties; 
 2. The convenience or availability of evidence at the time of the initial hearing; 
 3. The surprise to opposing parties; 
 4. The date notice was given to other parties as to an attempt to admit; or 
 5. The competency, relevancy and materiality of the proposed testimony or other evidence. 
(Ord. 419 §§ 20C, 29A32A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.110, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.120 Modification and revocation of approvals. 
 The approval authority may modify or revoke any approval granted pursuant to this chapter for 
any of the following reasons: 

413 
 



 A. A material misrepresentation or mistake of fact made by the applicant in the application or 
in testimony and evidence submitted, whether such misrepresentation is intentional or uninten-
tional; 
 B. A failure to comply with the terms and conditions of approval;  
 C. A material misrepresentation or mistake of fact or policy by the city in the written or oral 
report regarding the matter whether such misrepresentation is intentional or unintentional. (Ord. 
419 § 29A32A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.130, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.130 Re-submittal of an  
   application previously  
   denied. 
 An application which has been denied or an application which was denied and which on appeal 
has not been reversed by a higher authority, including the land use boardLand Use Board of 
appealsAppeals, the land conservationLand Conservation and development 
commissionDevelopment Commission or the courts, may not be resubmitted for the same or a 
substantially similar proposal or for the same or substantially similar action for a period of at least 
twelve (12) months from the date the final city action is made denying the application unless 
there is a substantial change in the facts or a change in city policy which would change the out-
come. (Ord. 419 §§ 29A32A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.130, 2002) 
 
17.1617.20.140 Expiration and extension of approvals. 
 A. Approval under this title shall be effective for a period two years from the date of approv-
al. 
 B. Approvals shall lapse if: 
 1. Substantial construction of the approved plan has not been completed within a two-year 
period; 
 2. Construction on the site is a departure from the approved plan. 
 C. City staff may, upon written request by the applicant, grant an extension of the approval 
period not to exceed one year; provided, that: 
 1. No material changes are made on the original approved tentative plan; and 
 2. The applicant has expressed written intent of submitting a final plat within the one-year 
extension period; and 
 3. There have been no material changes to the applicable comprehensive plan policies and 
ordinance provisionsthe standards and criteria of this title on which the approval was based.  
 4. Written notice of the decision regarding an extension of time shall be provided to the ap-
plicant. (Ord. 419 § 29A32A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.3036.140, 2002) 
 
 

414 
 



Chapter 17.2017.24 
 

SIGNS 
 
Sections: 
17.2017.24.010 General authority. 
17.2017.24.020 Purpose. 
17.2017.24.030 Sign permits required. 
17.2017.24.040 Application. 
17.2017.24.050 Definitions. 
17.2017.24.060 Exempt signs. 
17.2017.24.070 General sign provisions. 
17.2017.24.080 Prohibited signs. 
17.2017.24.090 Historic residential overlay. 
17.2017.24.100 Historic commercial (HC) overlay. 
17.2017.24.110 Nonconforming signs. 
17.2017.24.120 Termination of signs by abandonment. 
17.2017.24.130 Relief from sign standards. 
17.2017.24.140 List of approved font types. 
 
17.2017.24.010 General authority. 
 Before any construction, erection, placing, painting, carving or otherwise giving public expo-
sure of any sign occurs in the historic commercial overlay or the historic residential overlay, 
application must be made to both the historic review boardHistoric Review Board and a city 
building official. The applicant must receive a certificate of appropriateness from the historic 
review boardHistoric Review Board before a building permit can be issued by the building offi-
cial. The sign provisions of this chapter may be considered as a part of a development application 
or individually. Applications shall be filed with the city recorderCity Recorder on an appropriate 
form in any manner prescribed by the city, accompanied with an application fee in the amount 
established by general resolution of the city councilCity Council. (Ord. 416 § 8.50.010, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.020 Purpose. 
 Sign guidelines and criteria can enhance the economic vitality and contribute to the visual 
quality of the city. Well-designed signs attract the eye, complement each other and draw attention 
to the buildings containing the businesses for which they are intended to advertise. In the review 
of sign applications within the city, the following criteria and standards will be considered by the 
historic review boardHistoric Review Board. 
 A. Signs are necessary to communicate information about places, goods, services and ameni-
ties. As such, they have a useful function; they should not confuse; they should inform with clari-
ty. 

415 
 



 B. Signs are a part of the town’s street scape. Signage, in a collective sense, has a civic obli-
gation to be in character with the rest of the street scape. 
 C. Buildings are signs in that they represent a kind of imagery through their architecture. 
 D. Signage is visual. Good signage is an art form that should be addressed with sensitivity. In 
addition to communicating information, signage is an architectural element. 
 E. Signs on buildings should not dominate or obscure the architecture of the building. A sign 
on a building should be compatible or integrated with its architecture. (Ord. 416 § 8.50.020, 
2002) 
 
17.2017.24.030 Sign permits required. 
 A. Existing Signs. All existing signs on each business and residential premises shall be re-
quired to conform to the standards of this chapter on or before July 1, 2003. Upon adoption of the 
ordinance codified in this title, the person(s) in control of the business or property or in control of 
each business contained thereon, shall be required to submit a completed application form with a 
photograph of all existing signs according to Section 17.2017.24.040(C), and pay no sign permit 
fee, except those signs approved by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board after October 
26, 1995. 
 1. As of the effective date of the ordinance codified in this title, Aurora’s historic district 
contains four existing backlit reader boards, specifically for the business of the "General Store," 
"Aurora Colony Market," "Nagl Floor Covering," and "Aurora Cycle." Due to the historic busi-
ness related use of these signs and notwithstanding Section 17.2017.24.110(B)(2), these four 
reader board signs may continue, for their useful life, as nonconforming uses after the July 1, 
2003 deadline requiring sign conformance. 
 B. Proposed Signs. No person shall place on, or apply to, the surface of any building, any 
painted sign, or erect, construct, place or install any other sign, unless a sign permit has been 
issued by the city for such sign. Application for a sign permit shall be made by the permittee in 
accordance with Section 17.2017.24.040. The person(s) in control of the building or property or 
in control of each business contained thereon, shall make application for a sign permit in writing 
upon forms provided by the city. Such application shall contain the proposed location of each 
sign on the premises, the street and number of the premises, the name and address of the sign 
owner, the type of construction of each sign, the design and dimensions of each sign, type of sign 
supports, location of each sign on the premises, and other such information as may be required by 
the city. 
 C. No person having a permit to erect a sign shall construct or erect same in any manner, 
except in the manner set forth in the approved certificate of appropriateness. All departures from 
signage plans for which a certificate of appropriateness has been issued shall be approved in 
advance by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board. 
 D. Sign Permit Fees. The application for a certificate of appropriateness for a sign shall be 
accompanied by a filing fee in an amount established by general resolution of the city councilCity 
Council. (Ord. 419 §§ 19, 23H, 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.50.030, 2002) 
 

416 
 



17.2017.24.040 Application. 
 A. The applicant shall submit three copies of: 
 1. A drawing of the sign indicating its colors, lettering, symbols, logos, materials, size, and 
area; 
 2. An elevation and plot plan indicating where the proposed sign will be located on the struc-
ture or lot, method of illumination, if any, and similar information. 
 B. Signs existing September 26, 1995 shall be photographed with enough visual detail to 
determine their approximate size and location for inventory purposes. (Ord. 416 § 8.50.040, 
2002) 
 
17.2017.24.050 Definitions. 
 As used in this chapter: 
 "Advertising structure" means any notice or advertisement, pictorial or otherwise, and any 
structure used as, or for the support of, any notice or advertisement for the purpose of making 
anything known about goods, services or activities not on the same lot as the advertising struc-
ture. 
 "Alterations" means any change in size, shape, and method of illumination, position, location, 
construction or supporting structure of a sign. 
 "Balcony" means a platform projecting form the exterior wall, enclosed by a railing, supported 
by brackets or columns or cantilevered out. 
 "Banner" means a temporary paper, cloth, or plastic sign advertising a single event of civic or 
business nature. 
 "Billboard" means the same as "advertising structure." 
 "Building facade" means the vertical exterior wall of a building including all vertical architec-
tural features. 
 "Building register sign" means a sign that identifies four or more businesses contained within a 
single building structure or complex. 
 "Bulletin board" means a sign of a permanent nature, but which accommodates changeable 
copy, indicating the names of persons associated with, events, conducted upon or products or 
services offered upon, the premises upon which the sign is located. 
 "Business" means commercial or industrial enterprise. 
 "Business frontage" means the lineal front footage of the building or a portion thereof, devoted 
to a specific business or enterprise, and having an entrance/exit opening to the general public. 
 "Cartoon" means a caricature of an animate or inanimate object intended as humorous. 
 "Construction sign" means a sign stating the names, addresses or telephone numbers of those 
individuals or businesses directly associated with a construction project on the premises. 
 "Curvilinear" means represented by curved lines. 
 "Direct illumination" means a source of illumination directed towards such signs so that the 
beam of light falls on the exterior surface of the sign. 
 "Flag" means a light flexible cloth, usually rectangular and bearing a symbol(s) representing a 
nationality, statehood, or other entity. 

Comment [r7]: Include with other definitions 

417 
 



 "Flashing sign" means a sign incorporating intermittent electrical impulses to a source of illu-
mination, or revolving in a manner, which creates the illusion of flashing, or which changes color 
or intensity of illumination. 
 "Fluorescent colors" means extra bright and glowing type colors; includes dayglow orange, 
fluorescent green, etc. 
 "Fluorescent lighting" means light provided by tubes. 
 "Free-standing" means a sign, which is entirely supported by a sign structure in the ground. 
 "Frontage" means the single wall surface of a building facing a given direction. 
 "Illustration" means a line drawing or silhouette of a realistic object. 
 "Marquee" means a permanent roofed, non-enclosed structure projecting over an entrance to a 
building, which may be attached to the ground surface, or not. 
 "Neighborhood identification" means a sign located at the entry point to a single-family subdi-
vision comprising not less than two acres, or a sign identifying a multiple-family development. 
 "Neon light" means a form of illumination using inert gases in glass tubes and includes black 
light and other neon lights. 
 "Parcel" or "premises" means a lot or tract of land under separate ownership, as depicted upon 
the count assessment rolls, and having frontage abutting on a public street. 
 "Primary revenue source" means no less than seventy-five (75) percent of gross total principal 
income derived from a business. 
 "Public right-of-way" means the area commonly shared by pedestrians and vehicles for rite of 
passage. An easement for public travel or access including street, alley, walkway, driveway, trail 
or any other public way; also, the land within the boundaries of such easement. 
 "Quality material" means materials that are appropriate to make temporary window signs, 
including poster board, heavy bond paper or wood. All temporary signs will be lettered using the 
approved lettering styles. Brown paper or brown bags, ragged edges or light-weight paper are not 
allowed. 
 "Real estate sign" means a sign indicating that the premises on which the sign is located, or 
any portion thereof, is for sale, lease or rent. 
 "Sidewalk" means hard surface strip within a street right-of-way to be used for pedestrian 
traffic. 
 "Sign" means any notice or advertisement, pictorial or otherwise, used as an outdoor display 
for the purpose of advertising a property or the establishment or enterprise, including goods and 
services, upon which the signs are exhibited. This definition shall not include official notices 
issued by a court or public body or officer, or directional, warning or information signs or struc-
tures required by or authorized by the law or by federal, state, county or city authority. 
 “Sign, Area of.” In determining whether a sign is within the area limitations of this title, the 
area of the total exterior surface shall be measured and computed in square feet; provided, that 
where the sign has two or more faces, the area of the total exterior surface shall be measured and 
divided by the number of faces; and provided further, that if the interior angle between the two 
planes of two faces exceeds one hundred thirty-five (135) degrees, they shall be deemed a single 

418 
 



face for the purposes hereof. Measurement shall be madke at the extreme horizontal and vertical 
limit of a sign. 
 "Street frontage" means the lineal dimension in feet of the property upon which a structure is 
built, each frontage having one street frontage. 
 "Wind sign or device" means any sign or device in the nature of a series of one, two or more 
banners fastened in such a manner as to move upon being subject to pressure by wind or breeze. 
 "Window" means all the glass included with one casement. (Ord. 416 § 8.50.050, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.060 Exempt signs. 
 The following signs and devices shall not be subject to the provisions of this chapter and shall 
not require a certificate of appropriateness or a sign permit application: 
 A. Identification Signs. 
 1. Memorial and Historic Identification Signs. Memorial tablets, cornerstones or similar 
plaques, such as National Register listing, not exceeding six square feet. 
 2. Small Business-Related Informational Signs. Small nonilluminated informational signs 
such as "open/closed" signs (including one three foot by five foot flag or banner per store front), 
credit card signs, rating or professional association signs, and signs of a similar nature. Only one 
of each type of sign is permitted and no more than four of these signs are allowed for any indi-
vidual business or on any parcel of property. The total area for these types of signs may not ex-
ceed three square feet in area. If logos are used, they should be no larger than one square foot. 
historic review boardHistoric Review Board approved colors and lettering styles must be utilized. 
 3. Occupant or Owner Sign. A sign identifying the name of the occupant or owner, provided 
the sign is not larger than one square foot, is not unilluminated, and is either attached to the struc-
ture or located within the front yard setback. 
 4. Donation Name Plates. Donation nameplates located on benches are allowed. 
 5. One interior LED sign per business not exceeding three square feet in area.  Flashing or 
other changes in illumination are prohibited. 
 B. Signs as Symbols.  
 1. Flags. Flags of national, state, or local government, and flags of U.S. historical signifi-
cance (no more than two flags per store front, each flag not to exceed a size of three feet by five 
feet). 
 C. Temporary Signs. 
 1. Political Signs. Temporary political signs not exceeding four square feet, provided the 
signs located on private property, and are erected not more than thirty (30) days prior to, and 
removed within seven days following, the election for which they are intended. 
 2.  Real Estate or Construction Signs. Temporary, nonilluminated real estate or construction 
signs (no more than one per parcel) not exceeding four square feet, provided such signs are re-
moved within fifteen (15) days after sale, lease or rental of the property, or the completion of the 
project. 
 3. New Business Signs. Temporary signs for new businesses, after the city has been notified 
through a business permit license, for a period not exceeding ninety days. 

419 
 



 4. Sale or Product Advertising Window Signs, Grand Opening aAnd Going Out of Business 
Signs. Temporary fabric or paper signs for special events, sales, or grocery store type products 
may be placed upon the window opening of a nonresidential building, when such signs do not 
obscure more than twenty (20) percent of the window or wall area and no more than ten (10) 
percent of the total primary facade area. These temporary signs will not be put up more than 
fifteen (15) days prior to the event or sale and will be removed immediately after the event or 
sale. These temporary signs need to be of quality material and in keeping with the Aurora’s his-
toric character. 
 5. Business Change of Location. Businesses that are changing location may place a single 
one square foot inside a window facing outward for sixty (60) days before moving and up no 
more than sixty (60) days after vacancy. 
 6. Garage Sale Signs. Garage sale signs shall include the address of the person giving the 
sale, dates of the sale and be limited to three weekends per year per address. Signs are to be re-
moved immediately at the close of the sale. Signs shall be maximum size of two square feet, signs 
shall be no more than four feet in height, and shall be self-supported and not affixed to public 
signs or utility poles. Signs shall not be placed in the city’s park. Signs may be placed in the city 
right-of-way if placed no closer than four feet from the street. Sign may also be placed on private 
property with the owner’s permission. 
 7. Holiday Lighting. Noncommercial decorations, including blinking lights, displayed on 
traditionally accepted civic, patriotic, and/or religious holiday, provided that such decorations are 
maintained a safe condition and do not constitute a fire hazard. Decorations in the historical 
commercial overlay must be removed, or cease to be used, within thirty (30) days following the 
holiday/event to which they relate. 
 8. Civic and Special Event Banners. Temporary banners, pennants and flags advertising civic 
and special (not sale) events shall be permitted for no more than sixty (60) days before the event 
and must be removed within forty-eight (48) hours after the event concludes. 
 D. Government Signs. 
 1. Construction Signs. Signs placed by state or federal governments for the purpose of con-
struction, maintenance or identification of roads or other public agencies for the direction of traf-
fic, and designed to fulfill the requirements of state and federal funding agencies. 
 2. Public Meeting Notices. Temporary paper signs that serve as notice of a public meeting 
when removed promptly after such meeting is held. 
 3. Town Identification Signs. One town identification sign shall be permitted at each entry to 
town located on major roadways, not exceeding twenty (20) square feet. 
 E. Security Signs. Signs relating to security monitoring which may include company logo are 
exempt and limited to twelve (12) square inches in size when located on a window or two square 
feet when free-standing. (Ord. 419 §§ 23A, 23B, 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.50.060, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.070 General sign provisions. 
 The following general sign provisions apply to all signs, except those exempt signs specifically 
listed in Section 17.2017.24.060, within the city: 

420 
 



 A. Sign Design. 
 1. Materials. Wood is the recommended material for both the sign and the stanchion (in the 
case of free-standing signs). Signs, which use plastic as part of the exterior visual effects, are 
prohibited. 
 2. Shape. Rectangular, straight-edge and oval signs are the preferred shape for signs. Signs 
with highly stylized, curvilinear edges are not recommended. Refer to the approved sample sign 
styles available at City Hall. 
 B. Sign Color. 
 1. Maximum of Four Colors. The number of colors used on signs shall be minimized for 
maximum effect. As a result, each sign may contain only four colors, not including the back-
ground. 
 2. Fluorescent Colors. Fluorescent colors are not allowed. 
 3. Dark Letters over Light Background. All signs shall have dark colored letters placed on 
top of a light colored background. 
 C. Sign Graphics, Lettering and Content. 
 1. Graphics. Sign graphics shall be carved, applied, painted or stained. Three-dimensional 
signs are not recommended. 
 2. Keep Graphics Simple. Sign graphics shall be simple and bold and in keeping with the 
historic review boardHistoric Review Board guidelines. Sign graphics can contain line drawings 
or silhouette images of live or inanimate objects. Cartoon images, either line drawn or silhouette, 
of live or inanimate objects are prohibited. 
 3. Lettering. To maintain continuity, all sign lettering shall be stylistically similar to the list 
of approved fonts in Section 17.2017.24.140. All lettering shall be uniformly aligned, evenly 
spaced, precise, cleanly executed and legible. 
 4. Historic Building Name Signs. Signs placed flat against the facade of the building that 
identify the historic name of a building are encouraged, provided they are of uniform color and 
design throughout the city and are no more than six square feet in area. 
 5. City Directional Signs. Signs and graphics for which the city is responsible (i.e., parking 
lots, public facilities, street signs, etc.) shall have a single lettering style and use black for the 
lettering and white as a background. Signs for city parks shall not exceed twelve (12) square feet. 
 E. Sign Lighting. 
 1. External Lighting Only. When lighting is used for signs, only subdued external and indi-
rect incandescent lighting is allowed. Internal illumination and fluorescent and/or internal neon 
lighting is not allowed. Special illumination circumstances, such as lottery signs and product 
advertising signs, will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 
 2. No Flashing or Blinking Lights. No sign shall contain any flashing lights, blinking or mov-
ing letters, characters or other elements, nor shall it be rotating or otherwise movable. (Ord. 419 § 
23C, 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.50.070, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.080 Prohibited signs. 

421 
 



 A. Paper Signs. Paper signs are not allowed on the exterior of any building or attached to any 
sign, except as provided in Section 17.2017.24.060. 
 B. Billboards or Off-Premises Advertising Signs. Billboards or off-premises advertising 
signs, temporary signs, wind signs or devices are prohibited, except as allowed in Section 
17.2017.24.060. 
 C. Flashing Signs. Signs with lights or illuminations, which flash, move, rotate, scintillate, 
blink, flicker, vary in intensity, vary in color, or use intermittent eElectrical pulsations are prohib-
ited. 
 D. Bench Signs. Advertising murals and bench signs are prohibited. However, donation name 
plates are allowed. 
 E. Logo or Trademark Signs. Signs or devices (such as drink dispensers) placed on the out-
side of a business that display the symbol, slogan or trademark of national product brands of soft 
drinks, or other products, or services shall be prohibited. 
 F. Misleading Signs. Any unofficial sign which purports to be, is in imitation of or resembles 
an official traffic light or a portion thereof, or which hides from view any official traffic sign or 
signal, is prohibited. 
 G. Signs Obstructing Egress. No sign or portion thereof shall be so placed as to obstruct any 
fire escape, standpipe or human exit from a window located above the first floor of a building; 
obstruct any door or exit from a building; or obstruct any required light or ventilation. 
 H. Utility Poles. No sign shall be attached to a utility pole. 
 I. Reader Board Sign. Except as exempted in Section 17.2017.24.030, reader board signs are 
prohibited. (Ord. 419 § 23E, 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.50.075, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.090 Historic residential overlay. 
 Signs in the historic residential overlay shall be permitted as follows: 
 A. Neighborhood Identification. One sign shall be permitted at each entry point to develop-
ments, with more than ten (10) lots or dwelling units, not exceeding an area of eight square feet 
per sign, nor five feet in height above grade. See also the general sign provisions Section 
17.2017.24.070. 
 B. Conditional Uses. Where otherwise permitted, one sign of not more than four square feet, 
either attached to the building or freestanding, shall be permitted for conditional uses. If free-
standing, the sign shall be mounted in a planter or landscaped area and shall not exceed five feet 
in height, nor shall it be located within ten (10) feet of any property line. (Ord. 416 § 8.50.080, 
2002) 
 
17.2017.24.100 Historic commercial (HC) overlay. 
 All signs in the historic commercial overlay shall require approval by the historic review 
boardHistoric Review Board pursuant to this chapter. Signs should not be the dominant feature of 
a building or site, yet they are a key component in identifying businesses and contributing to the 
livelihood of the street with their individuality. These guidelines create a system whereby signs 
identifying businesses are visible to both pedestrian and automobile traffic without detracting 

Comment [r8]: Non-enforceable 

422 
 



from the architecture or overpowering the streetscape. Special consideration may be granted for 
signage design that is consistent with the historical age and style of the building. The following 
types of signs are permitted within the historic commercial overlay: 
 A. Right-Angle Signs. Right-angle signs (those signs place perpendicular to the building 
facade) may be either attached to the wall surface or hung from the underside of a marquee or 
balcony. Right-angle signs are designed for viewing by pedestrians walking under such signs. See 
also the general sign provisions, Section 17.2017.24.070. 
 1. Number. There shall be no more than one right-angle sign for every seventeen (17) feet of 
street frontage. 
 2. Area. The square footage of all right-angle signs on a single building frontage shall not 
exceed one percent of the area of that building facade to which the sign is attached. No individual 
sign shall be more than six square feet in area. A single right-angle sign identifying four or more 
businesses may be a maximum of ten (10) square feet. 
 3. Placement. Right-angle signs shall be below the sill of the second story windows or below 
the roofline, eave or parapet of a one-story building. No sign projecting over the public right-of-
way shall be less than eight feet from the ground level. No sign shall project more than six feet 
from the vertical surface of a building facade, provided it is no closer than two feet from the face 
of the curb or edge of pavement. 
 B. Wall Signs. Wall signs are those signs attached and parallel to the building facade, and 
which extend no more than six inches from the surface of the wall. (Parapet signs are a type of 
wall sign, but are treated separately). See also the general sign provisions, Section 
17.2017.24.070. 
 1. Number. Only one wall sign is permitted for every seventeen (17) feet of building street 
frontage. 
 2. Area. The square footage of all wall signs on a single building frontage shall not exceed 
six percent of the area of that building façade to which the signs are attached. 
 3. Placement. Wall signs shall not extend above an eave or ridge line. 
 4. Former Residential Use. Wall signs on commercial buildings originally built as houses 
shall not exceed four square feet, be placed sensitively to the architecture, and contain only the 
business name and/or business category. 
 C. Parapet Signs. Parapet signs are a distinctive type of wall sign, which are generally located 
above the lintels of the upper story windows and continue upward on a wall that extends beyond 
the roof edge (or false front). They are designed to be legible to pedestrians across the street and 
persons traveling on the street. Parapet signs generally identify the name of the business estab-
lishment. See also the general sign provisions, Section 17.2017.24.070. 
 1. Number. No more than one parapet sign is permitted per building. 
 2. Area. A parapet sign shall not exceed six percent of the total square footage of the building 
facade to which it is attached. A parapet sign shall be no more than two feet in vertical dimension. 
 3. Placement. Parapet signs shall not extend above the upper edge of the parapet wall. A 
parapet sign shall not extend any nearer than one foot from either edge of the building. Recessed 
sign panels located in building parapets should be used when possible. 

423 
 



 D. Window and Door Signs. Window and door signs are those, which are painted, displayed 
or placed inside a translucent or transparent surface facing outward. Window graphics are usually 
most effective when they are simple and clearly. Generally these types of signs do not identify the 
primarily business to persons outside the building. As a result, these types of signs should be kept 
to a minimum. See also the general sign provisions, Section 17.2017.24.070. 
 1. Number. Each building frontage shall have no more than a total of two window/door signs. 
 2. Area. The total of all window or door signs shall not exceed twenty (20) percent of the 
total window and/or door area for each building. 
 3. Placement. In all cases, window graphics shall be limited to the first and second story 
window. 
 4. Former Residential Use. Window signs are not allowed on commercial buildings originally 
built as houses. 
 E.  Balcony or Marquee Signs. Balcony or marquee signs are those signs that are attached to 
the fascia of the balcony or marquee and are parallel to the street and building facade. They are 
intended for viewing by travelers on the street or pedestrians on the opposite side of the street. 
There is little historical precedent for balcony or marquee signs that hang from the fascia, hence 
signs that are hanging from the outside edge of a balcony or marquee roof are prohibited. See also 
the General Sign Provisions, Section 17.2017.24.070. 
 1. Number. Only one attached balcony or marquee sign shall be permitted per building. 
 2. Area. No more than eighty (80) percent of a balcony or marquee fascia shall be covered 
with signage. 
 3. Placement. The attached balcony or marquee sign shall be centered in the middle of the 
balcony or marquee fascia. The signs shall not project above the marquee roofline or balcony 
floor line, or below the bottom edge of the balcony or marquee fascia. 
 F. Free-standing Signs. Free-standing signs are those, which are provided with their own 
support and are not attached to a building. Typically they are attached or are suspended from a 
post, pole or stanchion. Aurora had few if any free-standing signs in the late 1880s. Most business 
activities were conducted in buildings built on the front property line, allowing little room for 
placement of free-standing signs. See also the General Sign Provisions, Section 17.2017.24.070. 
 1. Former Residential Use. Free-standing signs are especially appropriate for commercial 
buildings originally built as houses. 
 2. Number. No more than one free-standing sign is permitted for each parcel containing one 
or more business activities within a building structure. 
 3. Area. A free-standing sign shall not exceed thirty-two (32) square feet in area. 
 4. Placement. A free-standing sign shall be within the parcel boundaries. 
 5. Height. A free-standing sign shall not exceed eight feet in height from the top edge of such 
sign to the grade below. 
 G. Sandwich and A-Board Signs. Sandwich or A-Board Signs are signs that are ordinarily in 
the shape of an "A" or some variation thereof, on the ground, easily moveable and which is usual-
ly two sided. See also the General Sign Provisions, Section 17.2017.24.070. 

424 
 



 1. Number. One sandwich board type sign is permitted per business. Additional sandwich 
boards granted only on businesses with more than one frontage and then only at the discretion of 
the governing body. 
 2. Placement. Sandwich boards shall not obstruct pedestrian walkways, or in any way impede 
the normal flow of vehicular traffic. These signs shall be placed in a manner that maintains a 
walkway of not less than thirty-six (36) inches in width and shall be no larger than three feet 
wide, nor more than four feet high when measured vertically. 
 3. Removal. Sandwich board signs shall be moveable at all times and displayed only during 
the open hours of the business. 
 4. Distance Between Sandwich Boards. Sandwich boards must maintain a minimum distance 
of fifteen (15) feet from any other sandwich board sign. 
 5. Location. Location of sandwich boards must be approved at the time of sign application 
review. 
 6. No Posters or Promotional Materials. No paper signs of any kind shall be placed upon 
sandwich board signs. Sandwich boards are not to be used for posters or to display promotional 
materials, except for special community evens, which are limited to the duration of the event. 
 H. Signs Painted on Buildings. Signs painted directly upon the facade of the building within 
the HC district shall be consistent with historical documentation. (Ord. 419 §§ 23F, 23G, 2002; 
Ord. 416 § 8.50.090, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.110 Nonconforming signs. 
 All signs existing on the date of adoption of the ordinance codified in this title, and not con-
forming with the provisions of this chapter are deemed nonconforming signs, except those signs 
approved by the historic review boardHistoric Review Board after October 26, 1995. 
 A. No nonconforming sign shall be changed, expanded or altered in any manner which would 
increase the degree of its nonconformity, or be structurally altered to prolong its useful life, or be 
moved in whole or in part to any other location where it would remain nonconforming. 
 B. Termination of Nonconforming Signs. 
 1. Immediate Termination. Nonconforming signs which advertise a business no longer con-
ducted or a product no longer sold on the premises where such sign is located shall be terminated 
within fifteen (15) days after the effective date of said ordinance. 
 2. Termination by Change of Business. Any nonconforming sign advertising or relating to a 
business on the premises on which it is located shall be terminated upon any change in the owner-
ship or control of such business. 
 3. Termination by Amortization. Any nonconforming sign not terminated pursuant to any 
other provision of this title shall be terminated on or before July 1, 2003. (Ord. 419 §§ 20, 23I, 
2002: Ord. 416 § 8.50.100, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.120 Termination of signs by abandonment. 
 A. Obsolete Business Signs. Any sign advertising or relating to a business, except a regular 
seasonal business, on the premises on which it is located, which business is discontinued for a 

425 
 



period of thirty (30) consecutive days, regardless of any intent to resume or not to abandon such 
use, shall be presumed to be abandoned and all such signage, whether conforming or noncon-
forming to the provisions of this title shall be removed within thirty (30) days thereafter. Any 
period of such non-continuance caused by government actions, strikes, materials shortages or acts 
of God, and without any contributing fault by the business or user, shall not be considered in 
calculating the length of discontinuance for purposes of this subsection. 
 B. Appeal. An extension of time for removal of signage of an abandoned business, not to 
exceed an additional thirty (30) days, may be granted by the city councilCity Council upon an 
appeal filed by the legal owner of the premises or person in control of the business. (Ord. 416 § 
8.50.110, 2002) 
 
17.2017.24.130 Relief from sign standards. 
 The historic review boardHistoric Review Board may grant relief from strict compliance with 
standards contained in this chapter in cases where documented evidence suggests it is impossible 
or impractical to comply with the standard for one or more of the reasons set forth in the preced-
ing subsections. The facts and conclusions relied upon to grant relief from a particular standard 
shall clearly be set forth in the final order of the historic review boardHistoric Review Board. 
 A. Exceptional or extraordinary conditions applying to the property which do not apply gen-
erally to other properties in the same zone or vicinity, which conditions are a result of building 
location or style, or other circumstances over which the applicant has no control make strict com-
pliance impossible or impractical; or 
 B. Relief from the standard for reason set forth, will result in equal or greater compatibility 
with the architectural style and features, which exist on the building or nearby historical build-
ings; or relief is necessary to restore or replace a sign in a way which is historically accurate or 
compatible. (Ord. 416 § 8.50.120, 2002) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

426 
 



 
 
 
 
 
17.2017.24.140 List of approved font types. 
 
 
 
(Ord. 419 § 23D, 2002: Ord. 416 § 8.50.130, 2002) 
 
 

427 
 



Chapter 17.2417.28 
 

ACCESSORY DWELLINGS AND STRUCTURES UNITS 
 
Sections: 
17.2417.28.010 Purpose. 
17.2417.28.020 Applicability and administration. 
   administration. 
17.2417.28.030 Application submittal 
    requirements. 
17.2417.28.040 Approval standards. 
 
17.2417.28.010 Purpose. 
 
 Accessory dwelling units and structures are allowed in certain situations to: 
 A. Create new housing units while respecting the look and scale of single-dwelling neighbor-
hoods;  
 B. Allow more efficient use of existing housing stock and infrastructure;  
 C. Provide a mix of housing that responds to changing family needs and smaller households;  
 D. Provide a means for residents, particularly seniors, single parents, and families with grown 
children, to remain in their homes and neighborhoods, and obtain extra income, security, compan-
ionship and services; and  
 E. Provide a broader range of accessible and more affordable housing.  
 F.  Provide storage and workshop spaces. (Ord.        416 § 8.60.010, 2002) 
 
17.2417.28.020 Applicability and  
   administration. 
 A. An accessory dwelling unit may be added to any single-family detached dwelling in the 
historic residential overlay. 
 B. Accessory dwellings requiring exterior modifications and detached accessory dwelling 
units on properties located in the historic residential overlay shall require approval by the historic 
review boardHistoric Review Board pursuant to Chapter 17.1617.20. (Ord. 416 § 8.60.020, 2002) 
 
17.2417.28.030 Application submittal  
   requirements. 
 All applications for accessory dwelling units shall be made on forms provided by the city and 
shall be accompanied by: 
 A. The information requested on the application form; 
 B. A narrative discussing the appropriate criteria in sufficient detail for review and action; 
 C. The required fee; 

428 
 



 D. A site plan drawn to standard engineering scale showing the location of the accessory 
dwelling unit, the entrance and exits from the site, and areas to be designated for parking; and 
 E. A completed building permit application. (Ord. 416 § 8.60.030, 2002) 
 
17.2417.28.040 Approval standards. 
 A. Only one entrance to a residence may be located on the front facade of the single-family 
dwelling facing the street, unless the single-family dwelling contained additional front doors 
entrances before the conversion accessory dwelling unit was created. An exception to this regula-
tion is entrances that do not have access from the ground such as entrances from balconies or 
decks. 
 B. The size of the accessory dwelling unit may be no more than fifty (50) percent of the living 
area of the single-family detached dwelling or the maximum allowed for an accessory dwelling 
unit in the applicable zone or overlay, whichever is less. 
 C. Accessory dwelling units created through the addition of floor area must meet the follow-
ing: 
 1. Where the primary dwelling is a contributing structure, the exterior finish materials must 
be identical in substance, size and placement to the exterior finish material of the existing struc-
ture. Where the primary dwelling is a noncontributing structure within the historic commercial 
overlay, exterior finish materials must meet the standards for new construction within that over-
lay.  Where the primary dwelling is a noncontributing structure in the historic residential overlay, 
exterior finish materials must meet the standards of Chapter 17._______.   
 2. The roof pitch must be the same as the predominant roof pitch of the primary single-family 
detached dwelling.  
 3. Windows must match those in the existing single-family detached dwelling in proportion 
(relationship of width to height) and be oriented vertically. Where the primary dwelling is a con-
tributing structure, the windows must be identical in substance, size and placement to the win-
dows of the existing structure. 
 D. Detached accessory dwelling units and structures must meet the following: 
 1. The accessory dwelling unit must be located in the side or rear yard of the primary de-
tached single-family dwelling, except where the primary dwelling is a contributing structure, in 
which case the accessory dwelling must be located in the rear yard.  
 2. The maximum height allowed for a detached accessory dwelling unit is eighteen (18) feet 
or seventy-five (75) percent of the height of the primary dwelling unit, whichever is greater. 
 3. The maximum footprint of the detached accessory dwelling is 800 square feet. 
 4. The exterior finish and trim material must be visually compatible in type, size and place-
ment, the exterior finish material of the single-family detached dwelling.  Where the primary 
dwelling is a contributing structure, the exterior finish materials must be identical in substance, 
size and placement to the exterior finish material of the existing structure. 
 5. The roof pitch must be the same as the predominant roof pitch of the existing dwelling or 
8:12, whichever is steeper. 

429 
 



 6. Windows must match those in the existing single-family detached dwelling in proportion 
(relationship of width to height) and be oriented vertically. Where the primary dwelling is a con-
tributing structure, the windows must be identical in substance, size and placement to the win-
dows of the existing structure. 
 E. All parking must meet the requirements of Chapter 16.42, Off-Street Parking and Loading, 
for single-family residences, except as follows: 
 1. No additional parking space is required for the accessory dwelling unit if it is created on a 
site with an existing single-family dwelling and, the roadway surface on at least one abutting 
street is at least eighteen (18) feet wide. 
 2. One additional parking space is required for the accessory dwelling unit when: 
 a. None of the abutting street roadway surfaces are at least eighteen (18) feet wide; 
 b. When the accessory dwelling unit is created at the same time as the single-family detached 
dwelling is constructed.  
 F.  In addition to the above standards, accessory dwellings and structures shall comply with 
Chapter 17.40, Design Standards.  (Ord. ___ § _____, 2012) 
 
 

430 
 



Chapter 17.2817.32 
 

TEMPORARY USES AND STRUCTURES 
 

Sections: 
17.2817.32.010 Purpose. 
17.2817.32.020 Application submission requirements. 
   requirements. 
17.2817.32.030 Temporary use  
   administration and approval. 
17.2817.32.040 Temporary structure  
   administration and approval. 
17.32.050 Outdoor Display. 
 
17.2817.32.010 Purpose. 
 The purpose of the temporary use permit is to permit commercial activities that are small scale 
and short term in nature and generally promote celebration of specific events, holidays and sea-
sons. Examples include, but are not limited to, temporary uses associated with existing licensed 
businesses, seasonal produce sales and farmers markets. 
 The purposes of the temporary structure approval are: (1) to permit property owners to utilize 
temporary structures for up to one year for approved longer term temporary uses, including but 
not limited to, temporary construction offices and leasing offices for previously approved devel-
opments; or (2) to permit property owners to utilize shorter term temporary open air structures, 
such as tents, booths and canopies of greater than one hundred twenty (120) square feet with 
approved shorter term temporary uses. (Ord. 419 § 21A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.70.010, 2002) 
 
17.2817.32.020 Application submission  
   requirements. 
 All applications for temporary uses or temporary structures shall be made on forms provided 
by the city and shall be accompanied by: 
 A. A site plan drawn to standard engineering scale showing the location of the temporary use 
or temporary structure, the entrance and exits from the site, areas to be designated for parking, if 
applicable, and any requested signs; and 
 B. For structures subject to Section 17.2817.32.040, a letter from the property owner of rec-
ord giving approval for the proposed temporary structure; and 
 C. A completed business license application for the temporary use. (Ord. 419 § 21A (part), 
2002; Ord. 416 § 8.70.020, 2002) 
 
17.2817.32.030 Temporary use  
   administration and approval. 
 A. The planning director may approve a temporary use based on following criteria: 

431 
 



 1. The temporary use is located in the historic commercial overlay in the commercial zone 
and the parcel of land on which the temporary use will be located is zoned consistent with the 
proposed temporary use. 
 2. Where the temporary use is sited on a property containing an existing business, the tempo-
rary use shall directly relate to the existing business. 
 3. The temporary use will last for no more than two, separate, contiguous seven day periods 
in any one calendar year and the two periods shall not be permitted back-to-back. 
 4. The temporary use and all items related to the temporary use shall be removed from the 
site prior to expiration of the approval period. 
 5. No regulations prohibiting the activity are identified in a review of the Aurora Municipal 
Code and Oregon Revised Statues. 
 6. Temporary use of tents, booths or canopies less than one hundred twenty (120) square feet 
are permitted under this section without a temporary structure permit under Section 
17.2817.32.040. For temporary uses of tents, booths and canopies greater than one hundred twen-
ty (120) square feet, a temporary structure permit under Section 17.2817.32.040 is required. 
 7. Tents, booths or canopies shall comply with the requirements of Section 14, Aurora De-
sign Guidelines for Historic District Properties (Appendix A). 
 B. Temporary uses during special events approved by the city councilCity Council shall be 
exempt from temporary use permit requirements. 
 C. No noticeNotice of decisionDecision is required, but the planning director shall issue an 
approved temporary use permit stating how the application satisfies the criteria in Section 
17.2817.32.030(A) and specifying the dates for which the approval is valid. A copy of this permit 
shall be attached to the business license application as filed in City Hall. (Ord. 419 § 21A (part), 
2002; Ord. 416 § 8.70.030, 2002) 
 
17.2817.32.040 Temporary structure  
   administration and approval. 
 All applications for temporary structures shall be submitted and processed according to the 
requirements of this section. A certificate of appropriateness from the historic review 
boardHistoric Review Board is required for sites located in the historic commercial or historic 
residential overlay. (Ord. 419 § 21A (part), 2002; Ord. 416 § 8.70.040, 2002) 
 
17.32.050 Outdoor Display. 
 

A. Outdoor display of merchandise for sale shall only occur on sidewalks in front of retail 
shops.   

B. Outdoor displays shall not obstruct the sidewalk, and leave a minimum of 5 feet of 
clear width for pedestrians. 

C. Merchandise displayed on sidewalks shall be moved indoors overnight. 
A. OD. utdoor displays may only occur in other locations during city sanctioned special 

events, such as Aurora Colony Days.   

Comment [r9]: Is this a temporary use? Already 
permitted under the code so it doesn’t need to be here.   

Formatted: Justified

Comment [s10]: Already  in 16.34.060 

432 
 



D.  
Children’s play equipment, and recycling and waste containers, shall be located to the rear 

or side of contributing structures.Add language from Section 15 of Design Review 
Guidelines here? 

 
E.  

  
 
  

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.42" + Indent
at:  0.67"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.67",  No
bullets or numbering

433 
 



Chapter 17.2936 

 

MOVING OF STRUCTURES 

 

Sections: 

17.2936.010  Moving Contributing Structures 

A. Relocation of contributing structures in the Historic District is prohibited with only two 
exceptions: 
1. the contributing structure was previously moved to its current location. 
2. the current location of the contributing structure is being acquired for a public purpose 

under eminent domain, in which case the structure shall be moved to another location 
within the Historic District at the expense of the public agency acquiring the property. 

2.3. Add floodplain or other hazards 
B. Structures to be moved shall be carefully documentdocumented for the inventory prior to 

approval of the relationrelocation. 
C. The relocation proposal shall describe how the structure will be preserved during the relo-

cation. 
D. An approved building permit for the new location is required before approval of the reloca-

tion. 
 
17.2936.020  Moving Structures into the Historic District. 
 
 Structures proposed for moving into the Historic District shall have been originally constructed 
before 1921, and shall meet the design standards of Chapter 17.3036. 
  

Formatted: Centered

Comment [r11]: Need to show this as all new text 

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

434 
 



Chapter 17.17.4040 
 

DESIGN STANDARDS 
 

Sections: 
17.3040.010 Purpose. 
17.3040.020 Fences 
17.3040.030 Awnings 
17.3040.040  Porchess (ended here on 10.2.2012) 
17.3040.050 Windows 
17.3040.060 Doors 
17.3040.070 Chimneys 
17.3040.080  Roofs 
17.3040.090 Foundations 
17.3040.100 Siding 
17.3040.110 Visible Facades 
17.3040.120 New Additions to Contributing Structures 
17.3040.130 New Construction in the Historic Districtc Commercial Overlay Zone 
17.3040.140 New Construction in the Historic Residential Overlay ZoneHeight 
17.3040.150 Public Right-of-Way 
17.3040.160 Drive-in and Drive Thru Structures 
 
 
 
 
  

435 
 



17.3040.170 Setbacks 
17.40.180 Garage Doors 
17.40.190 Lots and Parcels 
 
 
 
 
  

436 
 



17.40.010 Purpose. 
  
  The purpose of these design standards is to protect the historic scale, form, urban form and 
historic appearance and integrity of the Aurora Colony National Historic District. 
 
17.3040.020 Fences 
 

A. Fences in the Historic Commercial overlay and fences for contributing structures through-
out the Historic district shall be wood picket fences, three to four feet high, painted white 
or with a natural protective finish.  

B. Chain link, wire, stock fencing, rail or split rail, plastic or vinyl, lattice and fences taller 
than four feet are only permittallowed on rear property lines where they are not visible 
from the right-of-way, and shall be screened with landscaping.  

B.C. Fences not expressly permitted are prohibitedAdd language regarding if not listed 
as permitted, all else prohibited such as curvilinear or ornate metal fencing. 

 
17.3040.030 Awnings 
 

A. Awnings are prohibited on residential structures that have been converted to commercial 
use. 

B. Awing styles must be in character with historic buildings. , and Bbrightly colored and cur-
vilinear flamboyant patterns or shapes are prohibited. [Provide exAdd samples of permit-
ted awnings.] 

C. Back-lighting of awnings is prohibited. 
D. Writing on awnings is limited to border areas only. See Figure ____. 

 
17.3040.040  Porches 
 

A. Porch design shall be similar to those seen on contributing structures. 
 

B. One porch entrance shall be located on the primary façade  orand have a direct pedestrian 
path to the sidewalk .  

 
C. Wood posts shall be used for roof support.  Masonry and metal posts or supports are pro-

hibited. 
 

D.C. Porches on contributing structures shall be preserved in their original design, and 
repair or replacement shall match the original in both materials and design, except that 
modern foundations which are not visible may be installed.   

 
E.D. Front porches shall not be enclosed by walls, screens or windows.   

Formatted: Normal

437 
 



 
 
17.3040.050 Windows 
 

A. In the Historic Commercial Overlay wWIn the Historic Commercial Overlay, windows 
frames and sashes shall be made oftrimmed with wood, and wood framed storm windows 
are permitted.  Storefront windows manufactured with metal frames shall have wood trim 
covering the exterior of the metal frames. 

B. Transom and clerestory windows are permitted. 
C. In the Historic Residential Overlay, windows visible from the right-of-way shall be verti-

cally oriented. 
D. For contributing structures, window frames and sashes shall be made of wood. 
D.E. For contributing structures, new window openings are only permitted where they are not 

visible from the right-of-way.  New windows and window openings on rear elevations shall 
match the materials, style, colors and trim of other windows on the structure. 
 

17.3040.060 Doors 
 

A. On contributing structures, the original location, materials, size, and decorative features of 
and proportions of doors, and the door design itself,doors shall be preserved, and when 
doors are being replaced, all those elements shall be replaced in kind. 

B. On contributing structures, new door doorsopenings may only be located on the rear eleva-
tion. 

B.C. On contributing structures, doors shall be made of wood; vinyl and metal doors are prohib-
ited.  

 
17.3040.070 Chimneys 
 

A.    On contributing structures, masonry chimneys shall be preserved, or replaced in 
kindwith the same type of materialstraditional red clay brick if preservation is not feasible. 

B. On all structures, masonry chimneys shall be faced with traditional red clay brick. 
C. On noncontributing structures, non-masonry materials may be used. 

 
17.3040.080 Roofs 
 

A.   On contributing structures, the repair and alteration and alteration of roofs shall match the 
original style and pitch.; however alterations to the rear roof are is permitted so long as it 
is not readily visible from the right-of-way. 

A.  
B.    On contributing structures, the addition of new roof elements such as vents, skylights, 

solar panels, chimneys and dormers shall not be readily visible from the right-of-way, un-

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1
+ Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.17" + Indent at: 
0.42"

438 
 



less the property has frontage on more than one right-of-way, in which case new elements 
shall be on a side elevation and screened from view. 

B.C.   On contributing structures, new decorative features such as cupolas or cresting 
shall be permitted only when historic evidence demonstrates those features were included 
in the original structure. 

D.   For residential structures, the roof pitch shall be 8:12 (equal to 34°) or steeper.  On man-
sard roofs, the upper areas of the roof may have a shallower pitch so long as the lowest 
roof planes are steeper than 12:12 (equal to 45°).. 

C.  
E.   For all structures, rRoofing materials on all sloped roofs shall be black composition shin-

gles or wood shingles.  Metal roofing on sloped roofs isroofs are prohibited. 
  
D.F.   In the Historic Commercial Overlay, flat roofs are permitted when the roof and all 

mechanical equipment on the roof, including railings, are screened by a parapet.  The ma-
terials used for flat roofs are not regulated by this section. 

 
17.3040.090  Foundations 
 

A. Concrete block, brick, and poured concrete foundations are permitted. 
B. Rusticated and decorative concrete block are prohibited. 
C. On contributing structures with vertically oriented wood skirting, the wood skirting shall 

be replaced after a foundation is repaired or replaced. 
D. Textured paint and thin coat stucco may be applied on foundations. 
E. The height of replacement foundations may be altered to improve accessibility.  

 
17.3040.100 Siding 
 

A.  On contributing structures, and for all residential structures in the Historic Commercial 
Overlay, wood siding is required, and historic siding patterns shall be matched when re-
pairing or replacing siding. 

B. Siding shall be painted; unpainted and stained wood is prohibited. 
C. Decorative shingle patterns are prohibited on contributing structures, unless originally used 

as documented in the Historic Resources Inventory. 
D. In the Historic residentialResidential Overlay, horizontal lap siding with a reveal not ex-

ceeding six (6) inches is required, with the exception of board and batten siding com-
prised of solid sawn wood. 

E. The paint color of siding shall be uniform on all sides of a structure. 
 
17.3040.110 Visible Facades 
 

 On contributing structures, the design of the front and side elevations shall be preserved. 
439 

 



 
17.3040.120 New Additions to Contributing Structures 
 

A.  On contributing structures, new additions may only be placed on the rear elevation.  Archi-
tectural detailing including roofing, siding, trim, doors and windows shall match the exist-
ing structure in design and materials. 

B. On contributing structures, previous additions to the original structure that were added pri-
or to 1921 shall be subject to the same standards and criteria as the original portion of the 
structure; however, in the event that the addition does not match the original, the exterior 
features of the addition may be altered to match the original. 

C. Additions to contributing structures that were built in 1921 or later may be removed, and 
following removal, the exterior materials on that portion of the structure must match the 
remainder of the structure. 

 
17.3040.130 New Construction in the Historic Commercial Overlay DistrictZone 
New    

A. New structures in the Historic Residential Overlay Zone shall be subject to the design 
standards in titleSection 17.30.020-10040. 

B. Paint colors shall be selected from the list in Table _________. 
 
 
17.3040.140 New Construction in the Historic Residential Overlay Zone 
 
  New structures in the Historic Residential Overlay Zone shall be subject to the design 

standards in title 17.30.020-100.Height 
 
  The maximum height of structures is 35 feet. 
 
17.3040.150 Public Right-of-Way 
 

A. Sidewalks shall be concrete without coloring.  The finish shall be broom perpendicular to 
the path, without troweled areas around the edges. 

B. Street lights in the Historic Commercial Overlay shall be lamp style only. 
C. Curb cuts for residential properties may not exceed twenty (20) feet in width. 

 
17.3040.160 Drive-in and Drive Thru Structures 
 
 Drive-in and drive-thru commercial structures and businesses are prohibited within the Histor-
ic District. 
 
17.40.170 Setbacks 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1
+ Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.16" + Indent at: 
0.41"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

440 
 



 
A. Residential structures shall be set back a minimum of 10 feet from side lot lines, and a 

minimum of 20 feet from rear lot lines. 
 

B. Commercial and mixed use structures shall be set back a minimum of 5 feet from side lot 
lines, a minimum of 10 feet from rear lot lines, and a maximum of 10 feet from front lot 
lines. 

 
17.40.180 Garage Doors 
 

A. Garage doors shall be set back a minimum of 4 feet from the front façade of residential 
structures. 

B. Garage doors may not exceed 8 feet in width. 
C. Multiple garage doors shall be separated by a minimum of two feet. 

D. On contributing structures and detached garages serving them, visible garage door fin-
ish materials must be painted wood.  Windows are permitted in garage doors.  
 

17.40.190  Lots and Parcels 
 

A. In the Historic Residential Overlay, the minimum area is 10,000 square feet. 
B. In the Historic Residential Overlay, the minimum width is 50 feet. 
C. In the Historic Commercial Overlay, there is no minimum area or depth. 
D. In the Historic Commercial Overlay, the minimum width is 50 feet. 

 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.17" + Indent
at:  0.42"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.17" + Indent
at:  0.42"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.19" + Indent
at:  0.44"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Hanging: 
0.06", Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.19" + Indent at:  0.44", Tab
stops:  0.25", Left +  0.63", Left

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.44"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at  0.42"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.17" + Indent
at:  0.42"

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.17" + Indent
at:  0.42"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.42"

441 
 



 

Dear ODOT 

 

Thank you for investigating the traffic speeds on Highway 99E in our area.  Your team studied seven 
segments extending from the rural area north of the City limits south through the City itself, and then 
further south into the next rural area.  We have reviewed the final report of November 6, and this letter 
is to provide feedback from the City’s perspective. 

Starting on the north end, the City agrees completely with the recommendations to reduce the speed 
limits from MP 24.45 to MP 25.15.  This segment has geometric, access and grade challenges that 
restrict sight distance and we appreciate the recognition of these issues.  

For one segment in the City (MP 25.15 to MP 25.30), the study proposes to raise the speed limit from 30 
to 35 mph which we have no objection to. 

At the south end of town (MP 25.70 to MP 25.95), the study recommends leaving the current speed 
limit of 50 mph in place.  The City is concerned that with the residential development, along with the 
presence of other uses such as the church on the west side of the highway, lower speeds are necessary.  
However, we are reluctantly willing to defer to ODOT’s judgment on this one, with the understanding 
that as further development occurs in this area, the City is likely to continue urging ODOT to lower the 
speed limit. 

The City of Aurora appreciates the efforts of your traffic engineering team, and we look forward to 
implementation of the speed limit changes they recommend. 

 


























































	1 February 2013 Council agenda
	AGENDA
	Aurora City Council Meeting

	1a Council Minutes January 08 2012
	Minutes
	Aurora City Council Meeting

	1 b December HRB 2012 minutes
	1c Approved N of D- Aurora Dli & MArket
	1d Approved N of D- NW Natural
	2 Pudding River Watershed Council
	3 LCDC_Agenda_2013-01
	4 League of OR Council Overview
	5 STIP Information Email
	Project Applicants STIP
	February 7, 2012 Agenda
	Agenda Item 3 - Project Materials

	6 Urban Project List Notebook
	Combined Total
	Woodburn
	Turner
	Sublimity
	Stayton
	St Paul
	Silverton
	Scotts Mills
	Salem
	Mt Angel
	Mill City
	Keizer
	Jefferson
	Idanha
	Hubbard
	Gervais
	Gates
	Donald
	Detroit
	Aurora
	Aumsville

	7 Public Works Report
	8 Otis Report
	9 Ordinance Number 469 CPMA for Fidanzo_draft
	Kelly Richardson, City Recorder

	10 Proposal agreement Arborist
	11 FeeScheduleExhA2004CURRENT -
	12 Aurora Title 17 - PC Revision Feb 8
	13 ODOT Speed Study reply
	14 Speed Study part 1
	15 Speed Study part 2

